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THE COST OF CARING FOR THE CHRONICALLY
ILL: THE CASE FOR INSURANCE

FRIDAY, SEPTEMBER 21, 1984

U.S. SENATE,
SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON AGING,

Washington, DC.
The committee met pursuant to notice, at 9:10 a.m., in room

6628, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. John Heinz, chairman,
presiding.

Present: Senators Heinz, Warner, Glenn, Burdick, and Johnston.
Also present: John C. Rother, staff director and chief counsel;

Stephen R. McConnell, deputy staff director; Diane Lifsey, minority
staff director; Tricia Neuman, professional staff member; Isabelle
Claxton, communications director; Roberta Lipsman, minority pro-
fessional staff member; Robin L. Kropf, chief clerk; Paula Dietz,
Kate Latta, and Leslie Malone, staff assistants; and Gene Cum-
mings, printing assistant.

OPENING STATEMENT BY SENATOR JOHN HEINZ, CHAIRMAN,
PRESIDING

Chairman HEINZ. Good morning. The committee will come to
order.

We are here to investigate what may prove to be the single
greatest threat to life savings of the American middle class,
namely, the cost of long-term care. Long-term care, by which I
mean the full range of services needed to support the chronically
ill and disabled, has been of great concern to our committee since
its inception 23 years ago.

Over the past quarter of a century, the committee has learned a
great deal about long-term care. First, we have learned that many
of is now in the prime of our lives will need long-term careif we
live long enough. Based on what we know today, one in every four
persons age 63 and older, and three in every five persons age 85
arid older need long-term care; and yet, most of us still tend to be-
lieve, "It won't happen to me."

Weil, today, we will hear that it will happen to millions of us.
When it does, our entire life savings, our independence, and our
dignity may he severely jeopardized.

Second, the committee has learned that our American health
care system is woefully ill-prepared to provide professional care to
the longterm care population. There is a critical shortage of social
workers, nurses, dentists, and doctors with geriatric experience and
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training. This shortage will only become more severe with the pre-
dictable growth of the frail elderly population.

Earlier this week, I introduced the Geriatric Manpower Act of
1984 to initiate a comprehensive, 5-year program of support for the
geriatric education and training of health profebsionals. My bill
would nearly triple the present level of commitment to manpower
development in aging.

Third, we have learned that many of the people who need profes-
sional care are unable to pay for it. While most get by with the
help of family and friends, others are less fortunate. Long-term
care services are expensive. Insurance coverage is virtually unob-
tainable. Many older people and their families are forced to deplete
their hard-earned savings in a very short time, to pay for needed
care.

Out-of-pocket costs for long-term care services can be exorbitant.
In Pennsylvania, for example, just 1 year in a nursing home for a
private paying patient costs between $15,000 to $50,000. One-third
o all patients nationwide who try to pay for their own nursing
home care become eligible for Medicaid within just 1 year of nurs-
ing home admission. That means that, within a year, economically
independent middle-income people spend down to a point where
they have less than about $1,800 !eft to their name. Too often, the
spouse Of a person who needs nursing home care must decide either
to spend every cent to pay their bills, or try to protect some assets.
For many, this literally means a choice between poverty and di-
vorce. That is a terrible decision for a couple to make after a life-
time together.

The cost of care at home or in the community varies, but also
tends to be expensive. As you can see from chart 1, the more dis-
abled you are, the more it will cost you to pay for your own care.
Mildly disabled persons spend about $1,000 each year for care; the
severely disabled spend over $5,000 each year for care. That is a
considerable price to pay on top of other fixed living expenses.



$6000

$5000

$4000
Average

Annual
Cads

$3000

$2000

$100:1

3

CHART S.

IRLY OUT-OF-POCKET EXPENDITURES
FOR HOME CARE

$5266

Mild Moderate

Dogrel, of Disability

Source 400 Notional lonoTerrn Can Survey

Severe

Given that almost 80 percent of older families have an after tax
per capita income of less than $10,000and that includes their in-
kind benefits and their annuitized savingsit is easy to see how
middle class families can spend their entire life savings for long-
term care in only a short period of time.

Despite the evident need for better coverage, it is virtually im-
possible for even the most prudent people to protect themselves
against this risk. Insurance that adequately covers long-term care
costs is simply not on the market. Private insurance policies gener-
ally cover very little nursing home care and even less community-
based care. Medicare coverage is restricted to short-term acute and
postacute care. While the Medicaid Program does provide for long-
term care. it does so only for very poor people. Many older Ameri-
cans find themselves caught between a rock and a hard place-
they have just enough income to disqualify themselves for Medic-
aid. but neither the money nor the insurance to cover their long-
term care hills.

America is the land of plenty, and when it comes to iurance,
h and lark4, it is it land of abundance. Our Nation's middle class
can in,ure their cars against theft or damage, their houses against
flood. fire, and earthquakes, their children against the costs of col-
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lege and braces, and their families against the risk of an early
death. But when it comes to insuring against the single greatest
threat to their life savings and emotional reservesthe costs of
long-term careAmericans have no protection. In many ways, it is
as if we are all wearing bulletproof vestswith holes over our
hearts. We are missing protection where we need it most.

And what about tomorrow? This need for insurance will become

ever greater. Today, the fastest growing segment of our population,
persons age S5 and older, happens to be the group most likely to
need long-term care. Within a decade, this group will include an-
other 1.5 million persons, and yet another million by the year 2000,

As you can see from chart 2, the number of persons expected to
need nursing home and community-based care will grow dramati-
cally. Who is going to provide their care, and who is going to pay
for it?

CHART ?
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These an' some of the issues that we are here to discuss today.
Each our witnesses has been asked to consider the merits of a
pohlic-private initiative on long-term care insurance or, as I would
prefer it to he called, independent living insurance. I look forward
to our witnesses and hearing their testimony.

Rehire I call on our first witnesses, I want to call on the com mit-
tet::. ranking minority member, Senator John Glenn.

3



STATEMENT HY SENATOR JOHN GLENN

Senator GLENN. Thank you trery much, Mr. Chairman.
Today's hearing covers an i .portant issue which the members of

the Senate Special Committee on Aging are struggling to resolve,
and that is the financing of care for those in our society who are
chronically ill.

Although a small percentage of the population under age 65 suf-
fers from long-term disabilities, the need for care increases dra-
matically with age. In 1980, there were 2.6 million elderly 85 years
of age or older, of whom 62 percent required long-term care serv-
ices. With the number of this very vulnerable population expected
to reach 3.1 million by the year 2000, just 16 years from now, we
cannot afford to delay responding to the challenge of providing ap-
propriate care.

The current cost of long-term care cannot be measured precisely.
We do know that in 1983, approximately $30 billion was spent on
nursing home care. Additional funds paid for a variety of noninsti-
tutional services, including home health care, day treatment serv-
ices, respite care, transportation, and meals. Various Federal and
State programs cover these services for some individuals. But many
services are paid for privately. Out-of-pocket costs for home care
services currently range from $1,000 to $5,300 a year, as our chart
shows.

In 1983, Medicaid paid about 50 percent of the bill for nursing
home care. Medicare's contributiern was minimal, with Medicare
only paying about 2 percent of total nursing home experditures for
those over 65. And although most older people have medi-gap in-
surance, only a small percentage of the costs for long-term care
was paid by these private policies. Patients and their families paid
for a full 44 percent of the costs for nursing home care.

('overage for less expensive, noninstitutional services is even less
prevalent. In many States, Medicaid offers a variety of community
and home-based programs for people with very low incomes. But
for the vast majority of the elderly, neither private nor public in-
surance offers the financing necessary for long-term, noninstitu-
tional care.

For those who really have not gone into some of these programs
in depth. they always say, "Well, why don't the families take care
of them" Why don't the sons and daughters take care of those who
are having problems?" Well, I think we have developed in our soci-
ety to where 20 percent of us move from one domicile to another
each year. I think the last figures I saw were that 13 percent of our
people In()Vt` iRTOSS State lines. We are now having extended fami-
lies all over the country where we are no longer in the same com-
munity, growing up and staying in the same community and
taking those responsibilities that previously were assumed by the

I think that is where a national responsibility comes in,
and it is the reason I have supported a'.1 these programs.

During today's hearings, we will have the opportunity to learn
liNthand about the gaps in our cu. rent insurance programs. I
want hi thank the witnesses who have joined us today. We appreci-
ate their willingness to share with us the difficulties they have
ovi.rconw to secure services for themselves, their relatives, or
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others in their communities. We must use this opportunity to
better understand the limitations set by Medicare, the shortcom-
ings found in private insurance, and the biases created by a long-
term care system which emphasizes institutional care.

This last point, the emphasizing of institutional care in a long-
term system, is particularly important. When the Medicare Pro-
gram was implemented, it was not intended to provide coverage for
long-term, chronic illness, and it certainly was not intended to pro-
vide home care. The Medicaid Program adhered this bias, and
home health services were not a mandatory service under the origi-
nal Medicaid Program. Only after the law was amended were
States required to offer home health if they also provided Medicaid
coverage for nursing home care. The home health coverage that
has resulted remains very restrictive. Private insurance coverage of
home health care is even more elusive. Only a few policies include
coverage, and it is often restricted to the care provided by a private
registered nurse.

We will be hearing from many distinguished witnesses today,
and I thank each of you for your participation. I am particularly
pleased to welcome Betsy Houchen from the Columbus Home
Health Services. Her agency cares for over 6,000 patients per year,
and the services they provide are paid for through Medicare and
Medicaid, State and local assistance, private insurance, and family
and charitable contributions I live in that community and know of
her work there first-hand. Her experiences will illustrate more
clearly the limitations of current coverage and the need for inclu-
sion of home-care benefits in any future long-term care insurance
program.

I believe we will conclude this hearing with a better understand-
ing of the issues involved in financing long-term care, and I look
forward to hearing today's testimony.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman HEINZ. Thank you, Senator Glenn.
I would like to call on Senator Warner new, if he has any open-

ing statement.
Senator WARNER. I think we should proceed with the witnesses,

Mr. Chairman, thank you.
Chairman HEINZ. Before hearing from our witnesses, I want to

insert into the record, without objection, the statements of Sena-
tors Lawton Chiles and Larry Pressler, who unfortunately cannot
be with use today because of prior commitments.

ine statements of Senators Chiles and Pressler follow:j
SATKMENT oF SENATOR LAWTON Citii.Es

l'ornnuttet. on Aging began taking a long hard look at long-term care
ago As a matter of fact, I recall chairing a series of hearing:

1,;m0Ing Ill-7 The intent was to produce a record that would clearly show:
Th.'s the 1111111b1: of elderly in need of long-term care would grow so rapidly

.faring rho nixi fis decads that the demand would rapidly outstrip any kind of

..rte .ss.ularhlr
Thai Ow of an over rPhanri on nursing horn(' rare could not he support-

larnilies. or by the government
That thtr lklrt veral alternatives worthy of Federal support. and

l That we had better get cracking or ae would son find ourselves in an explo-
^4% f Sit Wit iOn

1 (1
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Since then, there has been some progress in developing alternativesbut I can't
say that it has gone as far as I hoped it would by now.

We expanded the Medicare home health program.
We started a number of demonstrations to put different medical and social sup-

port services together in one program so we could try to meet the needs in an effi-
cient and less costly manner.

We changed Medicaid to allows States to develop broad based programs of com-
munity care to help meet the rising demand.

All of these changes represent real progressand they have to continue.
But I have been disturbed by the administration's slc-vnessand in some cases

refusal --to grant Medicare and Medicaid waivers for community care programs.
I have an even stronger sense of urgency now than ' did a few years ago about

the long-term care crunch. During this same time period, our budget problem has
also gotten worse. It is very difficult now to talk about new Federal programs to
help meet mushrooming long-term care needs. It is also true that we can t. ignore
the situation. One way or the other, long term care needs will have to be met. The
question who is going to pay.

The Federal Government never has paid for long-term care for most elderly
people in need. Not until they are very poorwhen they become eligible for Medic-
aid. And then we pay about one-half of the cost, and the States have to deal with
the rest.

Even so, many elderly who enter nursing homes eventually do become poor
enough to get some Medicaid help. Almost one-third who enter nursing homes as
privatipy patients become eligible for Medicaid within 1 year.

So even if we don't commit a lot of new resources to finance long-term care, we
still will have a growing Medicaid bill just for nursing home care. It will be $60
billion by 1990

There will always be it Federal role. And we will continue to seek ways to shape
and change our Federal health programs to meet the chronic care needs of the el-
derly and others

This hearing will begin to explore one of the more recent developments in tha
area of financing long-term care. The concept of broader private health insurance
cove-rage her longtrm care is still young, but it is time to take a look at its possi-
bilities. At the very least ---if there is a way that a younger generation might have a
better opportunity to plan ahead and purchase some protection against financial
ruin from a long term chronic illnesswe need to begin exploring the issues now.

STA r Ks; T or SENATOR LARRY PRESSLER

Mr Chairman. I would like to thank you for bringing together this morning's
hearin,.; It in,,st important for Members of this Congress to look at the question of

cost of caring for the chronically ill.
It is :Lolling to learn that in the coming year. an estimated 6.6 million Ameri

cans age WI and over will need longter care. This means that one out of every
:air ,,enior citizens in this country will face the staggering financial risk that the
twed for -.itch care brings about

Afilurl ',natl. that many peopl have mistaken ideas about the avenues they
in p.o-iti in ilairut tor :itch care Medicare was designed to cover short-term acute

po-i Acute c.ire not long term cart Nursng home care is only covered for It
file tiro days :Ire completely covered. and for the retnaining SO days there

I- C4ip.ILMVI i which is currently 'S-1.1.:,0 per day. Medicare therefore covers
!..111 ihe total national nursing home expenditures

I 0 .o three older .\ mericans do purchase medical insurance policies,
e : c are dcsumd (mix to supplement Medicare's coverage ft theretOre

th, ..1,,,b,111% ,1 the Medlaul program to be the primary solice of
void- term c,fi lpood rpresntatRes. it is our obhgai.on to

-%1.11.0, roe-nit option- axadoble to us
ant to the testanow. of the line '."111.,SVs; we 1131. With us today. They

/,1,11,11)1% ;Iti-IA er The (pp ;111111 A, du we pat fur the long-term core
t..or mon, need

Ilitirrn.In HEINZ. I am .eA; pleased that we do have such a dis-
tm:_toy-lied list ot wittic,ses. Our first two witnesses are both Penn-
-v just ciniiit.ne. We are delighted that Ella Thomas
and .Nlar%, liinslow art' here; also. another panelist, Hon Hagen.

11
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Mrs. Thomas, would you be willing to be our first witness,
please?

Mrs. THOMAS. Yes, sir.
Chairman HEINZ. We want to welcome you to the committee, and

I want to thank you for coming all the way down here from Phila-
delphia; we are most appreciative.

STATEMENT OF ELLA THOMAS, ACCOMPANIED BY BRENDA
RASCHER, SOCIAL WORKER, PHILADELPHIA, PA

Mrs. THOMAS. Thank you.
My name is Ella Thomas. I would like to read my statement to

this committee myself, but because of poor eyesight, that is not
easy for me to do. Therefore, I have asked Brenda, my social
worker, to read my statement for me. But first, I would like to say
a few things to you myself.

My husband and I ha, always been able to take care of ourselves
and our son, Raymond, who is mentally retarded. We never had to
ask for any help from anyone. But when I had my stroke 3 years
ago, everything changed. It all happened so fast that we did not
know what to do.

We jumped at the first thing we found, so I could stay at home.
We spent all of our life savings in 3 years, about $66,000. When I
think of all that money, I get so upset. It is awful.

I was told to go to a nursing home, but I do not want to go to a
nursing home. I want to stay home with my son, in our home. Now
that my husband is dead, I am responsible for my son. I have to
care for him.

I know some people say that I cannot do anything for myself, but
I can. The most important thing is that I can make my own deci-
sions, and think for myself.

I want you to know that my being here proves how important
this is to me, for this is basically the first time I have been out of
my house in nearly 3 years.

Thank you.
Chairman HEINZ. Mrs. Thomas, thank you. You have been house-

bound for 3 years, and for you to make the effort to come down
here is extraordinary. To me, it shows how much you really mean
it when you say you want to continue to make your own decisions,
that you want to continue to be proud and independent, and try as
best you can to make your own life and take care of your family
responsibilities.

I understand that Ms. Rascher is going to read the rest of your
statement; is that correct?

Mrs. THOMAS. Yes.
Chairman HEINZ. Ms. Rascher, would you please proceed?
Ms. RAsctiEtt [reading]:
Prior to 191 both my husband and I were in very good health. We had always

worked and saved all of our lives while we cared for our handicapped son. My hus-
band retired as a leather wq..-lier when he turned 65, and I retired 2 years later
tram my doh at a movie theater Along with our son, we had planned to use our
saving, to go on trips and to fix up our house. We had also planned to set aside

nione3, for our son's care after we were gone
W.. were doing t.verything we wanted until October 16, 19Si, when I had a stroke,

and all 'it our plans were forced to change. I spent the next 6 months in and out of
lour different hospitals and rehabilitation centers. Despite the therapy I received, I

1
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was unable to totally recover and required a lot of care. I was dis"herged to go home
and to be cared for by my husband, who was then 78 years old. My husband did
everything around .ne house and helped my son and I with all of our care. Howev-
er, the demands on him were too great.

After 1 month, he had a stroke. While he was in the hospital, my nieces cared for
me, but they worked fttlItime and had responsibilities to their families, too. In an
attempt to get more help, we contacted an agency advertised in a local newspaper
that offered 24-hour assistance with personal care and household tasks. It was the
first thing we found.

Using the combination c f our savings and our monthly income, paid approxi-
mately $455 per week for 24-hour homemaker services. We continued this service
after my husband returned home for, although he recovered to the point where he
could care for himself independently, he was unable to assist with my care.

Whit, the homemaker service provided for my personal care and meals, two of my
nieces did all of the money management, shopping, errands, and household mainte-
nance. We never changed it, because we were afraid to lose the help, and we did not
know any other way to do it.

As a result, we spent our entire savings along with most of our monthly income in
just 3 years. The 3-year hill totals $66,000. If I had known how to do things differ-
ently, I would never have spent all of my money that way. It is overwhelming to me
to think of how I wasted my lire's savings. Yet, the only alternative I was given was
to go into a nursing home. No one ever informed me of any other way.

I do not want to go into a nursing home. My main reason is my son, Raymond.
My husband and I had always cared for him, and now that my husband is dead, the
responsibility is mine. I just wish I had known how to use my money differently, so
my son and I would still have some of it left.

I would like to thank this Senate Committee for the opportunity to tell my story,
tnd I hope that others may benefit from what happened to me.

Chairman HEINZ. Mrs. Thomas, your story touches the hearts of
everybody on this committee and everybody who hears it, and I
have some questions for you and Ms. Rascher that I will direct in a
moment. Before doing that, I want to ask our next two witnesses to
make their statements, and then I will return to you.

Ms. Kinslow, you are a member of the board of directors of Chil-
dren of Aging Parents, in Levittown, PA.

Ms. KIN SLOW. That is right.
Chairrr.;:n HEINZ. We welcome you, we thank ,! for what you

are doing, and we are especially appreciative of y. coming down
here to testify before our committee.

Please proceed.

STATI::NIENT OF MARY KINSLOW, FOUNDING MEMBER,
CHILDREN OF AGING PARENTS, LEVITTOWN, PA

Ms. kuisi.ow. Thank you very much, Senator Heinz, I would like
to thank you and the committee for the opportunity to speak to
you today on the problems and concerns of family caregivers.

I am here on behalf of an organization called Children of Aging
Parents, or CAPS, for short. CAPS is a nonprofit, self-help peer
group organization, dedicated to serving the needs of family care-
givers who. like myself. are struggling to provide the needed care
to their aging parents.

('APS began very informally 7 years ago. Three women from
I.e%ittown, PA met in a neighbor's living room to talk about how
they could care for their elderly parents and to get some idea of
the services available in their community. Shortly after their first
in,eting. one of the ladies sent a letter to "Dear Abby" which de-
s !ihed the informal ('APS meeting and the problems of being a
t tnily caregiver.
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Senator, the response to that letter was astonishing and over-
whelming. I never dreamed that there would be so many other
children in this country with our same problems. And when I say
"cl.tileren," I mean adults in their fifties and sixties who are them-
selves looking forward to retirement and who are looking forward
to spending more time with their own children and grandchildren.

Today, there are over 10,000 members of CAPS, and the number
is growing larger every day.

I brought with me today just a ff_Av of the letters I have received
from family caregivers, describing their frustration and heartache.
I would be happy to share them with the committee.

Their stories are not unique, nor are they unusual. I can tell you
about many, many other family caregivers who are experiencing
the same pain and frustration in caring for their chronically ill
parents. As a social worker in a nursing home, I have seen the
tired and confused look of sons and daughters who no longer recog-
nize their once active, vital parents. These children are not pre-
pared to care for the needs of their aged parents. They are not pre-
pared for the tremendous financial drain ca their lives. And they
are not prepared for the emotional and physical strain that they
alone will face in caring for their aging parents.

Senator Heinz, I have seen families separate because of these
burdens. I have seen the anger and pain on the faces of teenage
children because their chronically ill grandmother or grandfather
is living with them, and their home has changed so drastically. I
have seen the hate, guilt, and anger exchanged between parent and
child where there was once love, admiration, and respect.

These are not hateful people, Senator. They are proud and loving
families who do not understand the drastic changes in their lives
and who are not prepared to cope with the overwhelming responsi-
bility of caring for their parents.

Most family caregivers simply cannot afford to provide the kind
of long-term care that their parents require. I was very fortunate
that, given my financial resources, my background in social work,
and the nature of my mother's handicap, I was able to establish an
adult day care cerer connected to my own home, where I can pro-
vide the kind of care my mother requires.

But the majoiity of family caregivers have very kw options.
There is very little reason for hope. Most of' the families I have
counseled do not want what they call welfare. These are proud
people who want to find their own way, and they often dobut at
a tremendous emotional and financial cost to their own lives.

A daughter who was caring for her fatherhe had suffered a
.4troki. 3 years agotold me how much she loved her Dad. "I know
it is a chore.- she said, "but when he smiles, it makes things
right.- She told me she pays S12 an hour for a home health aide so
that she can go out on a date. And she said, "At those prices, he
darn well be a good date." With a tear in her eye, she told me she
guessed she would never get married.

Please do not get the wrong idea, Senator Heinz. We are not
asking for your pity. No. we are just crying out for some help, for a
better way to help family caregivers as we struggle to care for our
mothers and fathers. Family caregivers are trying to do the best
they can. but the burden is just too great for most.

1.1
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I do not want to be a burden to my son. I know the fears and
frustrations that I have felt in caring for my own mother, and I do
not want that for my son. I love him too much But, Senator, if I
could prepare for the future, if I could prepare for the care that I
will need someday, and spare my son this agony, there is no doubt
that I would.

Please, Senator Heinz, we need your help desperately.
Thank you. I would be glad to answer any questions you might

have.
Chairman HEINZ. Ms. Kinslow, thank you. I will have, as I imag-

ine the members of the committee will have, numerous questions
for you. What you are doing is unusual. You have the ability, as
you say, to be a little bit more fortunate in taking care of your
parent and having established your own adult day care center. I
would like to ask you, when the time comes, about people who are
a lot less fortunate than you, whom you know, and with whom you
have some personal experience.

Before I do that, I want to call on the last member of this panel,
Ron Hagen, the coordinator of the insurance division for the Amer-
ican Association for Retired Persons.

Mr. Hagen?

STATEMENT (H' RON IIAGEN, WASHINGTON, DC, COORDINATOR,
INSURANCE DIVISION, AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF RETIRED
PERSONS
Mr. HAGEN. Thank you, Mr..Chairman and members of the com-

mittee. I am indeed pleased to be here this morning to discuss a
subject with you of great and continuing importance to our associa-
tion and the many millions of members of our association, the de-
livery and financing of long-term care services for the chronically
ill.

Our association has frequently testified before this committee
and elsewhere, that the lack of a comprehensive long-term care
,stem that encompasses medical, social, and personal care services
provided in a variety of community, home-based, and institutional
settings is the greatest deficiency in our present health care deliv-
ery system. Indeed, our growing aged population, increasing life ex-
pectancy, increased instance of chronic disease and illness and
elialwing family patterns, there is greater pressure than ever to
search out private financing mechanisms to meet the very substan-
t ial and rapidly escalating costs associated with the delivery of
long-term care services.

Thi, %ea alone, estimates are that the elderly will spend ap-
povniatet .':%sf; per capita on nursing home care, of which :150.
,,r .-c2 percent. will he spent out-o-pocket. This is more than
&tilde what was spent by the same group in 1977.

Linw term care insurance is being increasingly mentioned and is
pl.o. in ail iroptirtant role in financing such services, yet I must
tell soil, tip front that the promise that meaningful, private long-
, rrtn are insurance hohis at this point is still just that--a promise.
The interest and optimism surrounding the prospect of developing
trul. meaningful long-term care insurance appears to he well
,ihead of the insurance industry's current ability or inclination to

15
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develop such coverages which provide realistic and predictable ben-
efits at a reasonable cost.

To state the obvious, it is in part because of the success of Medi-
care and private health insurance that people are longer and
in turn are subject to higher frequencies of chronic illness and dis-
ease, thus generating the need for more extensive long-term care
services and a great deal of interest in private long-term care in-
surance.

To put this subject in perspective, I would like to share with you
the results of research our association commissioned earlier this
year. There are many avenues for private sector involvement in
long-term care. For our association, private insurance meets some
of the costs associated with long-term care, but is but one of these
avenues.

As part of a process our association has undertaken to better un-
derstand our members' needs and preferences, concerning the con-
tinuum of long-term care services and the financing of these serv-
ices, we commissioned the Gallup organization late in 1983 to do a
survey of our membership. We were interested in the feasibility of
the association developing its own insurance program to cover long-
term care, but we also wanted to get a handle on the perceived
needs of our membership for private insurance, our members' utili-
zation currently of long-term nursing home and home health care
services, as well as their expectations and attitudes about nursing
home and home health care services.

The major findings of our survey were as follows. There was an
overwhelming preference for home care versus nursing home care.
There were relatively low utilization of nursing home as well as
home health care services. There was widespread concern among
our members about not having enough money to pay for extended
nursing home and home health care services. There was great con-
fusionand I would emphasize, great confusionabout what Medi-
care and private insurance pays for and what they do not pay for.
There was significant interest in learning more about long-term
care insurance, and there were very unrealistic expectations about
the price of nursing home insurance.

We also found two groups that resulted from this survey that
were very much interested in the area of long-term care insurance.
One term we will term the "indirectly aware group" and was about

percent of the respondents and were individuals who had, either
through a relit lye or a friend, some direct experience with an indi-
vidual who had been in an institution for an extended period of
time and had considerable costs associated with that. The other
group among our membership that was most interested in private
ling -terns can insurance was the youn:ter segment of our member-
ship. t he under -G5 port ion.

We also found that many of our members in preferring home
health care to nursing home care, felt that it would be very diffi-
cult to find a place in a nursing home that provides satisfactory

SOMCWhilt Surprisingly. though, over one-quarter of all of our
nirnhors who responded to this survey believed that they would, in
fact. need to he in a nursing home for more than a month at some
point during their lifetime.
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But most troubling of all and for which we have a chart at the
side of the roomthere was a very clear indication, as you can see
from chart 3, that most of the inuividuals, 79 percent in all, felt
that Medicare would pay for some portion of their expenses. There
was also a feeling that private savings and private insurance, both
group and individual, would pay for a significant portion of the ex-
penses %sociated with long-term care. This reflects a great deal of
misinformation and misunderstanding as to what Medicare and
private health insurance currently pay for relative to long-term
care. It suggests, in fact, that the respondents to our survey are
either unaware that they lack long-term care coverage, or else they
do not perceive it as a deficiency.

CHART 3

HOW WOULD YOU FINANCE A NURSING HOME STAY?

Percent

Medicare 79

Earnings/Savings 53

Private Insurance 50

Medicaid 17

Children 10

Relatives 2

Other 9

Don't Know 1

Total: 221%

'Exceed' 100% clue to multiple tesponseI

Sowce AARP.Gol'up loog-Term Care Survey



14

Undeniably, many risks exist in developing private insurance for
long-term care. Hand-in-hand with this, however, goes the need to
better educate and inform the public about such insurance cover-
age and more particularly, the limitations of our public and private
insurance programs.

Older Americans today face a myriad of choices and conflicting
claims in the private health insurance marketplace. Coverages are
widely misunderstood, and purchasing decisions frequently made
with totally inadequate information. it is important, therefore, that
in developing long-term care insurance, we work with state and
Federal regulators to require adequate disclosure through such
mechanisms as outlines of coverage and buyers' guides, similar to
those currently required in the sale of medi-gap insurance.

But again, private long-term care insurance is not the answer.
Other forms of equity conversion and private financing must also
he explored. This could include such approaches as reverse annuity
mortgages, sale-leaseback arrangements, or even IRA's for long-
term care.

In seriously approaching this subject, we must all realize that in
essence, what we are proposing here is a cost shift of sorts where,
instead of the general population through the Medicaid Program
meeting a substantial part of the long-term care costs associated
with this age group, we are saying that older Americans them-
selves will be asked to pool their resources and in essence spread
the risk by meeting a significant portion of these expenses through
some kind of private insurance or equity conversion scheme.

To conclude, then, many of our members have clearly indicated
to us a need and a desire for some form of long-term care insur-
ance. In contrast to the recently released HIAA task force report
on Long-Term Care Insurance, which states that, "As long as Med-
icaid exists in its present fbrm, there would be no demand for pri-
vate lon -term care insurance," the AARP Gallup survey shows
that the vast majority of elderly persons do not view Medicaid as
an acceptable alternative. Medicaid is seen at best as an insurer of
last resort, to be avoided if at all possible. Our survey also clearly
indicated that improvements in our public insurance programs and
cooperative public-private sector initiatives in educating and in-
Furman; the elderly about long-term care are of great importance.
ItinoN..ative regulatory philosophies are also essential if the private
sector k going to successfully meet a greater proportion of the in-
creasingly substantial costs associated with long-term rare.

In sum. private insurance has an important role to play. but re-
alistically, it is not our salvationmerely a piece of the long -term

in financing pazile
Thank you. Senator. I appreciate being here today.
Senator IlEiNZ. Thank you very much. Mr. Hagen. Your pre-

p.11.d tatriii(ilt will be inserted into the record at this time.
The prepared -tatement of Mr. Ilagen

1'itEPARE1) SlATF:MleN1 RUN 1141;N

t.. OH, fop! Hit-11.May ti) diSil %kith you today the problt.tos
rt! :!; tNp.otlalLt pro.att, ot,itratio coveraLtt, for longtt.rto cart. scrytt.t.s Front

'h.. ,.i.ltr! tht lack ot ompreftem,ivo long-term cart. systorn that
Intdical. anti priorial care services provided in a variety of corn.

18



15

inanity, home based, and institutional settings, is the greatest deficiency in the
present health care delivery system. Moreover, for all the demographic reasons you
have heard time and time again: A growing aged population, increasing life expect-
ancy, chronic disease as the dominant pattern of illness in the United States, and
changing family patterns; long-term care insurance appears to have an important
role in financing necessary services. The optimism surrounding the prospect of pri-
vide long-term care insurance appears to be many steps ahead of the industry's cur-
rent ability to develop an insurance policy that provides realistic and reliable bene-
fits at a reasonable cost. So I must tell you up front that the promise of private
long-term care insurance is, at this point, still just thata promise. Having said
that. it is useful for us to understand the obstacles to establishing such coverage so
that we can address them and hopefully foster the development of meaningful long-
term care insurance coverages.

Before taking up what I see as the major probiems hampering the development.af
coverage, it is Important to remind ourselves that long-term care insurance will
never be the solution to financing long-term care services. It is but one of many ini-
tiatives that must be undertaken to address long-term care needs of our people. To
better define the range of initiatives I am suggesting, permit me to state AARP's
polic'e's regarding public and private sector roles in long-term care:

II) A long-term care program must be developed which provides a complete con-
tinuum of care and creates in the process a network of community-based centers
that would function as providers, payors, certifiers, and evaluators of services.

(21 Because tinnily members now provide approximately 80 percent of the elderly's
long-term care services, it is important to recognize family members as caregivers
and to sustain not supplantfamily care activities.

i:I) AAUP strongly supports the Medicaid waiver provisions approved as a portion
of the 19s1 Omnibus Reconciliation Act which allows States utilizing this waiver to
provide a wider range of community and home based services such as personal care
services, adult day care, and respite services in lieu of nursing home care.

AARP supports the use and expansion of the ACTION Senior Companion Pro-
gram which provides low-income older people with the opportunity to support and
assist their peers who, without the aid of a Senior Companion, would probably be
institutionalized.

,:o AAR!' believes that a comprehensive prenursing home admission screening
and assessment program for potential nursing home residents should be developed.

AARI) urges greater research into the social HMO (SHMO) concept in which a
single provider entity assumes the responsibility for acute inpatient, ambulatory, re-
habilitative. extended care, home health, and personal care services under a pro-
sis.ctivelv determined fixed budget; and

.71 AMU' urges private sector involvement in the area of long-term care, for total
reliance on either sector to solve the crises that exist in providing and financing
chronic. long-term care services cannot be successful.

There are many avenues for private sector involvement in long-term care; private
insurance assisting with the costs of long-term care is one of these avenues. In an
ettort to understand our members' needs and preferences concerning insurance for
lam; term nursing home and home health services, AAR!' ommis.sioned a survey by
t ( iallup organisation rn 19?%:i

Tile survey revealed that the vast majority of individuals, when asked who will
pay for their long-term care. indicated that Medicare would be the primary payor,
with private savings and private insurance (both group and individual) being sec-
ondary sources This reflects a great deal of misinformation and misunderstanding

what Medicare and private insurance currently pay for relative to long-term
i
lltilost hall 17 prcentI of the respondents stated that they would be interested

in learning more about insurance that covers long-term nursing home stays This
intelst %4.:t -. especially high among the under-W.) respondents and among those re-

who haiae recently had friends or relatives in nursing homes; this latter
group we,:t.errned the -indirectly aware Respondents who were interested in

about extended nursing home coverage, however. had widely varying
spec t,,tteen- ,,besot prir Moat e,t those surveyed had n idea about how much they

wer willow to pay
of our membership influenced AARP to Xplore the possibility of of-

tering .1 1,an.: term care insurance product as part of our group health lbSIII-Mtet, pry-
AARI' and ireaminc industry consultants have worked extensively during

the past yr to Cie, plop a long-term cart- insurance policy that will cover intrmedi-
ate and .11--toduil care. well as meaningful home care benefits
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There are very real problems in the development of the policy itself. For example,
research is undoubtedly needed focusing on such areas as market demand, risk
analysis, marketing, distribution, and mechanisms for limiting open-ended liability.
Also, criteria need to be develop to distinguish between SNF, ICF, ICF/MR, and cus-
todial care. The almost total absence of reliable data on induced as well as planned
utilisation and claim cost experience is a major obstacle to pricing tong-term care
c:werage.

There are many questions that must he addressed when developing long-term care
insurance: Flow should a program limit adverse selection? Should there be "open
enrollment," and if not, what restrictions should apply to underwriting this cover-
age? Should long-term care insurance be on an indemnity, as opposed to expense-
incurred basis? For example, paying for institutional or home care at a rate per day
of confinement, rather than as the basis of expenses incurred? Another important
question is whether long-term care insurance should be part of a general life or an-
nuity product, or whether it is preferable that it be stand-along coverage. Could a
conversion option be built into a life insurance product providing a long-term care
insurance option at some crossover point?

How should premium pricing be established in the absence of adequate price, cost
and utilization information? State regulations on reserves needed to pay claims
must also be addressed. It is likely that a newly developed long-term care policy will
initially have relatively low loss ratios. But, given the volatility of such a product
and the lack of adequate information on which to base pricing decisions, long-term
claim payouts will likely represent a relatively higher percentage of premiums paid.
Yet this is unpredictable at best, and only as loss ratios and experience is acquired
will we know the wisdom of previous pricing and reserve decisions. Therefore, man-
dating minimum loss ratios for such a product would be unwise; indeed, preferential
tax treatment of reserves may be necessary during the developmental stage of long-
term care insurance coverage. The issue of taxation of reserves is important because
interest income on reserves accumulated in the early years of such a policy will un-
doubtedly be necessary to pay claims in the latter years, as the loss ratio on long-
term care coverage matures.

In designing a long-term care product, it should be acknowledged that the finan-
cial structure of a long-term care policy is very similar to a moderate amount of
individual whole life insurance. However, State and Federal regulating authorities
will likely not require that cash values be awarded to terminating individuals. Out
of concern for equity, a long-term care policy should consider providing cash values
in the event the long-term care benefit is not "fully" used. This would avoid the
problem of someone's paying $.10 to $50 per month for 10 or 15 y wars without receiv-
ing any benefit at all. The policy should state that a percentage of the premium
would is' returned to a designated beneficiary in the event of the death of the pol-
icyholder during a specified period Such a benefit. however, would increase the
amount of the premium.

Another area of concern in designing private long-term care insurance is mandat-
ed benefit legislation. Several State legislatures now have before them such legisla-
t ion aimed at forcing insurers to offer such coverage. By mandating that certain
benefits must be available- for example. intermediate or custodial nursing home
care. t he State, is running the risk of pricing those most in need of the coverage "out
of the marketplace.** Thus, legislation such as that introduced in New .Jersey or
Kentucky is in our view counterproductive, because it would force most, if not all.
companies out of the long-term care insurance market and stifle innovative "risk
takers" otherwise willing to write this coverage. Other problems with mandated
benefit levi-elat ion nIude The absence of an informed, consuming public able to
drow distinctions among long-term care policies or between real long-term care in-

Arld other. niort. limited and commonplace coverages; 12) little in the way of
proteci ion for the' consumer against insurance fraud, particularly overinsurance and
rtupllratit.e coverage, and 131 possible stifling of innovative service delivery/insur-
ance mechanisms as social health maintenance organizations

In addition to con-idratiims of the type of benefits that should be provided in
aloe polie., there are certain underwriting considerations that must he takeq into
.1, ill As !JAI't of our associat Ion., group health insurance program, efforts are MI
erw,it. to develop a product In t hN regard, we have had to accept sorit, rather

et necessary restriction, First, open enrollment. community rated, ex-
pf.11,1 ith-tirrrl long-term care coverage is unrealistic c Wt. will probably need to un-

An ,ndimmts. hi refit 1,rovulIng milatuai proteetion ,tern, more realtst
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derwrite such coverage via a short-form "medical" questionnaire. For the first time
we would be rejecting some of our members who wanted to participate in our asso-
ciation's group health insurance program.

Further. the very substantial risk involved in insuriej this age group against
chronic conditions must be addressed. Adverse selection must be limited. Therefore,
it is likely that any policy we were to offer would at first require elimination peri-
ods. deductibles, preexisting conditions exclusions, and perhaps a more narrowly de-
fined benefit package than we would otherwise like.

Also, while we are intent upon making home health care an integral part of our
policy, defining this noninstitutional benefit without further inducing demand for
the service is truly a "wild card." With such little data upon which to base pricing
decisions. adding the uncertainty of of meaningful home care coverage significantly
complicates developing an affordable, attractive, and marketable plan for our mem-
bers.

As you can see, many risks exist in the private insurance area. There is an unde-
niable need for data and research. Systematic as well as joint public/private sector
efforts must be initiated to collect cost, price, and utilization data. Length of stay
information as well as data on diagnoses, discharge history, level of care, and "limn
tations-in-activities-of-daily-living" are other areas that must be fully defined in
order to assess risk and the insurability of the continuum of long-term care services.

Notwithstanding the technical difficulties of underwriting long-term care cover-
age, there is also the need to educate the public about such an insurance policy, and
more particularly, the limitations of group and individual long-term care coverage.

Today, older Americans face a myriad of choices and conflicting claims in the pri-
vate health insurance marketplace. Coverages are widely misunderstood and pur-
chasing decisions frequently made with wholly inadequate information. Whether it
is a medi-gap policy, a nursing home indemnity plan for skilled nursing care, or a
major medical plan, many older Americans buy policies that purport to fill Medi-
care's or their group insurance "gaps." It is essential in developing long-term care
insurance, therefore, to require complete disclosure through a specific outline of cov-
erage stating what is and what is not covered by the policy. Policy limitations, ex-
clusions, and definitions must fully address the maximum benefit duration, deducti-
ble period, the amount of benefits, limitations on benefits, and whether the benefits
apply to skilled. intermediate, or custodial nursing home care.

Legislation similar to the "I3aucus Amendment," requiring that policies adver-
tised and sold as Medicare supplement plans meet certain minimum standards is
needed for long-term care policies to protect potential buyers. Moreover, it is essen-
tial that all State insurance departments police the marketing of private long -term
care insurance land medi-gap insurance policies) to prevent abusive practices,
frauds. and misrepresentation. It is particularly important that State regulators
make every effort to assure policy comparability without specifically mandating
benefits. Since the vast majority of policies restrict coverage to skilled care in a
nursing home. the fact that custodial or personal care is not a benefit should be
clearly and directly stated to avoid agent or direct mail offers :mplying otherwise.
Much like "medi-gap" policies, the sale of long-term care insurance needs to be ex-
amined and claim payment practices carefully monitored to prevent the elderly
trout purchasing unnecessary policies.

Should the private insurance marketplace truly develop meaningful long-term
care insurance options. it will also be the collective responsibility of public service
organizations. like AM' who work closely with State regulators to help consumers
make informed decisions.

In conclusion. as cited in the results of the AARP/Gallup long-term care research
the elder!) both need and desire some form of long-term care insurance. In

contra...I to recently released HIAA task force report. "bong -Term Care Insurance"
,tatine, that "gas h.ng as Medicaid existed in its present form, there would be no
demand tor private lung -term care insurance," the AARP/Gallup survey shows that
tile v.eo majority of elderly persons do not view Medicaid as an acceptable alterna-
iv. for meeting their long term care needs Medicaid is seen by most elderly as the
ItHuPt of r.,,,ort.- to be avoided if at al' is Bible

Again. it inlet is' reilienits.red that private :nsurance is only part of the answer
to our long term care financing dilemma Inip,.ovements in our pant insurance

.1 nil cooperatie private public sector i iitiatives in educating and inform
in peopl about lorigerm care are of equal, of rot greater importance. Innovative
regal plillo.oplue, art. also essential if sorb equity conversion schemes as re-

1)11Illit mortgages. sale lease back lt..,...aigernents. and IRA's for long-term
. ate. i .1% In 'sum. priate insurance has an important role to play but refills.
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tically, it is not our salvation but merely one piece of the long-term care financing
puzzle.

Chairman HEINZ. Thank you very much, Mr. Hagen.
Mrs. Thomas, let me ask you, did you or your husband ever

think that what has happened to youin terms of depleting your
savings and not having any help when you confronted an unexpect-
ed illnessdid you ever think that what eventually happened to
you would happen to you?

Mrs. THOMAS. No, sir.
Chairman HEINZ. You had no idea that things would happen like

this.
Mrs. THOMAS. No. That is right.
Chairman HEINZ. Now, you mentioned, I think that you are cov-

ered by Medicare and Blue Cross insurance.
Mrs. THOMAS. Yes, Senator.
Chairman HEINZ. And you have obviously had very heavy ex-

penses, $66,000 worth in the last 3 years.
Mrs. THOMAS. Yes.
Chairman HEINZ. Did Medicare cover any of your costs?
Mrs. THOMAS. No, sir.
Chairman lima. Did Blue Cross cover any of your costs?
Mrs. THOMAS. No, sir.
Chairman HEINZ. None at all?
Mrs. THOMAS. N ine at all.
Chairman HEINZ. Are you eligible for Medicaid, since you have

spent so much of your mon,:y?
Mrs. THOMAS. No, sir.
Chairman IlEiNz. And that is because your Social Security is,

what, about $6,000 a year?
Mrs. THOMAS. No, sir. Between my sou and I, my boy at home, I

get about $1,01i6 a yQar; I get $500 for me, and :..,out $400 for Ray-
mond for 1 whole year.

Ms. RAScHER. That is for 1 month.
Mrs. Ttiomns. Per month. That is right, that is right. I am sorry.
Chairman HEINZ. As you mentioned, you make your own deci-

sions.
Mrs. TuomAs. Yes.
Chairman HP:INZ. You mentioned that you would not want to

consider entering a nursing home.
Mrs. THomAs. No, Senator.
Chairman Why is that?
Mrs TunmAS. Well, I have responsibilities to my son And I may

wit hai. many more days on this Earth, but ; want to spend them
with him.

Chairman IlEiNZ. That is your son, Raymond?
Mrs. Thomas. That is my son, Raymond, who is retarded.
Chairman 11EINZ. Is he able to help you around the house at all?
MN. ItiosiAs. Well, he puts the garbage out, and he locks the

door. and he does little things like that, but he cannot do anything
heavy.

Chairman HEINZ. But he does help you.
Mrs. THOMAS. Yes, he does.
Chairman ININZ. And do you help Raymond?

2
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Mrs. THOMAS. Yes, sir. I am responsible for him. I make his deci-
sionswhen he goes to the center, which he does about three times
a week, I make sure he is neatly dressed; I instruct him to do
things right for me.

Chairman HEINZ. Let me ask Brenda one or two questions.
Brenda, in her testimony, Mrs. Thomas said that her husband

was with her for about 2 years after her stroke. Did he provide any
of Mrs. Thomas' care?

Ms. RASCHER. He was unable to provide actual hands-on personal
care. He was able to still help manage the money, do little things
around the house, but they had to have a homemaker in order to
do the actual care.

Chairman HEINZ. In your experience, is that a fairly usual situa-
tion?

Ms. RASCHER. Yes, very much so. A husband or a wife gets to the
point where they cannot physically do it, but have no intention of
separating.

Chairman HEINZ. Could you explain to the committee why Med-
icaid would pay for Mrs. Thomas nursing home care, even though
she has chosen not to seek nursing home care, but it will not pay
for her home-based care, care in the community?

Ms. RASCHER. OK. It will not pay for the home-based care be-
cause of the fact that her income is too high. She gets about $500
per month in Social Security. That automatically excludes her
from eligibility for medical assistance. However, if she were to go
into a nursing home, they would subtract her $500 from the
amount of the nursing home, and titen the medical assistance
would be the supplement, would pay for the remainder of the
amount. And her house would then have a lien put on it, so when
it was sold, the money would go toward the nursing home care.

Chairman HEINZ. And the net result of that is that she could go
to a nursing home, which would be costly for her, something she
does not want to doand it would be costly in part to the taxpay-
t es, because it is financed by the Federal and State governments; it
would obviously take her Social Security and her independence,
and clearly, she does not want to lose that. On the other hand,
Medicare will not pay a much lower cost, namely, that of communi-
ty-based home care services, so that she does not have to make that
choice, and the taxpayers do not have to be hit with that additional
bill.

Ms. RASCHER. Yes sir; as well as the fact that the State would
then become ' esponsible for her son, who she can now keep home.

Chairnian EF,N.v. Would you say Mrs. Thomas' case is unusual?
Ms. ItAsitEtt. No, it is not.
Chairman HEINZ. Mrs. Thomas, I am afraid th..n-e are many

people like you who have the same kinds of terrible choices, and
you have done us a great favor in explaining those choices to us in
a way I do not think we are going to forget.

I might oiention for the benefit of the committee that Mrs.
Thomas is indeed a bit more fortunate than most people in her
case because we have a Channelling Demonstration Project in
Philadelphia. which I think is why Brenda Rascher is indeed avail-
able to ;1;;;.:,;t her. That is only a demonstration project. It does not
exist in most other parts of the country. And so we might ask our-
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selves the question, if Mrs. Thomas has had very terrible choices to
make with that help, what is it like for everybody else who do not
have that help?

Mrs. THOMAS. You see, Senator, Catholic Charities advised us to
go to this. We did not know about them at the time, and we could
have saved ourselves a lot of money if wc. had known about this at
first.

Chairman HEINZ. My time for questioning has expired. We are
running on a 5-minute rule today, John. I want to yield to my col-
league, Senator Glenn.

Senator GLENN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I would like to ask Ms. Rascher, how much of this is due to

people not having information available to them? As Mrs. Thomas
has said, she did not know some of these other things were avail-
able. Is information flow part of the major problem, or is it just flat
funding once you get the information?

Ms. RASCIIF.R. Yes, Senator, I think it is very much a major prob-
lem. Most of the people like Mrs. Thomas have, as she said, taken
care of themselves all their lives and never needed to look to an
agency, and have been very afraid, in fact, to go to an agency for
help, because it seems like they are now no longer capable.

If she had at least had someone who would sit down with her
and her husband and budget, and make out a plan in which they
would not have had to spend that much moneyjust given infor-
mation about what else is out there.

Senator GLENN. In your experience, the people who come in to
help, people that Mrs. Thomas testified they spent so much money
on through the years, the people they read about in an ad in the
paperis it a legitimate and good function these people are per-
forming, or is this a scalping operation that preys on those who are
already in deep trouble?

Ms. RASHER. It is both legitimate and a potential preying on
someone who is already in trouble. The services that she got are
very much needed. She would not have been able to stay home
without those services. If she had had someone to work with her
and plan a little better, she would not have used 24-hour services,
because there were other resources, family, and her finances to
work it differently. llowever, there was no one to tell her that.

Senator GLENN. Do you get involved in an outreach program to
help pet.,; :e like this in your work, or do you just respond when
Owne is a final call for help, when all else has failed?

Ms. ItAscaKa. We would like to get them before all else has
Jailed. because then we have more to work with. If we had gotten
Mrs. Thomas 2 or 3 years ago, it would have beer much different,
very much different.

:.;eriator GLENN. Thank you.
Ms. Kinslow, you say you have set up an adult day care program.
Ms. KiNsi.ow. Yes. sir.
Senator GLENN. And could you tell us more about this? Are you

licensed.' Do you have to have a license to do this? Do you receive
any Government funds? flow many people attend? What is the suc-
cess rate of this?

(*an you tell us a little more about your experience?

2.1
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Ms. KINSLOW. My adult clay care center is licensed. It was pri-
marily set up to care for those seniors who cannot adequately care
for themselves.

Senator GLENN. Do they have to be licensed?
Ms. KINSLOW. So many people have applied for licenses, that ap-

parently, they have not been able to get them at this time. And
because the need is so great, they have opened facilities without li-
censes.

Senator GLENN. Go ahead. I am sorry to interrupt you.
Ms. KINSLOW. There are two forms of adult day care. There is

social day care and there is medical day care. Partial coverage can
be found under Medicare for medical day care, if notations are
such that they are benefiting from attending a medical day care
center. A social day care center, at this time, there is very little
funding for this. It is more of a maintaining of social skills, mental
skills and faculties that they now have. It is of proven success to
the caregiver and to the elderly person. It is a wonderful, innova-
tive way to really care for the elderly today.

Senator GLENN. Do the people coming to the center pay anything
to you for this, or is this all by other funding?

Ms. KINSLOW. Yes, they do. Prices do vary. My prices are $2.50
an hour for my full-time guests, which is phenomenal in this day
and age. Other agencies and centers charge as high as $15 to $18
an hour.

Senator GLENN. How many people do you handle at the center?
Ms. KINSLOW. I have a total enrollment of 22 people. We have

full-time people who attend 5 days a week; we have people who
attend 3 days a week, and some only in the afternoon, depending
on their physical condition.

Senator GLENN. Mr. Hagen, in your survey were you able to do
any cross-tabulations in relation to the 25 percent of the people
who felt they would need some nursing home care and how it
would be financed?

Mr. HAGEN. We are in the process of gathering that information
now.

Senator GLENN. We would appreciate it if you could give us that
information when it is completed.

Did most of the respondents feel Medicare would pay?
Mr. Hm;EN. Yes; I think the most startling finding, but maybe

not surprising at the same time, is that most, 79 percent, fully
thought that Medicare would pay for some, if not all, of the costs
associated with chronic care conditions, institutional home care, as
well.

Interestingly. also, though, only about 10 percent of the same
group of people we talked to thought that their adult children
would be in a position of paying, nor would they ask them to pay
for that care.

Senator GLENN. I noticed that on the chart, respondents listed
children at 10 percentwhich was surprisingly low to me.

Mr. HAGEN. Yes; I think for some of the same reasons both you
and Senator Heinz indicated earlierfamily patterns, moving
apart. and a number of other things.

Senator GLENN. My time is up, Mr. Chairman. But I do not think
I am an untypical family. I am in Washington, with a da..ghter in
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Colorado, and a son in San Francisco. That is not unusual these
days, where we used to have people grow up and stay in the same
community, town; they assumed responsibilities, and if they had
problems, they could call on the help of people they had lived with
all their lives. We are a mobile, flowing society, as I indicated in
my statement; 20 percent move to a new domicile each year, and 13
percent cross State lines. I think these are the current figures.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman HEINZ. Senator Glenn, thank you.
Senator Warner.
Senator WARNER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I commend you and the ranking minority member for this hear-

ing. I have an interest both as a Senator and as a parent. My
brother and I are privileged to have a mother who is 95 years old.
She is strong of mind and strong of body, and she still gives me a
little advice everyday. I have experienced with my brother first
caring for mother in the home and now, of course, in a nursing fa-
cility, and I am well familiar with the problems, visiting there on
an average of three to five times a week, and with staff and other
persons living there.

A question momentarily to Mr. Hagen, but first to the Chair. It
seems to me, as we address this critical problem, we should also
view the tax aspects and tax credits. I know the chairman has in-
troduced legislation in the past, the purpose of the legislation to
enable children who take care of their parents to have some tax
relief.

So my question to Mr. Hagen iswhile you did not address this
in your testimony, I presume your association has examined the
Federal Tax Code as a possible means of also working in concert
with what insurance programs we may have for the future.

Mr. HAGEN. Yes; we have, Senator Warner. As a matter of fact, a
number of years ago, I believe Senator Heinz introduced a bill
which our tax people at the association, our legislative people, were
very much involved in and supportive of. I think it is reflective of
the same concern that was just raised by Senator Glenn, as well, of
the extended family situation, the person working in Washington,
having an older parent in St. Louis or in California someplace, and
really. truly wanting to help, but not being close enough to provide
the hands-on kind of care that is necessary.

l'ilatrumn liEINZ. May I say to my friend and to Mr. Hagen that
the bill number is S. Viol, which we introduced last year.

Senator WARNER. Perhaps the Chair could tell us about what in-
tentions have with respect to presumably the next session of
coni..tre., It ,eems to me I would like to join with you in this effort,
and mayhe this committee could have a joint hearing with the
other committee, the Finance Committee, of which you are a
member

Chairman I lEINz. Senator Warner, I would be delighted to join
«ith You have been very supportive of this legislation. This
k%(,old have been my preference' to try and enact it this year. This
lk,1 a year. in which we were cutting back on tax-preference items,
hilt next year. I hope. in the context of looking more comprehen-
,ivek at our tax system, that we will make some choices, and we
tan incorporate S. 1:101 in whatever we enact.

26
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Senator WARNER. Well, soon we will hear from a panel of policy-
makers, but it appears to me that, to the extent the private
sectorand in that sense, I refer to children as opposed to Govern-
ment subsidiesto the extent the private sector can deal with this
problemand the tax relief would be an essential part of thatthe
better off we are, because I agree with Mrs. Thomr.J. While my
mother today is very comfortable, we certainly enjoyed having her
at home to the extent that we could.

Thank you for coming today, Mrs. Thomas. You are an inspira-
tion to all of us.

Chairman HEINZ. Thank you, Senator Warner.
Senator Burdick, before you begin questioning the witnesses,

would like to make a statement?
Senator BURDICK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I ask that my state-

ment be entered into the record.
Chairman HEINZ. Without objection, Senator Burdick's statement

will be e ed into the record at this time.
[The sta ent of Senator Burdick follows:]

STATEMENT OP' SENATOR QUENTIN N. BURDICK

Mr. Chairman, I have just a short statement. I am very pleased that you are hold-
ing this hearing today. You may not realize it, but it builds on a field hearing I held
in Bismarck, ND, in 1982. That hearing was entitled, "Health Care for the Elderly:
What's in the future for Long Term Care?" The major topic that day was the need
for more alternatives to nursing homesbut a second major topic was the high cost
of nursing homes and the great difficulty people had paying for that care as well as
other long-term care alternatives.

That hearing was a lively one. There was fear, anger, and frustration expressed
that day as people talked about their limited options and the difficulties they had
experienced. It showed me how deeply this issue affects people, and how badly we
need to find some solutions.

There are no good alternatives as yet to pay for long-term care. I hope this hear-
ing will help to point the way to some solutions, for they are badly needed.

Senator BURDICK. I would like to address my question to Mary
Kinslow. Your suggestion of day care for the elderly is rather in-
triguing. We understand how day care for children works, because
generally, the breadwinner has a job, and somebody takes care of
their youngster when they are gone.

Now, I presume invariably that an elderly person would have
some ailments, and they will get more ailments as they grow older.
How does this work out in practice? Is there any medical care at
your place or any other places?

Ms. KINSLOW. We are a social day care, and most of our clients,
if they are on medication, are self-medicated, with guidance.

The interesting thing that you are going to find is that seniors
are no different than you or I. When you have a routine, when you
art. used to getting up, and you are used to going, and you are used
to being involved, you are going to feel much I-..althier than the
senior who is sitting home and actually wasting time, important
time. They have a lot to offer. They have a lot to share with other
people, and it gives them the opportunity to do this daily. They
have remotivation skills; they have reality orientation for the con-
fused senior. It is just a multitude of wonderful things brought to-
gether throughout a day, and instead of the senior taking from the
family, at the dinner table, they have something to contribute at
the end of the day.
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Senator BURDICK. Well, I think that is fine. And as I say, I am
intrigued. But what do you do about the elderly who, as happens
often, may have to use a walker, or a cane, or a crutch, or some-
thing like that?

Ms. KINSLOW. That is all right.
Senator BURDICK. Do you have the facilities to handle things like

that?
Ms. Kim Low. Yes, we do. We are entirely ramped, and we have

all the handicapped equipment that would be necessary for anyone
with a wheelchair, a walker, anything of that nature.

Senator BURDICK. And I presume this situation occurs more or
less like it does for the children; the breadwinner of the house is
working and cannot stay home, and this is the next best method?

Ms. KINSLOW. That is right.
Senator BURDICK. I think it is worth looking into.
Ms. KINSLOW. Thank you.
Chairman HEINZ. Ms. Kinslow, you mentioned in your testimony

that you received some letters from other families.
Ms. KiNsww. Yes, I have.
Chairman HEINZ. Are you in a position to share any of those let-

ters, or even just or e of those letters, with us?
Ms. Ktrist.ow. Ceiiainly:
I read about your wonderful organization in the Daily News, in the "Dear Abby"

column. It was a Godsend. I am at my wits' end, and I do not know what to do. My
father had a stroke in September 1979. He has continually gotten worse, because he
has given up. and he wants to die.

He will not go for therapy, and last September, he had a small stroke, which took
the rest of his speech. He has aphasia, and uses one word for everything. He does
say other things, at times, and he can pray with no problem. He is always praying
to die

I quit my job last September to care for him and my mother at their house. I
would be there during the day, and my brother who lives there was there at night.
Hut my father just got too much for them, so 1 had him transferred by ambulance to
my house.

I got a hospital bed set up in the living room and a commode. Our house is small,
only two bedrooms, so this is the only place that I can put him.

We have looked into nursing homes, but they are all so expensive. My parents
have savings of about $29.01H1, but that would only pay for about a year. And, if all
the money is used. and my mother would get sick in 3 years, there would be noth-
ing From what I inn told, they take all but £1,301), and then you can apply for a
grant Hut they put a lien against the house. My mother could live her life, but then
the', take the house The problem is. my brother lives there. and my parents have
the house left to him as the survivor. lie helped pay for the house and has made
repa1N and paid fin. all that I just do not think it is fair that the State takes some-
thin my brother has been paving for. If we change it to his name, I hear they will
come hack and take it anyway.

We .are living day to-day. but I do not know how long I can do it. It is like having
.1 17:, p000d kik. Ile gets me up three or four times a right, and he wants constant
,:irt..111 day

!Icew do is.ople deal with aging parents who arc stubborn and contrary'? I pray for
patience ever} day. but I am afraid I am going to end up with an ulcer

husband is very helpful and understanding. but our life is not our own. And
bas e .1 I sear old son whom I placed in a day care center so he could be with other
children instead of here

help rOOld liV me to help me cope with this would greatly be
appre, 5.515"

Looking forward to heari4 from .00. timrervly

Chairman And that is not a totally unusual letter?
Ms. KINsww. It is a normal letter, Senator. This is not uncom-

mon at all.
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Chairman HEINZ. You come from Levittown, and that is in Bucks
County, PA, just north and slightly east of Philadelphia.

Ms. KINSLOW. Right.
Chairman HEINZ. What would long-term care services cost in

Bucks County?
Ms. K1NSLOW. On chart 4, we have companion home aide. A com-

panion home aide is one who would come in and stay with an el-
derly guest, maybe prepare a lunch, general helping, at the rate of
$5 to $8 an hour.

CHART 4

Long -Term Care Services: Average Cost for Private Pay Patients:

SERVICE RATE

Companion/homq.aide $5$8/hour

Adult day care $22$25/day

Licensed Practical Nurse $15.60/hour

Registered Nurse $43/visit

Skilled Nursing Facility $65/day

Si.irvey at Services: Ctliidron of Aging Parents

2,9
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We have an adult day care rate, which would range anywhere
from $22 to $25 a day at some clinics.

Licensed practical nurses, coming into the home to, say, give an
injection for a diabetic or something of this nature, would be $15.50
an hour.

A registered nurse who would come in primarily for the skilled
care nursing within the home, would be $43 a visit.

And our skilled care nursing facility runs approximately $65 a
day in Bucks County.

Chairman HEINZ. I thank you for having prepared that chart.
This is based, I understand, on a survey that your organization,
Children of Aging Parents, has done.

And I would just say for the benefit of my colleagues on the com-
mittee, Levittown is a working-class community; many of the
people there are steelworkers, second generation Americans. It is
not one of the wealthiest communities, it is not one of the poorest.
It is a fairly typical American area. And I think we would all agree
that those prices are not exactly affordable to people today.

Let me just ask a quick question of you, Ms. Kinslow, or Mr.
Hagen.

Is there any insurance available to cover any of these costa that
you can get from the Federal Government or from Blue Cross or
from anybody else? Do you know any insurance policies that would
help pay for any of these costs?

Ms. KINSLOW. At the present time, we are aware of several insur-
ances that will help pay toward these various costs. Again, it is a
very frightening thing, because they are not written well; they are
not self-explanatory. There is marginal . average, and existing ill-
ness clauses, various things.

The one thing that I found unique when we called many of these
companies to look further into their policies, they were very vague
on the phone. And I understand it is new for them, but before
people put their life savings and plan for the future with these
policies, we have to understand that when the time comes, they
will cover and take care of our- -

Chairman HEINZ. And you are saying it is just unclear as to
what they are going to do?

Ms. KiNsi.ow. Very unclear.
Chairman HEINZ. Mr. Hagen, your organization's survey, I think,

is extraordinary. In the first case, it shows that 4 out of 5 Ameri-
cans. 79 percent, think that Medicare is going to help them with
long-term care, home health services or nursing homes.

Mr. HAGEN. Right.
Chairman HEINZ. I think we all know the answer, but will you

tell us exactly how much Medicare will pay for either home health
care services or nursing home care?

Mr. 11AoRN. Well, I think it is clear that Medicare only pays for
Medicare-certified skilled nursing care, and it does not pqy for in-
termediate or custodial care, the primary care that people with
long-term chronic care conditions need. On the home care side, I
know everyone here does know that you have to require skilled
care on a part-time intermittent basis, and you have to be home-
bound to receive that care, and there are very few, if any, insur-

J0
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ance policies, private insurance policies, that cover anything
beyond that Medicare definition of home care.

Chair an HEINZ. There is one other qualifier on the care. You
have to tither have an acute illness, or have a bout with an illness
from which it is judged that you can recover, and the moment it is
judged that you have an illness from which you cannot recover, we
cut you off.

Mr. HAGEN. That is right.
Chairman HEINZ. Whether it is skh..ed nursing care, homemaker

services, home health aide, or whatever?
Is that not accurate?
Mr. HAGEN. That is correct, Senator. And most of the medi-gap

policies that exist today do require that you be in a Medicare- certi-
fied facility, as well.

Chairman HEINZ. Well, that was my second question. I want to
ask you about medi-gap policies. They are really the third item
down there. One out of two Americans believe that private insur-
ance is going to help them7,-..and I think what they have in mind
are these medi-gap policies. Do they help in terms of the kind of
long-term care that we have been talking about today, the need to
deal with some of the risks of growing oldernamely, when you
get older, there are certain kinds of things you do not really fully
recover from.

Mr. HAGEN. They really do not, Senator. What they do cover, as I
said, is skilled care in a Medicare-certified facility, for the most
part. They do not cover the long-term institutional situations
where intermediate or chronic care, custodial care, is needed. It is
an unfortunate situation, I guess, in a certain sense. But there are
some companies now, on a very limited basis, that are starting to
look at covering intermediate or custodial care, but for the most
part that is not a private insurance coverage that is available.

I think the interesting thing here, too, is that we asked individ-
uals under the age of 65 within our membership whether they
were in fact covered or not covered in the group, as well as individ-
ual health insurance sense, and they also were under the impres-
sion that they were covered when, in fact, they are not, for the
most part.

Chairman HEINZ. Mr. Hagen, my time has expired.
Senator Glennand I notice Senator Johnston has come in, and

we will yield to him.
Senator JOHNSTON. I have no questions at this time, Mr. Chair-

man.
Chairman HF:INZ. All right. Senator Glenn, I understand you

have further questions.
Senator GLENN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I do, briefly.
The need is therewe all know that. And yet we know, also, that

all the needs of the elderlyhealth and nutrition and housing and
so onwe are not going to be able to take care of all of it with a
Federal program. Let us just start with that. We all realize that.
And I am curious as to what part of this you think should be local,
State, Federal. And I guess from your own experiences with this, I
would ask each one of you to respond to what should receive our
priority here --I guess that is what I am asking. Where should we
spend funds if we are to meet the greatest need to help the greatest
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number of people. I know that is a broad-gauge question, but it is
something we have to face. And if you were sitting in our positions
here, in private committee session up here, and on the floor, and
you were debating these things, and you want to put in an amend-
ment, you want to help as many people as you possibly can, what
would your best advice be as to where we should put our priorities?

Mr. Hagen, would you lead off on that?
Mr. HAGEN. I think in a very limited sense, maybe the most lim-

ited sense, possibly, but maybe the most challenging sense, is the
educational and informational needs. I think there has to be a
much greater effort to education and inform our older Americans
as to what they currently have, what Medicare pays for, what it
does not pay for; what is Medicaid; what is private insurance, medi-
gap insurance what does that pay for and what doesn't it pay for.
I mean, that is a very basic situation that has to be dealt with, I
think, on an immediate basis.

Longer term. I think some of the issues we have discussed
todaytaking a look at the Medicare home health care benefit and
seeing what that is doing in the way of meeting true needs; taking
a took at the Medicaid situation and the institutional bias that
exists there, and trying to write that balance, possibly.

But I think the basic thing that we have found, time and time
again, and the kinds of situations we see every day of people
having to deplete resources and spend down, is that there is such
little real knowledge about what they currently have and what pri-
vate and public insurance pays for. I think the Federal Govern-
ment, State governments, insurance regulators at the State level
have a responsibility, as well as associations like ours, to do every-
thing we possibly can to at least inform people of what the current
situation is.

Senator GLENN. Yes; that is a very good point, and I think the
committee can do something on that information thing. I am sure
we could help out at least some in that particular area. Once you
get by that, though, let us say people completely understand the
whole systemthen, where is the greatest need, where is the great-
est gap that we could help cover?

Mr. HAGEN. I think the home care side, quite honestly. I think
that we need to do something to loosen up the definition of skilled
intermittent care, rehabilitation potential on the institutional side
that is require. I think there are such restricted definitions there
that we are meeting just not even the tip of the iceberg as far as
need is concerned there. There has to be a greater realization that
it is not only acute care, but it is long-term care, where there is
real and very substantial liability for these folks.

Senator GLENN. Thank you.
Ms. Kinslow, would you address that?
Ms. KINst.ow. Senator Glenn, I am sure you are well aware that

only .1 percent of our graying seniors end up in the nursing homes.
A large majority of our elderly are being cared for by their family
members. If this trend continues, and if ways can be found to
supply the needed respite for the caregiver, they would be encour-
aged to do more for a longer period of time, and in thus doing so,
save the taxpayers enormous amounts of money in the long run.
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Senator GLENN. Mrs. Thomas, do you or Ms. Rascher wish to
comment on that?

Mrs. THOMAS. Well, Senator, I had nobody. All my brothers and
sisters are dead. I had nobody. So I cab not say.

Ms. RASCHP:R. So what she needs is someone who is going to
guide her through the system. You can have all the information
you want on a system, but to understand it and know how to use it
is a whole different story. I would totally agree with everyone on
this board. You need that information, you need that home care
support to give the care givers relief so that they can continue, so
that the care giver does not die before the elderly person doesand
we have had that happen.

Senator GLENN. Thank you very much.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman HEINZ. Senator Glenn, thank you.
At this point, I would just like to summarize what I think we

have learned today, to be sure that we have all our facts straight. I
will not do justice to it all. We have learned that there is a lot of
confusion about the extent to which you or your parents, our par-
ents, have any coverage from Medicare or medi-gap insurance.
Most of us have very little coverage indeed when it comes to nurs-
ing home care or home health care, the very sources we would
need if stricken with a debilitating, particularly a progressive ill-
ness, or an illness where the prospects for rehabilitation range
from poor to nonexistent.

The second question is, what can be done about it, and what are
the options. One of the things that has been proven by Mrs.
Thomas and Ms. Rascher i.; that expert advice may not solve all
the problems for those who need long-term care, but it will help
people to avoid some of the worst pitfalls and problems. And there
are currently two kinds of places to go. One type of place might be
a county adult services bureau, or if you are lucky, something akin
to the channeling project that we have in Philadelphia. The other
end of the spectrum, frankly, I would say, much like Mary Kins-
low's organization, a nationwide voluntary channeling project
where people help people, to avoid some of the same problems that
Mrs. Thomas got into. This kind of voluntary self-help channeling
pot directs people to get the most bang for the buck, to avoid
losing those $titi,110 worth of savings unnecessarily, as Mrs.
Thomas did

I think there is also an implication that we have a bias in our
existing s,.steni. To the extent that we cover nursing home care,
Medicaid. not Medicare, will pay for it. But if you have enough
social Security income, you will be disqualified for the kind of care
most people would rather have, namely, home health care, even
though home health care is less expensive. and allows you to main-
tain your independence and dignity. Adequate care in the home
;its() allows people like Mrs. Thomas to meet her family responsibil-
ities. And that is why I think Mr. Hagen's summary is absolutely
correct. saying that the single most important area, if we had only
one to address. would be the provision of home health care. And
the surveys I have seen shoo that three-quarters of the people just
do not want to go to a nursing home under any circumstances, and
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they would like help with home health care, if that is what is re-
quired, because that is what they most want.

I did not see anybody shaking their head saying, "No, Senator,
you missed it, you did not understand the problem. That being the
case, I thank you all very much-

Senator GLENN. Just one more question, John.
Chairman HEINZ. Senator Glenn, I will be happy to yield to you.
Senator GLENN. Those of you who work in this field all the time,

how much of this would be preventable by better health care, nu-
trition, things like this, at an earlier age? Is that a major factor in
this, or is that a minor factor, that we just all are going to get old
sometime and have problems? Medical checksin other words, I
was thinking along the lines that you were talking about that
better information would prevent some of this catastrophe from
happening and people getting in bad shape. Well, the other thing
is, how do you prevent people from getting in bad shape to begin
with? Is t!-..it a major factor, or is it not?

Mr. IIAGF:N. Yes, I think it is. I think you have hit on a very im-
portant point, Senator. I think one of the points I made when I
spoke earlier was the fact that we are doing such a good job on the
acute care side that we are having people with longer lifespans,
and therefore, the incidence of chronic conditions are much great-
er. I think there has to be some attention educationally, program-
matically and informationally, to what these chronic conditions
are, what they are all about, and how they possibly can be prevent-
ed. I think you are absolutely right.

Ms. KINSIX)W. Very good, Senator. I agree with Ronmore edu-
cationa healthier mind is a healthier body.

Senator GLENN. Brenda?
Ms. RASCHER. Definitely, Senator. Even after they get sick, it is

important to learn the preventive aspects even then, to prevent
getting worse. We have to remember that this is maintenance once
you get sick, and prevention so you do not get sicker.

Senator GLENN. Thank you.
Chairman HEINZ. Senator Burdick?
Senator BURDICK. I want to ask about a scenario that may sound

extreme, but I have experienced this and know about it. Mr. Hagen
says that medi-gap and Medicare does not take care of it. We now
say that we can get some help from the home care, but that costs
money. Some of these families that I know about have spent thou-
sands and thousands of dollars and have impoverished themselves.
They cannot afford home care.

What happens to that elderly person, that grandmother or that
mother" What happens if we do not have any help at all from
these areas we were just discussing? Where do they go?

Does anybody have an answer?
Ms RAS( '11 ER. Thi.y generally go to a medical assistance nursing

tHitne bed. They usually wind up there eventually. Even if the
hitility clues nut really want them there, that is where they wind
up

Senator litRinck Who pays the bills?
M. liAstttEtt. Medical assistance.
Senator 131.-}tottm. I see. Then, there is some fallback, someplace.

3



31

Ms. Ktrist.ow. There is, I know, in Bucks County, in Doylestown,
they have Nishaminy Manor for medical assistance, primarily. The
only problem is it has such a connotation about itit was once the
county poorhouse.

Senator BURDICK. I understand. Thank you.
('hairman HEINZ. If I may offer an answer to your question based

on what I have in my our own State. In Pennsylvania, and in other
States, there are not enough nursing home beds, even for the indi-
gent Medicaid population. As a result, we now have this subclass of
facilities that, in our State, go by the rubric of "boarding homes."
They are not where you and I would go to board. They are often
filled with very old, very incapacitatedI hesitate to use the word
"sick"but very incapacitated people, who are, to my untrained
and unpracticed eye, indistinguishable, in terms of their health
conditions, from the people you will find in many intermediate
care and skilled nursing facilities. The boarding homes will, in
effect, their Social Security checksand that is the deal. The qual-
ity of medical supervision in them varies all over the lot, ranging, I
guess, from adequate to nonexistent. And that remains a concern
and problem in our State and I imagine in many others.

I want to thank our panel, especially Mrs. Thomas, who has
made a heroic effort to come down here. Mrs. Thomas, this is your
first trip, not just to Washington, but out of your house in 3 years.
Applause.

We hope to make it all worthwhile so that other people can avoid
the kinds of problems that you have had. I think you are pretty
lucky to have found someone like Ms. Rascher to give you a hand,
too. She deserves all our thanks, as do you.

Thank you all very much, and I would ask our next panel to
come forward.

Mrs. THOMAS. Thank you very much.
Chairman HEINZ. Our next panel consists of Betsy Houchen, di-

ctor of the Columbus Home Health Services, who I think Senator
Glenn introduced earlier; Nancy Versnick, chairperson of the long-
term care insurance task force of the American Health Care Asso-
ciation; and Jim Sykes, chairman of the public policy committee.

Let ow ask Betsy Houchen to proceed with her testimony, and
then I ion going to yield to Senator Glennexcuse meI think I
should yield to Senator Glenn now, in case he wants to introduce
liets2,- at this time.

Senator GLENN. Thank you. Mr. Chairman.
I moot t.arlier in my statement about the work that I know
lir,t.hand in Columbus that she has been doing there, because I

list m that community, in that town, and we are very proud to
have her here today to testify and give us some of the benefits of
tier experience there.

el cane to the hearing.
Chall'illan 4:1W. liettiy. please proceed.

41' VII;NIENT OF' BETSY .1. 11(11.C1IF:N, DIRECTOR, 110111.: HEALTH
SERVICES. CITY OF COLUMBUS. OH

M7-. itwiliEN Thank you.
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Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, my name is Betsy
Houchen. I am the director of home health services, city of Colum-
bus OH. I am also the assistant health commissioner of the Colum-
bus Health Department.

I am here to testify on behalf of my own agency and the Nation-
al Association for Home Care, of which we are a member agency.
The National Association for Home Care is the Nation's largest
professional organization representing the interests of over 2,000
home health agencies, hospices, and homemake,-/home health aide
organizations.

We would like to commend you on holding this important hear-
, ing. We believe that the long-term care insurance issue is of criti-

cal importance to explore in light of the projected insolvency of the
Medicare trust fund, the overall need for health care cost contain-
ment, and the problem of the inordinate out-of-pocket expenses the
elderly have to bear for overall health care, despite Medicare.

Society should take responsibility for the risk of chronic care. So-
ciety has taken responsibility for other major risks faced by our
older populationfor example, loss of income in retirement, Social
Security, and acute medical care, Medicare. There must be similar
public, private, or joint responsibility with regard to chronic care.

The trends leading to the current interest in long-term care in-
surance include: One, an older and more frail population, particula-
tely th 85-plus group, who are more likely to outlive their re-
sources and therefore are more dependent on Medicaid; two, cut-
backs in Medicaid; three, an institutional bias by Medicaid; four,
an acute care bias by Medicare; and five, the lack of chronic care
models for clinical and reimbursement purposes, recognizing pre-
vent i ve care as an integral part of chronic care.

The fact that the older the person, the more likely chronic dis-
ease patterns will emerge makes it more imperative to seek fund-
ing mechanisms responsive to those needs. Without this support,
inappropriate care, premature institutionalization and a sicker pop-
ulation are likely.

Although long-term care is usually discussed with regard to the
elderly population, we feel it is important to recognize that long-
term care encompasses all ages, since the chronically ill are not all
elderly. Pediatric care and the needs of younger as well as older
adults requiring chronic care must be addressed in any discussion
or long-term care needs.

While we are advocates for appropriate care at whatever level,
We feel that strong consideration must be given to building in a sig-
nificant home care component to any long-term care insurance
plan Few existing plans cover home care, which reflects the tradi-
tional Institutional bias in the health care system. We feel that the
Locus of long-term care should be redirected to emphasize a nonin-
.4 out lona I sett ing. This k not only a more humane altertiative. but
al-sn :1 more cost effective solution. Utilizing home care will reduce
vi(porlSiVt 111,4 It tit lanai costs allowing middle income people to pay
for their own long-term care costs.

Thfre is a vast amount Of evidence of the cost-effectiveness of
home care. both from studies by home health agencies, the Federal
t ;0i:eminent. and the major private insurance companies. We have
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previously submitted these studies to congressional committees and
would be pleased to provide them to this committee.

The need for long-term care insurance, with a strong home care
component, is critical in light of the current coverage gaps in both
Medicare and private insurance. My agency sees a substantial
number of patients who are covered by private insurance. Approxi-
mately I() percent of our admissions are private insurance patients.
There are a number of problems regarding coverage by private in-
surance.

First, there is insufficient coverage of skillet( care and supple-
mental insurance is inadequate. Supplemental insurance plans do
not cover any care which is not covered by Medicare, so if Medi-
care will not pay for a service, the supplemental insurance will not
cover the service, either. The only thing that the supplemental
policy will pay is the 20 percent over the 80 percent coverage that
Medicare pays. This frequently leads to patient confusion, since
most patients with supplemental policies believe that these policies
will pay for services not covered by Medicare.

Let me give you an example. We have a 65-year-old female pa-
tient with a total knee replacement and severe arthritis. A physi-
cal therapist visited her in her home, with Medicare covering the
visits. When the patient was no longer homebound, the physical
therapist wanted to continue giving her exercises to make her
more ambulatory, but we could not bill Medicare, since a patient
must be homebound to qualify for the home health benefit. We at-
tempted to bill the patient's supplemental insurance plan, but the
insurer said that they would not even consider reimbursement if
Medicare did not cover the service. The patient is now paying $2
per visit, and we are writing off the remaining $38 of the charge
per visit.

A further problem regarding existing private insurance coverage
concerns maintenance or preventive care. Private policies may
cover nursing, but frequently, do not cover home health aide serv-
ice or rehabilitation service. One of our patients was a 73-year-old
man with Parkinson's disease and a colostomy, who was totally
bedfast and required total care. He had to be fed, bathed, dressed,
and could only be moved from bed by a Hoyer lift. He received
nursing care, physical therapy, occupational therapy, and home
health aide services. The occupational therapist made a splint for
his hand, which had already become deformed, and she was teach-
ing his wife the schedule for splint-wearing and range of motion ex-
ercise. The home health aides assisted the patient's wife in giving
him personal care. His insurance company paid only for nursing

but not for occupational therapy or home health aide visits.
A person. such as this patient, with Parkinson's disease has defi-

nite needs, even though he or she is not acutely ill. Insurance com-
panies consider this custodial or nonskilled maintenance care, so
neither they nor Medicare will even consider paying for this type
of care We could help patients such as these at home at a lesser
cost. but insurance companies just will not pay for it.

Our agency provides a great deal of maintenance care. The elder-
t). reason of their age, need supportive services. This is precise-

ly what their insurance companies are not paying for. Long-term
care insurz%etce must cover supportive services, not just nursing and
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rehabilitation. Personal care, housekeeping, and chore services are
all essential services for inclusion.

Our agency has been one of the participants in a HCFA-funded
demonstration project where aid for dependent children recipients
are trained as homemaker/home health aides. This project has
worked extremely well for our agency, since much emphasis has
been placed on training, orientation, and supervision. Last year, we
had 20 participants in this program, who provided service to over
200 patients and averaged approximatly 300 visits per week. This is
significant, because the recipients of these services received care
which otherwise would not have been possible because there would
have been no payment source if they had not been in the demon-
stration project.

Because of the increased number of home health aides in the
community as a result of the project, the service recipients were
able to remain in their homes rather than going into nursing
homes.

For example, a couple in their nineties received assistance from
home health aides in this program. The couple lives alone and
want to remain at home. They receive services five times a week.
The homemaker/home health aide prepares breakfast and lunch
and takes almost total care of the home, including laundry, clean-
ing, and all personal care for the husband and wife. Their daughter
is unable to assist in their care due to illness. Other family mem-
bers work, but do assume some responsibility in the evening hours.
Were it not for our services, this couple would be forced to go to a
nursing home.

We need more long-term solutions. Demonstration projects,
though helpful, are finite. With long-term care insurance plans
which provide both skilled care and aide services, couples such as
the one just mentioned would not have to be unnecessarily institu-
tionalized.

I hope that I have provided you with some insights regarding the
gaps in the current insurance coverage, why long-term care insur-
ance is urgently needed, and why home care is such a vital compo-
nent in any long-term care plan.

I would be pleased to assist the committee in exploring these im-
portant issues.

This concludes my statement. Thank you fbr the opportunity to
appear today.

Chairman HEINZ. Ms. Houchen, thank you very much. We will
have questions for you at the conclusion of the testimony of the
other panelists.

Let me at this point call on Nancy Versnick, representing the
American Ifealth Care Association.

Ms. Versnick?

!;.T1TEMENT OF' NANCY VERSNICK, WASIIINCTON. l)(', CHAIR-
MAN, TASK F010E ON PRIVATE LONG-TERM CARE INSURANCE.
AMERICAN HEALTH CARE ASSOCIATION. ACCOMPANIED BY
ROBERT BENNEDI('T .-%N1) LAURENCE LANE

Ms. VERsNii.K. Good morning, and thank you, Mr. Chairman and
members of the committee.
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I am Nancy Versnick, chairman, Task Force on Private Long-
Term Care Insurance, American Health Care Association. The
American Health Care Association is the largest national organiza-
tion of long-term care providers, representing nearly 8,000 licensed
facilities. We are honored by this opportunity to appear before the
U.S. Senate Committee on Aging to discuss the private insurance
coverage for long-term care services.

Accompanying me this morning are two experts in the field,
former U.S. Commissioner on Aging, Robert Bennedict, currently
State executive of the Pennsylvania Health Care Association, and
Laurence Lane, of the American Health Care Association staff.

Chairman HEINZ. Ms. Versnick, on a personal note, just let me
say that I am quite familiar with both of your experts, and they
indeed are. Larry Lane has been before me, when I served on vari-
ous committeesI hate to say it, for his benefit, and this will not
protect him, but back when I was in the House of Representatives,
he was an expert even then. And Bob Bennedict, although he has
become famous down here in Washington, DC, with his responsibil-
it ies, was famous in Pennsylvania as the director ofI guess, Bob,
it was thenit was before we had a department of aging, so I guess
it was simply an office on aging. Just think, if you had stayed, you
could have 17< ;.,i a secretary; it is better to be a director, I guess.
Laughter.

Nancy, please excuse me.
Ms. VERSNICK. That is all right, Senator. I am glad that they are

recognized as experts in this field.
Chairman HEINZ. They are getting more difficult as they get

older, but they probably feel the same way about me. [Laughter.]
Ms. VERSNICK. There is a growing consensus among our members

that private insurance offers a promising approach to purchasing
quality long-term care services. I wish to briefly share with this
committee: One, the reasons for this support of private insurance;
two. the minimum coverage principles; and three, the findings of a
study which we prepared earlier this year, discussing the availabil-
it,- of private insurance for long-term care, obstacles to expansion,
and actions which our association sees as necessary to develop the
market.

At the outset, let me emphasize that we believe the exposure for
cost, of long-term health care ser 'ces is an insurable risk. This
pepet ive is shared by a number of companies underwriting the
cost, of such services, by the academic community, and by the
Health Care Financing Administration of the Department of
flealth and !finnan Services. No longer should the question be can
there he private long-term care insurance; the policy questions now
-hould relate to timing of market development, the nature of cover-
:we and the relationship of the private market to public
programs

our private long-term care insurance task force has identified six
11tn- a- important reasons fur public pursuit of private insurance
ha- lung tpni ;ie Om., provides financial support for purchase of
go.ility service. two, enhances the opportunity for consumer choice:
three. preserves the dignity of older persons to prudently plan for
their ,Ig-term care needs: lour, reduces Federal and
State exposure for the costs of future long-term care services; five,
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overcomes the reliance upon public programs as the source of pay-
ment for services; six, assures market competition as a source of
payment for services; and seven, assures market competition and
induces the expansion of diversified service delivery.

While this is not an exhaustive list of reasons, the point is clear
that developing private insurance coverage will benefit the con-
sumer, insurers, Government, and providers.

Inducing a positive response from the private insurance sector
will require a constructive dialog. The recently released report of
the Health insurance Association of America, entitled "Long-Term
Care: The Challenge to Society," offers a useful framework for
stimulating the public debate.

In a similar cooperative effort, AHCA has sponsored a series of
policy forums at the national and State levels. Attached to my tes-
timony is a summary of the proceedings of our national policy
forum.' We are working cooperatively with consumer and govern-
ment groups to put together another national meeting.

Our initiatives are guided by 10 points to develop the insurance
market. While these 10 points do not reflect an official position of
our association, they are representative of the input which we are
receiving from our members:

One, long-term care insurance must truly reflect financing for
the longer stay patient in need of skilled and/or intermediate care.

Two, long-term care insurance should not be tied to Medicare
part A requirements nor linked to definitions of levels of care uti-
lized by the Medicare Program.

Three, approved utilization screens should be based upon geriat-
ric service needs.

Four, long-term care insurance should reflect payment for both
institutional and noninstitutional long-term benefits provided that
the same geriatric screen criteria for utilization be used to ensure
prudent utilization of the coverage.

Five, long-term care insurance should afford the opportunity for
children and others to purchase the coverage on behalf of a qualify-
ing relative and for the purchaser to receive the benefits of avail-
able taxation deductions and credits.

Six, an indemnity insurance approach is acceptable provided:
First. the rate reflects the true costs of providing necessary services
to an individual, arid second, the rate includes a trending factor to
compensate for inflation.

Seven, eligibility criteria should not negate coverage for a large
number of older person, that is, policy exclusions should not pre-
pro coverage fin- chronic conditions closely correlated with the

normal aging process.
Eight. preexisting condition requirements of a policy should be

t pm. specific
Nine. policies which offe reimbursement based upon resource

'trill/anon should he inflation indexed to reflect the true costs of
C.11.1', ;Ind

TOM St n'ngt Or the private insurance market should be
..,nchronized with changes in the Medicaid Program as to pro-

IGf.tif;1 1:Iti,:..1.
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mote the private approach without abandoning current Medicaid
eligible populations.

Earlier this year, staff conducted a study for the American
Health Care Association of the private insurance market. Findings
document that private long-term care insurance coverage is avail-
able, affordable, expanding, and adequate.

The report indicates that over 25 insurance companies are ex-
perimenting with policies covering extended long-term care serv-
ices. Of that number, more than half have made a commitment to
expanding their share of the market. While the experimental poli-
cies greatly vary, the typical policy provides an indemnity benefit
of between $30 to $60 11.1. day for coverage of skilled nursing and
intermediate care services for up to 4 years of nursing home place-
ment. It appears realistically possible for an individual between the
ages of 60 and 63 to purchase viable long-term care insurance at a
premium of less than $30 per month. While coverage for an indi-
vidual above the age of 75 will be more expensive, data on the
income and resources of older Americans suggest that long-term
care insurance is well within the means of most senior citizens.

Among the most significant obstacles to the growth of the pri-
vate long-term care insurance market are consumer underestima-
tion of their potential need for long-term care coverage and overes-
timation of the available coverage of their existing policies and of
public programs.

The study concludes that a variety of approaches can be taken to
make long-term care insurance a reality across the country. One of
the key recommendations of the report is for the American Health
Care Association and its State affiliates to assume the leadership in
spearheading coalitions with other interested groups to promote
the marketing of long-term care insurance. Such initiatives would
work to raise public consciousness of the need for insurance cover-
age, entice the cooperation of major insurers to extend coverage
into the long-term care market, and cooperate with Federal and
State government officials to secure necessary legislation to make
private insurance viable.

This hearing is a pioneering effort focusing attention on a void in
our programs fbr older persons. While a number of States are ex-
ploring the role of private long-term care insurance, Minnesota,
Connecticut, and California, through study resolutions, and Ken-
tucky and New Jersey by legislation, this is the first comprehen-
sive Federal review.

Medicare provides scant coverage for nursing home services and
other long-term care. Supplemental insurance policies, so-called
niedi-gap coverage's, use Medicare definitions. Most policies are re-
strictive in coverages and provide no real protection against long-
term cart. costs. Without Medicare or insurance protection, individ-
uals must rely upon their own savings to pay for long-term care
services. Nursing home ,bxpenses are the largest catastrophic ex-
pense for individuals age ii:, and over. Many people spend their re-
source's until they are so poor as to be eligible for Medicaid. To the
extent that private insurance can help people from needing Medic-
aid, the costs to government fbr supporting the indigent could be
reduced.
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The members of our association stand ready to work with you in
this challenge of enticing usable private long-term care insurance
policies.

Thank you for allowing me the opportunity to appear before this
committee.

Chairman HEINZ. Ms. Versnick, thank you.
I believe Senator Glenn has a comment.
Senator GLENN. Mr. Chairman, I have to go to another meeting,

and I will try and get back a little bit later. I am sorry I cannot be
here. I want to thank you all for being here.

And also, in Ms. Houchen's statement, she indicated several
studies on the cost-effectiveness of home care by HHA's, the Feder-
al Government, and major private insurance companies and offered
to provide the committee with copies of those documents for our in-
formation. I am looking forward to receiving those studies.

Chairman HEINZ. Senator Glenn, thank you.
Mr. Sykes, representing the National Council on the Aging. Jim,

please.

STATEMENT OF JAMES T. SYKES, MADISON, WI, CHAIRMAN,
PUBLIC POLICY COMMITTEE, NATIONAL COUNCIL ON THE
AGING, AND SPECIAL ASSISTANT TO THE VICE CHANCELLOR,
('ENTER FOR HEALTH SCIENCES, UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN -

MADISON
Mr. SYKES. Thank you, Senator Heinz.
I am Jim Sykes, chairman of the Public Policy Committee of the

National Council on the Aging, and special assistant to the vice
chancellor Center for Health Sciences, at the University of Wis-
consin-Madison. I am also the founder and chairman of the Coloni-
al Club, a community-based senior center surrounded by elderly
housing which provides comprehensive, community-based, long-
term care services, not including a nursing home.

It is from these perspectives, but on behalf of the National Coun-
cil on the Aging. that I appear todaq to urge this committee to con-
tinue its search for a coherent, responsible, humane policy to pro-
vide and fund the long-term care needed by those suffering from
chronic conditions, those for whom supportive services within the
cominunity are unavailable, those threatened by the fear of total
loss of independence due to the high cost of long-term care and
their declining ability to remain in the community. These individ-
uals are surely among those in greatest need in our society, least
able to defend themselves against personal and financial losses,
;Ind dtperidem upon a caring society. How this Nation responds to
the.se inilividuvls and their families is surely the clearest test of
our conItIlitt110111 to humane values.

It is v.'ell-established that a long-term care system has at least
four components A long-term care policy, to be coherent, respon-
-ike. :10(1 humane, must provide for those elements which truly
.1-sit individuals in need within the community as well as within
Ow nursing home A policy discussion that focuses only on cost con-
tam merit is misguided. To an unfortunate extent. that is the case
herr in Washington, in our State capitols, in the media, and most
unfortunately. in the minds of persons at risk and their families.
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Looking quickly at these often overlooked parts of the long-term
care system, let me underline the importance of the family in pro-
viding carespouse, son, or daughter, even a caring neighbor. That
is the first line of defense, and a long-term care policy and reim-
bursement scheme should incorporate ways to build this founda-
tion. Of course, I am speaking of those who are fortunate enough to
live in a family or among caring friends. A long-term care policy
should enable caregivers to purchase needed services from provid-
ers within the community.

Second, there is within most communities a growing number of
services designed to provide respite to a caring family, including
therapeutic services, transportation, adult day care programs,
senior centers, hospice programs, friendly visitors, and other com-
munity-based voluntary organizations and efforts; churches, social
organizations, neighborhoods, and various coalitions deliver a vari-
ety of services that often enable one to remain in the community.
An insurance program should direct resources to strengthen these
low-cost, but essential, services.

Third, home health care services are a key part of the long-term
care system; and these services must be covered.

Finally, there is the nursing home aspect, including, some acute
care in the long-term care system. This is, of course, the element
which has everybody's attention because care in these settings is
expensive. The number of persons requiring this level of care is
high and rising; an insurance policy must assuredly cover these
high costs.

While I have been speaking of insurance, I have not limited my
use of the term to private insurance. Medicare and Medicaid are
insurance programs, vehicles for society to deliver to people in
need essential, health-related services. Because of aggregate costs,
these programs have come under tough questioning. Sufficient at-
tention to what may be needed to broaden these programs, improve
henfits, and deliver services is largely absent. The compelling cost
picture seems to force us to the balance sheet, the bottom line, and
despair.

Our formal test:mony offers three principal points, and I just
want to hit them quickly.

Medicare and Medicaid are the fundamental and critically neces-
,ay programs helping to provide for health care needs of Ameri-
a's elderly and providing the support families need in that proc-

ess. Nledieare and Medicaid need strengthening to provide for the
total health care needs of all older Americans.

Second, long-term care must he viewed as a continuum of health
;Ind ,ncial services ranging from those provided in institutional set-
tioLt to those provided through community-based programs to
t nu, provided in an individual's own home. We believe both Feder-
al programs and private insurance must cover services such as
adult day care . home health, respite care, and homemaker assist-
.lflt htC;ItIN he,A services are often best suited to meeting the
tor needs of an elderly person while allowing that person to
remain in the supportive and familiar environment.

Further, community-based, longterm care has distinctive differ-
encs from the components of the health care system covered by
Nldmire in that social services often play a larger role than
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health services. However, it is an integral part of the overall con-
tinuum of cate, and should be financed by the Social Security
System. This could be achieved through a separate title of the
Social Security Act, a title XXI, or by an expansion of Medicare.
Medicaid, a program for the poor, should not continue as the prin-
cipal public response to the urgent and increasing need for commu-
nity long-term care.

Third, new initiatives such as long-term care insurance represent
an interesting approach in helping to meet the cost of care for
older persons. But in no way should private long-term care insur-
ance be considered a substitute for coverage currently provided
under Medicare and Medicaid or for the needed new Federal cover-
age.

Moreover, while private long-term care insurance can play an in-
creasingly significant role in helping to cover services not currently
covered under Federal and State programs, the cost of such private
coverage must be spread among the universe of persons participat-
ing in a particular group health insurance plan so that the costs
does not become prohibitive

I will close by saying that the National Council on the Aging is
eager to work with you, especially in the context of something that
might be called independent living insuranceas opposed to the
variety of the health-related ways we define what is neededbe-
cause we are convinced as an organization working for, training,
and representing the service providers which deliver services to
hundreds of thousands of older people, that it is in the context of
community-based, supportive arrangements, that long-term care
systems need the greatest amount of support. I would suggest that
within the community-based part of the long-term care system we
will get the largest return on public investment, because it will
build on a huge base of private investment and private initiative.

Chairman HEINZ. Mr. Sykes, thank you very much. Without ob-
jection. your entire statement will be made a part of the record at
this time.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Sykes follows:)

Pit EpARED STATEMENT or JAMES T. SYKES

'Ito Natwthil Council on the Aging, Mr. Chairman, appreciates the opportunity to
,11.10 It pervecties with the committee as to how our Nation can best meet the
;ant; term care needs of the elderly We commend the committee for organizing this
harini.f and stand ready to work with you to develop appropriate' legislative ap-
proahes to meeting the critical challenges involved in the delivery and financing of
..omprfiensive longterm care services

NI% name 1, James Sykes. chairman of the NCOA's Public Policy Committee I

/-1.11t in addition. as director of public service Of the Wisconsin Choese
man and I ;011 .1 former member of the Presidentially-appointed Federal Onincil
.,ri Agim;

Die National (*owl, .1 on the Aging has been working to improve the quality of
;;I, I,tr Her /,..11.. -met. 19:0) Our organization has played an important advocacy

/nadir poliry changes to provide' vital assistance to the elderly
And the -.one time ,rganiiation and its affiliates have developed and °per-
itd important innov.itive prnimmis directly affibt the daily lives of him-

dr. d. ,t thoo-and- of older rople These programs include senior centers. adult day
.tr.- ,11111!1% I:1,111 and training. housing. and social and support services
riot te-titoly will examine %.irious aspects of the topics which this hearing i.

wended t,, xpl.,re Ilia there are three principal points we wish to expiess to you
!oda%
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(I) Medicare and Medicaid are the fundamentarand critically necessary programs
helping to provide for the health care needs of America's elderly. Due to uncon-
trolled health care cost escalation and ill-advised program reductions, these vital
programs are failing to provide the comprehensive assistance to older persons for
which they were designed. Medicare and Medicaid need strengthening to better pro-
vide for the total health care needs of all older Americans.

(2) Long-term care must be viewed as a continum of health and social services
ranging from these provided in institutional settings to those provided in communi-
ty-based facilities to those provided in an individual's own home. We believe both
Federal programs and private insurance must cover services such as adult day care,
home health, respite care, and homemaker assistance, among others, because these
services are often best suited to meeting the care needs of an elderly person while
allowing that person to remain in the supportive and familiar environment of this
or her own home. Further, community-based long-term care has distinctive differ-
ences from the components of the health care system covered by Medicare in that,
in most cases, social services play a larger role than health services. However, it is
an integral part of the overall continuum of care, and should therefore be financed
by the Social Security System. This could be achieved through a separate title of the
Social Security Act (a title XXI), or by an expansion of Medicare. Medicaid, a pro-
gram for the poor, should not continue as the only public response to the urgent and
increasing needs for community long-term care.

(3) New initiatives such as long-term care insurance represent an interesting ap-
proach to helping to meet the cost of care for older persons. But iu no way should
private long-term care insurance be considered a substitute for coverage currently
ropvided under Medicare and Medicaid or for the needed new Federal coverage.

Moreover, while private long-term care insurance can play an increasingly signifi-
cant role in helping to cover services not currently covered under Federal and State
programs, we believe the costs of such private coverage must be spread among the
universe of persons participating in a particular group health insurance plan so
that the costs do not become prohibitive.

The NCOA believes that the Congress must examine the topic of this committee
hearing in the context of improving our Nation's overall health care system serving
older Americans. Tragically, the current system falls short of ensuring assessible,
affordable care for older persons at levels most appropriate to their needs. The
NCOA calls on this committee to play a leadership role in the development and im-
plementation of: a more responsive and effective health care delivery system, cost
containment that improves quality of care, restoration of reductions in Medicare
and Medicaid benefits enacted in recent years, genuine catastrophic illness coverage
under Medicare, and long-term care options in comprehensive, coordinated, commu-
nity-ba.ed service swum&

HEALTH CARE DELIVERY SYSTEM

The Nation's health delivery system is deficient in ways directly detrimental to
present and future older Americans.

More than 25 million personsincluding 4.5 million women aged 45 to 64have
no health insurance of any kind.

The quality of care throughout the Nation is uneven, and for many older persons
access in difficult Primary care providers are "virtually nonexistent," according to
the National Health Law Project, for nearly 211 million people living in rural areas
and deteriorating neighborhoods.

The misguided reimbursement policies of Medicare, Medicaid, and private insur-
ance result in an overemphasis on medical care for older persons and institutional-
!ration. when more humane social services, community nursing and community-

long term care would be more effective in maintaining many older persons in
t heir horns en% ironment

For those who require nursing home or board and care placement, the choices are
often limited to substandard or too-costly institutions.

There is el.idence. that minority group members experience especially harsh
access problems that are likely to contribute to deterioration of health

Most physic ians are products of medical schools that give scant geriatric training,
And many nh%,iians may harbor negative attitudes toward older patients in need
tit steSteil$, ,uppirt rather than specialties' treatment

HEA1.111 COSTS NIsT HE CONTROLLED. QUALITY UNIRADED

li.,:th ,sts haw risen from billion in 1967 to P22 billion in 1952. In
the o.itional health hill included lIo. pitals..ig:#; billion: physicians. $1l2 bil-
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lion; nursing homes, $27 billion; drugs and medical sundries, $22.4 billion. The costs
are already staggering, and still going up faster than the average cost of living.

Based on current trends, national health expenditures could reach $756 billion in
1990 and consume roughly 12 percent of the gross national product. The cost ques-
tion will not solve itself; it cries out for far-reaching corrective action.

The first significant national romans* thus far changes reimbursement proce-
dures in Medicare. This prospective reimbursement approach does not deal with
physician fees, which are a major cost element in hospital stays. It also risks the
shifting of costs from Medicare patients to "private-pay" patients, and discrimina-
tion against Medicare patient because of the reimbursement limitations.

Hospital administrators, struggling to comply with the complicated diagnosis-re-
lated groups (1:RC's) on which the system is based, may be tempted to select pa-
tients on the basis of DRG reimbursement requirements rather than on the actual
needs of the patients. Continuity and quality of care could suffer, unless enlightened
hospital directors and physicians resist negative incentives contained in the prospec-
tive payment system.

NCOA Recommendations

Legislation to extend the prospective payment system to cover all patients.
Extension of the prospective payment system to doctor fees connected with hospi-

talization and mandatory acceptance by physicians of Medicare reimbursement fees.
Introduction of quality care incentives into the prospective payment system.

MEDICARE REQUIRES STRENGTHENING

Medicare has brought immense gains in access to health care for older Ameri-
cans. Before 1965, only 6>f3 percent of the 65-plus population saw a physician once a
year; now. S3 percent do. Well over 90 percent of Medicare participants have a regu-
lar source of medical care. Such improvements have undoubtedly contributed to the
declines in the death rate for heart diseases and strokes within recent years.

Medicare, however, is often erroneously portrayed as a threat to the Nation's
budget and a candidate for early bankruptcy because of the rise in the number of
elders it serves and because it seeks to do too much for them.

Actually. Medicare's problems spring in large part from fundamental flaws in the
Nation's health care system. Far from being overly protected. Medicare partici-
pants:

Pay at least as high a proportion of their income today for care as they did before
Medicare became law.

Face new increases in the amounts they must pay to receive Medicare's limited
coverage.

Medicare, the central element in health care for older Americans, needs major
reform. But current plans aimed at cost-shifting and cost containmei t do not aim at
reform. They promise little more than heavier burdens on those n ost in need of
help. (' opayments, for example, are a direct charge on those unfortunate enough to
fall ill; increased copayments would be particularly onerous on low - income Medicare
participants. who pay a greater proportion of their income for copayments than
those Kith higher incomes.

N( 'OA Recommendations

Heist new attempts to increase copayments and deductibles under the hospital
and medical parts and premiums under its medical part. (Medicare participants,
now pa, outolpocket expenditures totaling $1,500. a 122-percent increase within 6
years '

Refuse to impose a means test on Medicare recipients.
Reject proposals to establish a voucher system to supplement Medicare as unreal-

istic on several grounds: [1) "Shopping" for health insurance in the private market
%%mild in' difficult for many older Americans; (21 elders who opt to remain in Medi-
( art. would probably lw those most in the need of treatment; (31 Medicare's base of
support would be diminished at a time when it should be broadened.

Maintain a freeze on physician fee levels and require physicians to accept Medi-
ar's assigned fee levels.

Expand Medicare coverage to include' comprehensive inhome and day care sere-
ices. health maintenance services. hearing aids, e'yeglasse's. most prescription drugs,
foot care and most dental work.
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Provide incentives for States to establish statewide health care plans, under Fed-
eral guidelines, to nieet national cost reduction standards while meeting individual
State needs and priorities.

Provide positive incentives for enrollment of Medicare beneficiaries in health
maintenance organizations (HMO's( and increase Federal support for development
of HMO's_ In addition, NCOA believes that full Medicare coverage for social health
maintenance organizations (SHMO's), which are intended to provide a complete
range of social and health services, should be considered at an early date in the in-
terests of cost effectiveness and increased support for genuinely comprehensive com-
munity-based care/support systems.

Maintain a close watch over so-called private "medilap" insurance sold to supple-
ment Medicare coverage.

CATASTROPHIC ILLNESS PROTECTION

Medicare's hospital cost protection does not cover stays extending past 60 days.
This limitation raises the specter of financial ruin for older persons (and their off-
spring) in the number of instances in which hospitalization is required for far longer
Periods.

In 1983, an administration proposal would have reduced costs for a typical 6-
month illness from an estimated $19,000 to $1,580 for the elderly Medicare benefici-
ary. The price of this, however, would have been a major increase in "cost-sharing"
required for all other Medicare participants. This proposal would have helped very
few individuals, since less than 0.05 percent of beneficiaries ever use all 60 days of
their Medicare hospital benefits. The increase in coverage for such a benefit would
be more than offset by increased coinsurance and deductible charges to all Medicare
hospital users.

One example of the consequences of the administration proposal, provided in a
study devoted to arthritis policy (15 million older Americans have some form of that
disease, shows that elderly persons with chronic illnesses generally require more
frequent but shorter hospitalizations than persons with an acute, catastrophic ill-
ness. They would suffer severe consequences under the proposal.

NCOA Recommendations

Congress design a catastrophic hospital coverage feature under Medicare that
would not be a tradeoff with cost-sharing requirements made on all persons who re-
ceive hospital benefits under that program. Catastrophic coverage should be consid-
ered on its own merits and not as a part of a package deal.

MEDICAID-THE POOR NEED COVERAGE, NOT CUTS

Medicaid is a program limited to low-income persons of all ages. It now serves
about 3.1 million elderly persons. Nursing home care is key Medicaid service for
alder persons, since Medicare does not cover long-term care. At least $7 billion of
the $11 3 billion spent under Medicaid for nursing home care in 19K1 was for older
persons.

A caring Nation cannot justify the simultaneous reduction of taxes for the more
affluent members of our society while economizing by placing needed health care
out of the reach of those who cannot pay for it. Further. Americans who are poor
Amok] not be penalized because of where they live.. We must move toward a uni-
form ...et of ervices available in every State.

To improve the Medicaid program. States should remove barriers and improve
benefits for those who must rely on its provisions for their health.

V('UA Recom men datums

ftenlos. linotations on the amount, duration, or scope of medical services that
were impo.ti tef -ave money rather than to meet the health needs of the medically
indigent

Reject imposition of copa)rnents that restrict eligibility and increase burdens for
they poor of all ages.

Rttise to require fmnilie,i of patients in nursing homes to pay part of the charges
under Medicaid bvt;01,1. rt101 efforts are unworkable and unfair to individual family
inernhr, uhee Ina,. :dread', have borne much of the brunt of caregiving before insti
tot o m.11 ..,t ion became ne,',

lie t propo,a1-1 to reduce the Federal share of Medicaid and seek full restoration
of the original Federal share
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Provide mandated services to all persons whose incomes are below 125 percent of
the poverty line.

Offer additional services important to individuals that prevent or lessen the pain
and suffering of ill health.

Explore ways to reduce institutional costs by making noninetitutional care more
available and provide community-based, responsive care and support alternatives
for older persons. The capacity of senior centers and adult day care programs to pro-
vide a holistic approach to individuals should receive special attention.

THE ENTIRE COMMUNITY MUST PROVIDE LONG-TERM CARE

Chronic illness now exceeds acute illness in the United States in Terms of the
number of persons affected. This major change has not yet received an appropriate
response by most health care providers. The high-cost, medical model of care (that
depends on techniques more suitable to acute illness rather than long-term illness)
is more the rule than the exception.

As summarized by the Senate Finance Committee: In T982, approximately ;13 bil-
lion was paid out through the Medicaid program for institutional long-term care
services. Public expenditures have historically followed an expensive medically ori-
ented approach to long-term care in spite of the fact that many impaired individuals
are institutionalized because of a lack of nonmedical community-based support serv-
ices that assist them in maintaining an independent existence.

Increasing attention has been paid to the development of cost-effective home- and
community-based delivery systems, but difficulties in coordination among the serv-
ices grouped under the "health," "mental health," and "social services" labels have
been formidable. This has significant consequences for government programs and
piiirate payors. It also has far-reaching consequences for the older persons and
others thus affected.

Another factor with as yet unknown consequences is the growth of large-scale
chains of prolitmaking nursing homes and in-home se-vice providers.

The chronic health problems of millions of older Americans in this Nation require
new approaches if the rapidly growing number of vulnerable older persons is to be

cured for properly. The institutional answer is not always acceptable even though
for many individuals a nursing home may represent the most appropriate level of
care.

NCOA Recommendations

Help 'including in-home services, respite and tax deductions) should be made
available to families attempting to provide such support.

Assessment and case management servicesto assess the needs of persons requir-
ing longterm care and to arrange for the appropriate array of services and sup-
port --and adult day care should be specifically identified as eligbile for reimburse-
ment under title Ili of the Older Americans Act

High-quality institutional cure should be provided to persons for whom no other
care- or support is appropriate, and this care should be made available under a Fed.

oral- State' regulatory structure abiding by the following principles:
The regulatory system shall ensure that all residents of nursing homes receive

qualit care in a safe' environment that promotes a positive quality of life..
The government shall budget sufficient monies to reimburse facilities to pro-

vide such services and to ensure' that state survey agencies maintain a strong
survey and enforcement program.

MI' government shall monitor the system to ensure that tax dollars art' spent
appropriately, and that providers are accountable to the public for such expendi-
ture,

cunerv., should closely monitor a Veterans Administration program providing
communit% leased long-term care services, in order to adopt and apply models
deo.ed -acre...till li t he' VA

tab. (1:1% care prigrams should he recognized as a vital part of the total long-
trm care e.-ten and he available and accessible for functionally impaired adults

Mo;i1porpo-e -winter riter,. :I, tOtal !MIMS for the actual delivery of health.
met t education:11..1nd recreation service's required by chronically ill or

persons. ter rogin/ed a, key components en community care support
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RecouNIZIN0 AND stxtrit-ui tainot PittiONS' NE O8 ALONG TM CONTINUUM OP CARS

In a recent report on the social and economic impacts of the graying of America,
the Health Insurance Association of America concluded: "Financial protection
against the costs of long-term care may well become the dominant financing issue in
the coming decade."

The National Council on the Aging concurs in HIAA's projection. But we are con-
cerned with the traditional, limited perception of long-term care solely as these
services provided in nursing homes. Nursing homes certainly represent a fundamen-
tal component of any community's long-term care continuumbut they are only
one component, notwithstanding their almost exclusive historical relationship to ex-
isting financing mechanisms. For older people and their families to find adequate
and appropriate long-term care responses to chronic care needs, a much wider range
of services needs to be made available and financed as part of a true long-term care
system.

The Health Insurance Association of America (HIAA) has recognized the breadth
of scope of LTC services by defining long-term care as:

"A complex and interrelated array of health, health related, and social services
designated to provide preventive, therapeutic, rehabilitative, supportive and mainte-
nance care for individuals of all ages who have chronic physical and/or mental con-
ditions which impair the individual's ability to function as his or her own optimum
level of mental, physical and social functioning."

....

The services identified by HIA as essential elements comprising long-term care
include, in addition to "traditional" medical care services:

Homemaker servicescooking, shopping, laundry, home management.
Chore servicesless frequent tasks related to home maintenance.
Social servicesguidance concerning social or emotional problems, advice on fi-

nancial or legal matters, transportation.
Health related services: 11) Nutrition and health education; (2) personal care serv-

ices: bathing, toileting, feeding, assistance with walking, exercise, medication; 13) oc-
cupational therapy: medically-directed activities to promote the restoration of useful
functioning.

Skilled services: Physical and speech therapy: use of physical or chemical
agents and devices to relieve pain, restore functioning, and prevent loss of use of
part of the body; (21 skilled nursing: administration of medicine, changing of cath-
eter and dressing, evaluation of condition.

Housing servicesprovision for continued housing allowances for those undergo-
ing extensive in-patient rehabilitation; group or congregate living arrangements, in-
cluding social care and dining and service facilities.

Also critical are such services as: assessment, case management, and service co-
ordinat ion.

These services are offered or assessed through a wide array of community based
service agencies. They include home care and day care agencies, senior centers and
family service agencies, and many other types of organizations that may offer a
single service such as a home delivered meal or that may access and coordinate the
entire array of services such as the "channeling" agencies that are part of the
ASPE AoA demonstrations.

Researchers have established that an individual becomes part of the long term
care population not as a result of a particular diagnosis or condition, but from the
need for supportive services over a period of time. As Scanlon and Feder note in a
recent issu of Healthcare Financial Management, "More likely than not, the serv-
ics art. nonmedical rather than medical, and unskilled rather than skilled. Most
prominent among them are personal care mobility assistance household
a ,sistance and supervision."

c;irol,,rie Davis. Administrator of the Health ('are Financing Administration
oft.F.., iri addre,:sing a recent 11(TA conference, both acknowledged that most aged
prom with functional limitations prefer to remain in the community as long as
possible and underscored the need for responses that move away from the tradition-
al institutional approach and toward caring for the needs of the elderly in the corn-
(1111111i, Many States are now experimenting with home and community-based deliv-
r% -.,,tern, for trail and disabled individuals. But they are only experimentingthe
numbx r. participating .ire relatively few And the States seem reluctant to expand
the number: Indeed. State Medicaid program administrators are reluctant to add to
the alread burgeoning costs involved in meeting Medicaid obligations for nursing
hone --are Thi- provides clear evidence of how high nursing home costs are stymie-
in the cle.elopment of community based-services acknowledged to be needed by
older per-on-
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Our Nation curries out a cruel hoax on older people. When they truly need chron-
ic, long-term care, they either have to be wealthy enough to afford scores of thou-
sands of dollars a yearor must improverish themselvesto be able to access the
primary long-term care "system" available, the nursing home. To be Medicaid-eligi-
ble for nursing home services, if the frail older has a spouse, that spouse too must
be impoverished and yet still somehow try to maintain himself or herself in the
community. And, moreover, once institutionalized for any significant period of time,
the older person usually has lost the financial capacity to return to the community.
Informal as well as formal supports are also likely to be unavailable or inadequate.

The National Council on the Aging believes that a good part of the dilemma
facing our country today with regard to the burgeoning costs of long-term care
driven by what Ann Somers refers to as the "gerontological imperative"is the
result of the almost exclusive focus on reimbursement for institutional care (nursing
homes) to the exclusion of services provided in alternative settings which might in
fact be more appropriate for chronic care needs. Not everyone in nursing homes
needs the full range of care provided, but there are few reimbursed alternatives
available to enable frail older persons to remain in the community.

Much research confirms that the supports generally needed by frail older persons
to maintain their physical, psychological and social well-being are of a hybrid social-
health nature. Marjorie Cantor, president of the Gerontological Society of America,
identifies three major needs: (1) Socialization and personal development; (2) the car-
rying out of daily living tasks such as meal preparation, shopping cleaning and
laundry; and 1: personal assistance during time of crisis or illness.

We know that older people perceive their informal network of family (particularly
spouse and children), friends, and neighbors as the most appropriate source of sup-
port, and research has shown that the informal network indeed provides most of the
necessary support. Family, friends, and neighbors are ready, willing and able to be
responsive to the needs of the elderly in their midst. But the responsiveness has
limits, and the willingness wanes when days turn into months and then years.
Cantor recently reported on a study that showed that the-overriding problem for all
types of caregiversspouse, children and friendswas the emotional impact of deal-
ing with increased frailty in a person with whom one is close. Caregivers, mainly
wives, daughters and daughters-in-law, are extending themselves to cover all their
varied roles and any personal time is sacrificed under relentless time and energy
restraints. As women join the work force in ever increasing numbers, the stress and
strain upon them will intensify. What about the physical and psychological toll on
the individual caregiver' Many of these individuals are themselves old and some are
frail Also there are at least one third of the elderly who have no children or none
living nearby. For all of these people, in-home, adult day care and other caring and
respitetype services are needed and necessary. Yet they are all-to-often not avail-
able or not affordable.

A great deal of study has been directed to in-home services and their role and
value in a cost-effective and humane system of care. NCOA is concerned, however,
that too little attention has been directed to other components of community-based
care. We believe that every community should be able to put into place for its older
citizens a comprehensive system of coordinated long-term care services. These sys-
tems 'should be comprised of a range of care options to support the older person and
supplement the assistance provided by family and other informal caregivers. and by
formallx organized community agencies and institutions. We strongly believe that
only II system that supports both informal and formal services and maintains the
balance between them will result in cost- effective and humane care. Roth the public
and private sectors have a role to play in financing and ensuring the quality of
these long-term care systems

Nut)A believes that group-oriented services such as adult das care have not been
adequatelv supported as part of long-term cart. services. Yet adult care programs
are inreasingl serving those with dementia, incontinence and loss of mobility- -the
three factor, ybhicli create the heaviest burden on caregivers and eventually lead to
nursing borne placement.

While the adult day care field has grown from a dozen programs in 19119 to more
thin Lunn programs today, NCOA's National Institute on Adult Daycare 1N1A1)I
onsidrs the field only to b' in its adolescence. The availability of adult day care is

till wry limited. existing program, are small, further development has been ham-
pred by the lack ,el understanding of services and by the scarcity of third party
remitir,ement and the constant 'struggle which local programs face to maintain
funding

Se%er.il studies inv.'. -,lomri adult day care to be a critical and unique component
in the .-onitnunity's care continuum Adult day care is also becoming increasingly
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important as a cost containment mechanism. Not only does adult day care save
money for those footing the care bill, but outcome measures show improvement in
maintenance of functional ability, thus delaying or avoiding more costly institution-
alization.

Capitman's evaluation of California's adult day health care program in 1982
shows that:

(I) Adult day care serves clients who are certifiable at the SNF or ICF level or at
risk as determined by the State.

(2) The adult day care population is similar in functional ability to the SNF popu-
lation (the more incapacitated group).

(3) The average adult day care participant's total monthly costs (including all
public sector costsadult day health care, other medical in-home services, SSI and
the Statesupplement) as compared to SNF/ICF resident costs saves the State $3,180
per person per year.

(A) Between 87 and 96 percent of adult day care participants with multiple, severe
impairments maintained or improved their level of functioning while in adult day
care.

A 2-year study in New Jersey released in 1980 which evaluated the functional dis-
abilities and costs of adult day care participants provided similar conclusions. The
adult day care population in New Jersey was also found to be one which would
largely have been institutionalized if it were not for the adult day care programs.
The study found that adult day care cost New Jersey and the Federal Government
$4,21$ less per Person than nursing home costs would have been for this population.
Furthermore, reports from family members make clear that adult care is critical to
their maintaining their loved ones in the community. Aside from the program's
ability to increase or maintain a participant's functional capacity, family members
were grateful for the respite that adult day care provided them from the constancy
of caring.

In the words of the spouse of an adult day care participant in her early eighties
who suffer from multiple medical problems, both socially and physically: "My wife
has been coming here since July of last year. Not only has she benefited, so have I

1 know she is safe here. That gives me some free time for myself. It's been
helpful."

The conclusions of these studies and other studies underscore that adult day care
is, indeed, a true alternative source of care and a cost-effective one. The NCOA be-
lieves the data makes a compelling case for vigorous Federal support for this vital
program and other community-based long-term care services.

Adult day care is just one example of an existing service delivery model at the
community level that is appropriately responsive to the needs of older people in a
cost effective way. Other essential levels of a comprehensive long-term care system
which meets the needs of older persons have also proven their valuesenior centers
and comprehensive nutrition programs, congregate housing, etc.but not all such
responses have been integrated into an accessible, affordable system of long-term
care.

Health and social programs won't have the opportunity to fulfill either their
human or fiscal pot, atial until they are fully recognized as eligible for reimburse-
ment under Federal programs or by third-party players under private health insur-
ane

NCOA joins those who recognized that new approaches must be explored to fi-
nance the delivery of a true continuum of longterm care and that private insurance
may represent a viable option to expand coverage for noninstitutional services in
particular. Whether private coverage is to apply to either institutional or noninsti-
tutional services, however, we believe that the costs of providing such coverage
should appropriately he spread among all participants in a group health plan. Our
Nation's sad experience with so-called "med-gap- supplemental Medicare insur-
ance from exorbitant premiums to policies of limited-value or duplicative cover-
ageargues for provision of long-term insurance coverage as an integrated part of
the basic group health plan rather than as an item to be marked on an individual
basis

We also have some doubt as to the economic feasibility of LTC insurance exclu-
stipixifted b premiums paid by elderly policyholders. But we have no doubt

hatsoever that Nutty demands that this vital coverage be required as just funda-
mental a benefit as a basic health plan might provide for the breaking of an arm or
the birth of a child

The only real difference which distinguishes an expansive LTC private health in.
,urance benefit from those examples is that chances are it will be utilized later in
lite if at all Private I.T(' coverage should be funded through very modest premium
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increases assessed across the entire universe of plan participants throughout the
years they have made contributions or had contributions made on their behalf to
the plan; they should in turn be eligible for the LTC benefit if and when It is re-
quired, whether or not that may occur in pre- or poet-retirement.

The NCOA commends you, Mr. Chairman, for calling this hearing, and we hope
our insights will prove to be helpffil to you and your colleagues as you study the
important questions relating to the continuum of long-term care services and how
such services can best be developed and financed through government, private cor-
porations. and nonprofit agencies. We look forward to continuing to work with this
committee to define solutions to the crucial problems this hearing is examining.

And similarly, continuing our tradition of working with the private sector, NCOA
is already working with elements of the insurance industry to further develop the
concept of long-term care insurance.

Chairman HEINZ. Let me ask a question of Nancy Versnick and
Bob Bennedict and Larry Lane. In the survey that was done by the
American Health Care Association regarding the kinds of insur-
ance available, you noted that private long-term care insurance
coverage is available, affordable, expanding, and adequate.

I would like to focus in on the word "adequate." We have re-
ceived a lot of testimony, not only today, but on many other occa-
sions, that what is most needed is home health services. Most
people want to stay out of nursing homes. To what extent do these
policies, provided by some over 25 insurance companies, provide
anything in the way of home health care services to keep people
out of nursing homes?

Larry, I guess you are the expert in this area.
Mr. LANE. Thank you, Senator Heinz. Basically, the policies that

are on the market now do not expand coverage into the home care
area, with one or two policies offering rider coverage that may
cover home care.

I think the issue of adequacy as we were looking at it was an
issue of does an indemnity payment provide a sufficient payment
for per diem coverage in order that an individual could secure
quality service. In that context, an indemnity payment of in the
range of $30 to $40 per day, in addition to a cost index/Social Secu-
rity payment would be sufficient to pay for skilled care.

I am happy to say in home care benefit, though, that there is a
second generation of policies that are being developed. I will
submit for the record a memorandum I that we have been using,
attempting to stimulate insurance companies to offer not only a
nursing home coverage, but also a home care coverage. The memo-
randum suggests three basic optionsdischarge to home care, dis-
charge to nursing home, or a flow through nursing home to home
care.

We are finding some companies interested in expanding from a
nursing hum.' to a home care coverage. We are finding very little
interest because of the concerns of induced utilization of hospital to
home care. We are working with the National Association of Home
('are in a joint effort on this.

I also would like to submit for the record a paper entitled, "Pri-
vate Insurance for Long Term Care: Availability, Problems and Ac-
tions"

Chairman HEINZ. Without objection, so ordered.'
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Well, I asked the question because, were someone to pick up the
testimony and read the last word, "adequate," without the explana-
tion that you have just given, they would come, I fear, as Ameri-
cans have been coming for some time, to the wrong conclusion
that there is light at' the end of the tunnel. Right now, there is no
light at the end of the tunnel. And what you are saying is, yes,
there are some policies out there that cover skilled nursing care or
intermediate care. But for other services and costacompanion/
home health aide, $5 to $8 an hour, adult day care, $22 to $25 per
day, licensed practical nurses, $15.50 per hour, registered nurse,
$43 per visitthere is no insurance out there right now. So in your
report, I guess I would just have added a fifth category, which I
would term, "Responsiveness to desires of elderly" and that would.
I think, have made a slightly more complete presentation. I do not
say this to be critical, but just to make sure that no one thinks that
all we have to do is just do nothing, and the problem will go away.

Mr. LANE. Every study has a focus, and our study was looking at
the coverage for nursing home care. We were looking at licensed
facility care. And, given that nursing home care is the No. 1 cata-
strophic expense, and that the probability of having that expense
occur is much greater, actuarially, than is perceived by the general
public, that expense is what we were looking at, primarily.

Chairman HEINZ. Let me ask Bob Bennedictwe Pennsylvanians
have to stick together, you knowBola, in your experience in Penn-
sylvania, do you know of any long -term Insurance policies that are
available in our State?

Mr. BENNEDICT. There are two or three, but I think it reflects the
national trend, that they were built primarily off of medi-gap, with
slow and cautious experimentation around the margins.

Chairman HEINZ. So they do not cover much in the way of home-
or community-based care.

Mr. BENNEHICT. Not to my knowledge. In fact, Larry could prob-
ably better answer that. He has done more of an analysis of indi-
vidual policies than we have.

With regard to the light at the end of the tunnel, perhaps it
should be rephrased, that there is at least a glimmer at the front
end of the tunnel. For the last 15 or 20 years, we have focused sc
exclusively on Medicare and Medicaid, particularly Medicaid in
providing long-term care, and it is obvious that State and Federal
governments are simply not in a position or inclined to pick up the
burden that is there. So, having the Congress, having the private
sector, beginning to express an interest in other ways of getting
this job done is a glimmer of hope that we all have to track down.

Chairman IIHNz. Well, it may even be more serious than that. I
am worried that most people, even today, notwithstanding this and
other hearings like it, both present and future, do not know they
are in a tunnel, as evidenced by the AARP survey. Does anybody
disagree with my concern that there are an awful lot of people out
tht.f.e who do not realize, as I think the previous panel illustrated
pretty clearly, that they in tact are in a tunnel, and there is not

no light. but there is no exit. And, if you have read Albert
camil,, you would know that is not a great position fir anyone to
be in
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Let me ask what I suppose would be a health policy question of
Nancy Versnick. If the private long-term care insurance market
were stimulated through these policieslet us suppose the one that
you described in your testimony did become broadly availableis
there any risk that private pay patients would be occupying more
nursing home beds and crowding out Medicaid patients?

Ms. VERSNICK. I have to speak from Kentucky, because that is
where I have been in long-term care for over 20 years. Presently, in
KentuckyI think my figures are correct-80 to 85 percent of the
people in nursing homes are on Medicaid. I do not see a crowding
out.

Right now, you do not have an alternative, Senator. You either
go in as a private pay and spend down to a Medicaid recipient, or
you are Medicaid before you go in. You just do not have an alterna-
tive.

Chairman HEINZ. Let me ask you a statistical question with re-
spect to Pennsylvania, Bob Bennedict, or Kentucky, Nancy Vers-
nick. Do we know the number and percent of people now in nurs-
ing homes in those two States that entered as private-paying pa-
tients? And can you get that information for our hearing record, if
it is available?

Ms. VERSNICK. I think we could.
Chairman HEINZ. We would appreciate that. It would be very

helpful in identifying what is really going on.
In Kentucky or Pennsylvania, isn't there already a problem of

too few nursing home beds for Medicaid patients? Is that a prob-
lem?

Ms. VERSNICK. Too few for any patients. We have been under a
moratorium for over 4 years.

Chairman HEINZ. Bob, in Pennsylvania?
Mr. BENNEDICT. Yes; Pennsylvania is, I think, the second most el-

derly population State in the country with regard to proportion.
The State ranks 34th or 35th with regard to nursing home beds per
thousand.

The State health department has recently estimated that at the
minimum, we need today about 5,000 new nursing home beds in
the State of Pennsylvania, and we also are living under a moratori-
um in Pennsylvania.

Chairman HEINZ. Let me ask Betty Houchen, Ms. Houchen,
there is some concern that services are not appropriately target-
edthat is, the services that people get are not necessarily the
services people need. With insurance, how could we improve our
effort to target services to people that need themor are we likely
to have it go the other way?

Ms. Ifot.:cur.N. With insurance coverage, there would be payment
for the services that these people need in the community. Right
now. there is no pay.nent available for agencies trying to provide
t he services. So. if the patient is not eligible or not covered by Med-
icare or private insurance, there just is no payment available, and
patients either receive limited benefitswe as a public agency do
provide services that are supported by city general fund money, so
we can provide some of these services to the indigent or for those
who have no third party reimbursement. But that is very limited,
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and there are many other types of community services that do not
have that funding support to do that.

Chairman HEINZ. If we were successful in doing what we have
been talking about today, do you think that independent living in-
surance, long-term care insurancecall it what you willwould di-
minish the role of families, who now give most of the care, and in-
crease the reliance on paid caregivers?

Ms. HOUCHEN. No, I do not believe so. I believe that the majority
of the families who are able to care for their parents or the mem-
bers of the family who need the help would continue that, but- -

Chairman HEINZ. How can you be so sure?
Ms. HOUCHEN. I think they are committed to having that person

remain at home. And the people we see, we work with the families;
we do not substitute for the families. That is one of our criteria for
service, that we take that family to take care of the person in the
home. We provide supportive services so that person is able to keep
the patient in the home.

And my feeling is the majority of people we see want to do what
they can, but, they, by their own physical conditions are limited
which we heard from the previous panel. The couple I cited, who
are in their nineties, by reason of age, are limited in what they can
do. But the families we see do do what they can, and we provide
only supportive services to supplement that.

Chairman HEINZ. And yet, of course, we all know that there are
not enough services availablehome health aides, licensed practi-
cal nurses, registered nurseson an outpatient basis. Why
wouldn't insurance cause more utilization of those services I just
mentioned?

Ms. HOUCHEN. I believe you would see more utilization, but it
would be because the need is there and not being met now.

Chairman HEINZ. It would not be a replace of care given?
MS. HOUCHEN. No,
Chairman HEINZ. We do not have respite carewell, I suppose

you could look at adult day care as respite. My feeling isand this
is not an argument against having long-term care insurancebut
that there probably is going to be more utilization of what I might
call respite care. I think we have an awful lot of families who get
stretched to the breaking point and need a break.

Ms. HOUCHEN. Yes.
Chairman HEINZ. SoI am not an expert, and you are, but that

would be my best guess.
Ms HOIVIIEN. One point on respite care is that on companion or

home health aide, I think you could look at that as a type of res-
pite cure, too. Our home health aides, as we are able, will remain
in the home fim many hours at a time to provide the caregiver time
to get nut

Chairman HEINZ. Jim Sykes, one of the things you mentioned in
,-()Iir statement is that you feel that our Nation's sad experience
with so-called medi-gap, supplemental medical insurance, argues for

tHuti of hifig.term cand insurance as part of an integrated,
h a-or gruur) hal.li plan, overall, rather than market it on an

basis You have two thoughts there.
()no. l gather you feel that medi-gap insurance has been much

in.ir than a boon; is that correct?
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Mr. SYKES. That is correct.
Chairman HEINZ. Should Congress find a way to preempt the

medi-gap insurance market? Should we provide under Medicare,
the kind of so-called catastrophic coverage that often is a part of
medi-gd insurance? Most people say that that is a pretty profita-
ble part of those insurance policies. If we include it under Medi-
care, it would not cost the Government a lot; we could probably
find a way to make that up. I happen to favor doubling the excise
tax on cigarettes, and I have a bill in MIRA, the Medicare Incen-
tives Reform Act of 1984that does what I just described.

Is that a good idea, to preempt medi-gap policies as I have de-
scribed, so that people begin to understand that maybe the gap in
medi-gap isn't much bigger, or a much wider chasm than they ever
realized'?

Mr. SKYKS. Senater, I think the essential problem that we have
in the national discussion in this area comb around gap filling.
The insurance discussion has to do with what are the exposures,
what are the risks, and how do we cover for them. There is an as-
sumption that there is a set of discrete risks and exposures, and for
each of these, we must provide some kind of coverage.

What I have argued here today is that we must really move as a
society to long-term care as a system-building concept as opposed to
gap filling. Every one of the efforts to fill a gap will have all kinds
of problems because it appears to presume that somehow, what one
needs at a particular time is a discrete service, and one can find it
if one has a case manager, if there is a program. You need excep-
tional people to be sure that at the moment in one's life for which
there is a gap to be filled, there is somebody who can help one fill
it.

What I have tried to suggest, in a way that I think is consistent
with some other national policies in our world, is that if we ap-
proach long-term care insurance as a gap filling or as a problem-
solving device instead of a community system-building one, we will
always come up short.

And what I have argued is that within a community setting, for
example. while we may be able to pay for the physical therapy
somebody needs, that same physical therapist, in the community,
will he able to help another five or six people in the preventive
area, with help thai they need but for which there is no reimburse-
ment.

So my concern is to see how many ways we can help build essen-
tial community components of the long-term care system. rather
than Filling gaps. The first one has to do with the family. like res-
pite care. and all the ways families can be helpedat little or no
cost -to provide essential care for the family member in need. And
the extent to which we deliver services in a community, either
home health services directly to one in her home or through corn-
munit facilities and programs, such as I have in Sun Prairie, WI.
we are not only going to care for that one specifically at the
moment she needs help. but we will he developing a caring commu-
nit,. that is. in effect, the best insurance policy we can have. Efforts
to define losses. set premiums. pay fir discrete services are mis-
guided, in my judgment.



Chairman HEINZ. You touched on this subject indirectly just
now, and in your testimony. It is really touched on whenever
people use the term, "continuum of care." There is a dichotomy we
do not often recognize between the medical model of providing care
and the social model. Medicare, medilap, Medicaid policies are
based on this medical model: "You are sick, and we are going to fix
it." It is the old American syndrome of, you see a problem, and you
solve it. And that is the medical model. The best practitioner of
that is a surgeon. lie looks at you, he says there is nothing wrong.
The next day, he has opened you up and sewed you back together.
That is American "can-do".

Why are so many of our policies and programs tied to the medi-
cal model, when we know that it is really, I suspect, most often the
social services model that helps people to recover the most?

The best example was our witness from Pennsylvania, Ella
Thomas. A lot of her problems could have been helpednot solved,
but helpedif she got a little advice, not surgery.

Mr. SYKES. Well, strangely enough, we have inherited a system
that actually had some pretty good bases. Back in the communities
years ago, the doctor was the one who knew the patient, under-
stood the family and the circumstances. And when that person
came to him with some kind of a particular problem, that doctor
was in the position not only to do a physical diagnosis, but he was
also able to see that person in a social context.

But, as we look for ways to administer programs effectively, we
try to avoid problems "reated by too many people coming into the
system. We have come up with a system of triggering insurance
payments or health services by a physician making a finding of a
diagnosable problem that can be treated by a specific application.
And that flies in the face of what we know about older people with
tv iltiple problems, how they live, and what their needs are. Our
tiiscussion today tries to ask, how can we modify that kind of ap-
proach to providing the services we need? In fact, the witnesses
have argued that is not the way to meet needs. We have got to
build a caring system, of which doctors and medical services are
only a part. We ought to divert a few of those medical doctors from
providing acute care to provide long-term care. To make the long-
term care system work, we cannot shift "excess" dollars from the
medical side to enable us to provide social services. The argument
that I have been making is that it is going to take more dollars,
because most services delivered by medical professions in nursing
homes and in the hospitals are essential services; we fool ourselves
to think we can shift health dollars to strengthen the social sup-
pot system that people need very badly.

Chairman 11EiN/.. 1 have some questions I will submit to all of
%nu for the record. and I will give you a chance to make any addi-
tional comments you may have in a second.

I do want to bring up one question. I suspect I should address it
to Jim tike. As you know, this committee has an interest in home

;Ind home equity conversion. A lot of people are talking
almot LNII1 home equity to finance long-term care.

W.. had a hearing called "Sheltering America's Aged,- and at
th.it hpaini.;. one of the witnesses said that the net home equity

of older individuals currently. in need of long-term care is
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probably $70 billion or more, and that 66 percent of all homeown-
ers could generate $3,000 a year or more out of their home assets
to pay for long-term care.

Assuming that those statistics are in the ballpark, what do you
think are the barriers to tapping that equity, and if the barriers
could be removed, how should that equity be used to provide for
community-based long-term care?

Mr. SYKES. I 'ppreciate the opportunity. I keynoted the first con-
ference on home equity conversion to discuss home assets and how
they can be used. Your question refers to barriers, and I think first
off, that homefor those 70 percent who own their homes, of
which 80 percent have paid-up mortgagesrepresents the very es-
sence of their lives. Homeowners can say, "This home is mine; I am
still self-directing, and the best evidence I have is that I live in my
home." So the idea of spending down some of that asset is very,
very difficult for people to accept and to understand. In a sense, it
is like thinking that I could give you a part of my child's life, a
little each month. So, we have an attitude problem.

Two, we have kind of an insurance policy attitude about this that
says if these services ought to be mine by virtue of the fact that I
live in the community, or that I have been a taxpayer all these
years, why should you figure out some way to make me pay for
these same services out of my estate or out of what I earned, while
others may not need to do this?

They have had an attitude for a long time that their home is a
contribution to the next generation; in a sense, they say: "I am a
part of a society that is going on and on. I am not just the receiver
of cash or services late in life, but I am also one who contributes."
That whole concept is very deeply embedded in the minds of
people. We have to find simple ways to make home equity conver-
sion acceptable.

Chairman HEINZ. What is the bottom line?
Mr. SYKES. Home equity conversion holds great promise so long

as it provides more choices for older persons to use their own assets
to enrich their lives in ways that they choose. Community services
and national programs should be financed in a progressive, broad-
based mannernot through a direct, mandatory dissaving system.

Chairman HEINZ. I guess the way I would summarize what you
just said is that you think home equity conversion should be facili-
t:ited. but for income maintenance purposes as opposed to health
care.

Mr. SY K F:S Yes: voluntary options for enhancing life as people
choose. rather than mandatory requirements to pay for services
that should he provided by the community and Nation.

Chairman I 1F:INZ. Are there any further comments?
Mr LANE. I would just add, Senator, one of the real problems in

home equity conversion is it is a gamble. We are in an area where
changing actuarial demographics suggest a significant change in
thy hi .span on the upper end. Therefore, if an individual takes the
gamble of home equity conversion, which generally has a payout
period of about lo year's before the financing really runs dry, you
have a portion of individuals taking advantage of an opportunity
too early and then creating significant problems if they outlive
that period of time.
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I think it is a very promising area, and it certainly deserves the
continued work of all of us, looking at how do we come up with
diversified ways that make or offer use of resource and income.

I might say it is part of a victory, in part, Senator. You men-
tioned that I had helped you back in the days when you were in
the House, and we got the Republican task force on aging under-
way, which was even a forerunner of the House Committee on
Aging.

Chairman HEINZ. That was even before Claude Pepper became
the senior citizens' sex symbol. [Laughter.]

Mr. LANE. We are aging gracefully, Senator. But looking back at
that period of time, our focus was income. Some of our successes in
the income area have given us this opportunity to look at private
insurance, at home equity, and at other waysannuities and re-
sources, unlocking those resourcesfor a share of the elderly, their
income and wealth distribution is better than it was 20 years ago.
So, in looking ahead, we are really saying, thanks to some of our
initiatives back 20 years ago, the elderly are in better income pos-
tures in many ways, in pensions and in Social Security.

Chairman HEINZ. Larry, thank you. If there are no further com-
ments, I want to thank you all for being very helpful to us. Thank
you for coming, long distances and shorter distances, both.

Ms. VERSNICK. May I say one thing, Senator, just a personal ob-
servation. In Kentucky, we do have a facility in a remote area of
northern Kentucky, that has 15 to 20 percent of our patients who
are on private long-term care insurance, and to talk to those resi-
dents, and to know that their assets are not being taken away, that
they can be cared for and their families can come in, it makes
much, much difference in those families. So it is viable.

Chairman HEINZ. Ms. Versnick, thank you very much.
Our last panel consists of Barbara Matula and Art Lifson.
Ms. Matula, you are the director of the Division of Medical As-

sistance of the North Carolina Department of Human Resources,
Raleigh, NC. Would you please proceed?

STATEMENT OF BARBARA I). MATULA. RALEICIL NC. DIRECTOR,
DIVISION OF Ml DI(7AL ASSISTANCE. IH OF HUMAN
RESOI*RCES. STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

Ms. MATtli.A. Thank you, Senator. You have also managed to slip
another Pennsylvanian on your panel.

Chairman HEINZ. Are you an escapeemaybe we can get you ex-
tradited WEB would love to have you back.

Ms. MATII.A. I am a coal miner's daughter from Hazleton, PA.
I him also served recently on a national Medicaid reform project

that has considered so many of the issues that we have talked
about today, the heart of the issue being that we lack a national,
comprehensive strategy on how we are going to pay for and provide
long-term care When I say long-term care," I do always mean
home care as well as nursing home care.

Rut this has caused some really serious inequities in financing
that affect both taxpayers and beneficiaries alike. some of which I
think might surprise you.

59



I, of course, like to beat up on Medicare a whole lot because of its
failure to meet the needs of the elderly in long-term care services,
and I hope that we will not excuse Medicare's failings, simply be-
cause of their problems with financing now. Any serious look at
Medicare reform has to take into account the issues that we have
heard here today.

But, in the absence of Medicare reform, the States have had to
fill the vacuum, and we have become the major financier of nurs-
ing home care through our Medicaid Programs. Now, last year in
North Carolina, only 16 percent of our over 400,000 Medicaid-eligi-
bles in the State were over 65 years of age. Yet they spent 40 per-
cent of our $567 million budget for Medicaid. And even more shock-
ing than that, three-fourths of what was spent for the elderly in
North Carolina under Medicaid was spent for nursing home care
alone, to benefit 27,000 elderly people.

Folks who are in competition with the elderlyand I have not
even begun to talk about the disabled; the numbers are almost
equal, if not higherare the poor families and children we thought
we were here to serve. A child in the Medicaid Program is costing
the State about $400 per year for comprehensive care, compared to
the $6,000 a year that we are paying to supplement nursing home
costs for the elderly.

In our State, 70 percent of nursing home revenues come from the
Medicaid Program; 25 percent from private pay patients, and a
scant 5 percent from Medicare.

We feel that about half the patients who enter as private-paying
patients become eligible for Medicaid. The other half do not often
stay long enough to require assistance. Not everyone is in a nurs-
ing home for 2 years or more. Some are there for short-term, recu-
perative stays, and the families struggle, but are able to pay their
costs. But of those who are there for extended care, we feel about
half the private-pay patients end up on Medicaid.

And we have been talking so much about gaps. But I partly hold
Danny Thomas responsible for the misunderstandings that the el-
derly have. They trust him, and they believe him, and I listen to
him, and I get angry, when he says that his medi-gap insurance
policy is going to pay for everything Medicare doesn'tand that is
the key. This marketing approach suggests it will pay for every-
thing that Medicare does not, rather than admitting it covers only
your portion of costs for what Medicare will allow. It covers that
part of the bill which is charged to youand that is all that medi-
gap is.

Unfortunately, the elderly learn better when they find them-
selves in a skilled nursing home or in an ICF, which is not covered
at all. Ancl while we may be very knowledgeable about the differ-
ences between ICF and SNF, and these acronyms slip off our
tongues. The differences are meaningless to the elderly and to their
family members.

So, during a lengthy nursing home stay, a lifetime of savings and
investments, and finally, property, is exhausted, and then Medicaid
will step in. Once the assets are gone, we will step in.

We test income as well as assets for poverty, and that is where
the inequities fall hardest for the elderly. We pay the difference, as
I said. of an average of about :5:)01) a month to supplement the $500,
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$600, $700, or $800 the patient has as a monthly income, to pay the
monthly nursing home bill.

It probably will not please you to know that there are also folks
who receive Medicaid who were not always poor, and who did not
become poor because of a nursing home illness, but who received
sound legal and financial advice on how to divest themselves of
their substantial assets in a timely manner. There are limits, of
course, on when they can apply for Medicaid, but those with the
most assets to protect naturally will have good advice, and will be
Medicaid eligible under the same basis as those who first exhaust
their resources. Their monthly income will be applied, and we pay
the difference. 3o we are the ultimate medi-gap insurance policy,
except that we do cover long-term care.

I will leave to the insurance experts the discussion of risk and
base, and all that, but I would like to make some marketing sug-
gestions to them.

One of your staff told me that I was going to be remembered for
suggesting that we market long-term care insurance under the
term, "cover your assets," because that is precisely what a long-
term care private insurance policy will do; it will protect the assets
of the elderlyand they will not be the only beneficiaries. Their
children and grandchildren who hope to inherit those assets will
also benefit. So, concentrate your marketing strategies on the
middle-aged "beneficiaries," as well as on the elderly Medicare
beneficiaries.

I would say thatand I am sorry the red light is on; I should
talk faster, but I can'tI am from North Carolinathe real ques-
tion that we are facing is: Who is our mother's keeper? The aver-
age nursing home patient is 81, white, female, widowed. Who is our
mother's keeper, and who is responsible for the cost of her care?
Should we continue to make people who face catastrophic illness
pay their own way? Should we recognize Medicaid for what it has
become and extend its coverage to the middle income? Or, should
we add on something like long-term care insurance, either private-
ly or through the Medicare Program as an option?

Thank you.
Chairman IIFavl. Thank you very much, Ms. Matula. If you bed

stayed in Pennsylvania, I am sure you would have completed your
statement helOre the red light went onand covered exactly the
;at m. material.(Laughterl

(The prepared statement of Ms. Matula follows:j
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While it may be an inopportune time to suggest that long-term care services be
added to the Medicare program with all of its current financing problems, we
cannot simply dismiss the issue by pleading Medicare insolvency. Any serious look
at Medicare reform should include proposals to close the long-term care coverage
gap in an efficient and cost-effective manner.

The historical failure of Medicare to provide extended care coverage has had a
major impact on Medicaid expenditures in the States. In an attempt to fill the
vacuum. State Medicaid programs have become the major financier of nursing home
care. In North Carolina, 70 percent of nursing home revenues come from Medicaid,
25 percent from private-pay patients, and 5 percent from Medicare.

Medicaid was designed originally to provide comprehensive primary and acute
care for needy families with children, and to supplement the Medicare program for
the States neediest and disabled citizens.

Last year in North Carolina, only 16 percent of our Medicaid eligibles were 65
years of age and over, yet they spent almost 40 percent of our $567 million Medicaid
budget. Three-fourths, of their costs or $166 million was spent on nursing home care
alone.

Over half the patients who enter nursing homes as private patients end up on
Medicaid. And while this has a dramatic effect on State Medicaid budgets, it also
has a devastating effect on personal and family budgets.

Too many elderly persons believe Danny Thomas when he assures them that their
Medi-gap policy covers what Medicare doesn't pay for. The harsh reality comes to
light when the patient needs extended care either in a skilled or intermediate care
facility and Medicare/Medi-gap is not available.

Family members struggle to supplement their parents' monthly incomes to pay
for needed care but a lengthy stay for Alzheimers disease patients, for example, can
quickly exhaust a lifetime of savings, investments and finally, property. When the
patient's assets are exhausted he or she may become eligible for Medicaid which
then pays for the difference between the patient's monthly income and the bill.

In addition to paying for those who become impoverished as the result of a
lengthy confinement, the Medicaid program is also paying for the care of those who
anticipated the risk of entering a nursing home later in life, and legally divested
themselves of their assets before the need for care was apparent.

The more assets a person has to protect, the more likely they are to receive finan-
cial and legal advice on divestiture. Thus their legacies to their heirs are protected
from the risk associated with extended care.

My pooint is thisthat the Medicaid program has become the ultimate Medi-gap
insurance policy covering long-term care services not only for the poor, but the for-
merly well-to-do as well.

This seriously erodes the original intent of the Medicaid legislation and causes in-
equities within and without the population it serves:

Needy families and children must compete for scarce Medicaid dollars with the
elderly and disabled.

The elderly and disabled often lackii.g sufficient information on long-term care
costs and Medicare coverage or noncoverage of those costs have no where else to
turn

l'er-zons with considerable assets to protect are more likely to divest themselves of
those assets t.. receive Medicaid coverage. which was intended for the poor.

Persons who have not divested themselves in a timely manner are left to pay the
full cost of catastrophic illnesses until they become poor.

This is why I believe that in the absence of structural Medicare reform or as an
interim step. the concept of longterm care insurance is a viable one.

pro,.ide in. ent Ives and to assure the solvency of such an approach I would like
to make the following observations.

HISK

(ink percent of the Nation's elderly are currently institutionalized. With contin
ued expon,ton of home and community based alternatives this number should not
increase ,ignitianti in spite of the increase in the elderly population. If most of
the elderly were enrolled in 3 I.Tr insurance program [which included home care as
well as nu NI niz home carei there should be a large enough base to cover financial
risks. provided -it rict measures are in place to control
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A strategy to market long-term care insurance would require an initial education-
al effort to ensure that those at risk understood the current Medicare limits on cov-
erage.

In planning for retirement, workers need to know that their savings are in jeop-
ardy should'institutional care be required. Early enrollment in LTC insurance plans
may be the only way to "cover their assets" and safeguard their holdings to pass to
their children and grandchildren.

Given this information, marketing strategies should include not only the potential
Medicare beneficiaries but their adult children as well, who, in fact, become the
beneficiaries of the estates if they are protected.

WHO SHOULD PAY?

Unless long-term care services are added to Medicare, Medicaid will continue to
be the primary "insuror" for these services for both the rich and poor alike. We are
faced with the dilemma of deciding either to continue our current policy of requir-
ing those with catastrophic illnesses to pay their own way, or to recognise that Med-
icaid has become a taxpayer-supported insurance program for those who plan ahead.

Lem-term care insurance could ease the financial burdens on the individual re-
.40ing extended care and on the family members who also stand to lose their in-
heritances.

Government support of this proposal at both the State and Federal levels is essen-
tial to insure equity for taxpayers and beneficiaries alike.

Chairman HraNz. The next witness is Art Lifson, chairman of
the Health Insurance Association of America Task Force on Long-
Term Care Insurance.

STATEMENT OF ARTHUR LIFSON, WASHINGTON, DC, CHAIRMAN,
TASK FORCE ON LONG-TERM CARE INSURANCE, HEALTH IN-
SURANCE ASSOCIATION OF AMERICA, ACCOMPANIED BY
JAMES A. DORSCH, WASHINGTON COUNSEL
Mr. Lirsox. And I have never been accused of talking too slowly

so, as a native New Yorker and proud of it, here we go.
I am Art Lifson, assistant vice president of the Equitable Life As-

surance Society of the United States. Today, I also represent the
Health Insurance Association of America. With me is James A.
Dorsch, Washington counsel of the HIAA.

As an industry, we share the concerns of this committee about
the financing and provision of long-term care services for our ex-
panding elderly population.

The current financing of long-term care is approximately equal
between public and private sources. There would appear to be a
growing concern on the part of Government particularly State gov-
ernment, that they will be unable to meet their obligations as the
population ages and greater demands are placed upon the Medicaid
program.

If there is the expectation that the private sector involvement in
long-term care must expand, which I share, then there is a need for
a public discussion and resolution of at least three items. You
touched upon them this morning, and so I will make my brief com-
ments even briefer.

The first is individual responsibility. To what extent will individ-
wits he held responsible for financing their own long-term care
needs? I)o we as a society expect them to bear an increasing
burden or a decreasing burden in the future? Are we willing to en-
force existing rules on divestiture of assets or possibly make them
stiffer?
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Savingswhat is the purpose of savings? We have recently in-
creased the incentives for workers to accumulate larger capital
assets than they would otherwise. For the most part, these incen-
tives require deferral of receipt of income until after age 5932, and
therefore are tied in many persons minds to retirement. To the
extent that these incentives for increased savings work, and they
seem to be, then we can expect that the future retiree population
will have greater personal wealth than is the case today. In addi-
tion, we can anticipate, because of ERISA and the changing nature
of the work force, that many more individuals will retire with sub-
stantial pensions than is currently the case.

To date, we have not really had a public discussion of what we
expect individuals to do with this increased wealth. Do we expect
them to fund more of the long-term care bill from these tax prefer-
ence amounts? Do we expect them to leave them in an estate? Are
they even aware of what our expectations are, if we know what we
expect of them?

'That brings me to my last pointthe awareness of the long-term
care risk. Among the general population, even among 65 and 70
year olds, there does not seem to be the level of awareness of the
risk of needing long-term care services that is necessary to provide
incentives for individuals to protect those hard-earned assets.

I believe that we need a major public education effort in order to
increase the public's awareness of this risk. A beginning effort at
that is the report of the task force, which I chaired, on "Long-Term
Care: The Challenge to Society."'

I am happy to report that the industry will be holding a confer-
ence on December 12 for itself, to educate itself about long-term
carewhat the prospects are, what the challenges and opportuni-
ties facing the industry are. Some of the challenges covered in that
report concerning long-term care insurance products include such
things as defining what is custodial care and how does one account
for it; adverse selection; induced demand, et ceterathe pricing of
a product.

There are several prototype insurance policies available in the
marketplace. We are learning from them. The Firemen's Fund has
one policy that has about 15,000 policies in force, and there is an-
other company which I am familiar with.

Each of these new ventures into the marketplace provides the in-
dustry with additional information on the feasibility and viability
of private extended care insurance programs. Private insurers' in-
s:01%.111pm will in all likelihood not be limited to insurance prod-
ucts. however, because we are now defining ourselves as financial
services incorporations. Products could also include investments in
lice care communities and social/health maintenance organizations.

Finally. we should not lose sight of the fact that someI do not
know what proportionof the 50 percent of long-term care which

financed by individuals comes from annuities, pensions, and
other income replacement policies sold by insurance companies. I
anticipate that those will, in fact, increase in the future.

t 11,1, ittql1
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The Industry, my company, and myself, certainly offer our serv-
ices to this committee and any assistance that we can be to you in
exploring this matter further, you just have to call on us.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman HEINZ. Mr. Lifson, thank you very much. Your pre-

pared statement will be entered into the record at this time.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Lifson follows:]

PRIPARID STATRMINT or ARTHUR LIFSON

I am Arthur Lifson, assistant vice president of the Equitable Life Assurance Socie-
ty of the United States. Today, I also represent the Health Insurance Association of
America. With me is James A. Dorsch, Washington counsel of the HIAA. The HIAA
is a trade association, representing some 395 insurance companies. Our members
write over 8t percent of the health insurance provided by insurance companies in
this country.

We appreciate this opportunity to comment on financing options for long-term
care. We commend this committee for identifying long-term care as a major health
policy issue. This important and complex problem requires thoughtful and balanced
debate.

As an industry, we share the concerns of this committee about the financing and
provision of long-term care services 0 our expanding elderly population.

More than 2 years ago, an association task force was established to explore this
issue. A report. "Long Term Care: The challenge to Society," produced by the task
force, is attached. In December, an industrywide conference will build on the task
force report and expose industry representatives to the range of long-term care
issues from a variety of perspectives.

Industry representatives have participated in numerous conferences and hearings
called to bring interested parties together to begin a broad used effort to resolve
some of the problems. In addition, individual companies have set up groups to ex-
plore the feasibility of private sector participation.

In its deliberations, the HIAA Long-Term Care Task Force identified some of the
problems associated with the development, administration, and marketing of a long-
term care product. These problems are not trivial. Solutions are not easily arrived
at. And even if possible solutions are found, these will have to be tested in the mar-
ketplace to see whether they will work.

Some of the areas which pose problems for the health insurance industry include:
The need for better tools to assess the level and type of care required for people

who often have multiple physical problems, sometimes accompanied by mental im-
pairment. Care needs may shift from highly skilled health professional services to
lower levels of custodial care.

The question of how to deal with custodial services which account for a large por-
tion of extended care needs. The industry is geared to deal with medical and medi-
cally related problems. The range of activities of daily livingbathing, dressing,
feeding and companionship and other social support services falling in the custodi-
al side of the care spectrum are beyond the current scope of insurance coverage.

Adverse selection, where demand is concentrated in a high risk population, is also
of critical concern. If a balance between high. and low-risk insureds is not main-
tained, premiums may not cover claim costs, threatening the financial stability of
the program. To compensate, the premiums may be raised to a level which would be
attractive only to those most at risk, thereby compounding the selection problem.

'chere is considerable uncertainty about the additional demand which will be gen-
erated if longtertn care coverage is offered. Little is known about the extent of care
currently being rendered by family and friends. Projected utilization, a critical
factor in premium pricing, offers considerable challenge to underwriters and actuar-
ies

Pricing difficulties abound for a benefit paid out years after premium levels are
set The rates have to reflect dynamic risks such as cost inflation, consumer tastes,
consumer income, technological advances, and new care modalities.

A regulatory framework, conducive to the development and marketing of long-
term care products has yet to be developed. For example in California, home care
benefits are deemed to be more akin to disability income coverage, than to tradition-
al medical expense coverage. Prefunding benefits at younger ages will involve con-
sideration of cash values. A practical regulatory framework needs to be shaped to
accommodate the successful underwriting and marketing of longterm care coverage.
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Other areas requiring further examination include ways to educate consumers to
the potential need and costs of long-term care services to heighten awareness of the
desirability of factoring long-term care requirements into retirement planning, the
structuring of products for the under-65 population, and the development of incen-
tives to encourage the purchase of long-term care coverage.

We are dealing with an uncertain environment. Gathering supporting data and
experience will be a costly and time consuming process.

The commercial health insurance industry is involved in long-term care financing
on a limited basis. For example, the Fireman's Fund has been test marketing for 10
years and currently has about 15,000 policies in force. Over the years, the policies
have been modified to reflect experience and various State regulatory restrictions.
Coverage is for a maximum confinement of 4 years in a skilled nursing facility, a
daily benefit of up to $70 and a 20- or 100-day elimination period. Because of con-
cerns about jeopardizing the plan, the company is proceeding cautiously in order to
gain a thorough understanding of the product.

The United Equitable insurance Group has marketed some form of nursing home
product since the mid 1970's, and current policies in force exceed 60,000. The origi-
nal plan, covering 1 year of skilled care, was revised 4 years ago to cover 4 years of
skilled care and up to 12 months of intermediate or custodial gate at a reduced level
of reimbursement.

Each venture into the marketplace provides the industry with additional informa-
tion on the feasibility and viability of private extended care 1^.....irance programs.

Long term care may well be the major health policy issue in the coming decades.
The industry and individual companies are exploring the problems and seeking solu-
tions Roth government and private resources are required to meet current challeng-
es and plan for the future needs of our expanding elderly population. The Health
Insurance Assi)iation of America stands ready to join in the public debate and
offers its assistance to this committee as it deliberates this pressing national prob-
lem.

Chairman HEINV.. Those three bells mean that we will have a
quorum going live in about 7 minutes, so I will not be able to ask
you all the questions I want to ask you, but do not worry, I have a
few

Ms. Matula, you have had some experience as I am aware, with
the 217t; project; is that not correct?

Ms. MATUI.A. The home and community-based waivers?
Chairman HEINZ. Yes.
Ms. MATUI.A. Oh, yes.
Chairman HEINZ. Do you think that those projects will yield

useful information and data to assist private insurance companies
in developing long-term care, or what I prefer to call independent
living insurance policies? I prefer it, because I do not think they
made a lot of money selling death insurance. it life insurance is
insurance against death. I would prefer to call it not nursing home
insurance, not home health care insurance, not insurance against
some long-term, debilitating, crushing illness, but independent
living insurance, which is the benefit that it conveys.

What do you think?
Ms. M,vrL'l.A. I like independent living insurance. I think that is

excellent.
I know that the States could teach the insurance industry a

great deal from what we learn, if we ever get an opportunity to put
these waivers into effect. If I were giving them any advice, I would
say that they are lucky they do not have to deal with our Federal
friends, who are not willing to grant the waivers to the degree that
we need them to experiment.

Chairman IIF:INZ. Furthermore, you have met the enemy, and it
is us. !Laughter.]
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Ms. MATULA. Our friends in EOMB do not believe that home and
community-based services are at all cost effective. They do believe
that we will be serving an entirely new population. And, rather
than give us some opportunity to prove or disprove the cost effec-
tiveness, we are being hamstrung and just choked to death on
these waiver requests.

So, should we ever get them, I am sure what we learn will be
helpful to the insurance industry.

Chairman HEINZ. These waived programs, some operating for a
few years now, will offer useful information. I guess my question to
Mr. Lifson is, are insurance companies watching these projects
closely?

Mr. LIFSON. Well, we are aware of the pro,jects which have exist-
ed to date, and are aware of the new experiments that are taking
place, and, yes, we are looking and anticipating the results from
them.

Public programs and private insurance, though, are horses of a
different color. In many cases, the public program, one is entitled
to; the private insurance program, you have to reach into your
pocket and want to buy something. I think that is a fundamental
difference in terms of looking at the population.

Chairman HEINZ. Ms. Matula, do you have a comment that you
want to make on that?

Ms. MATULA. Oh, yes. I do not know if it is worth repeating.
Chairman HEINZ. It may be worth repeating it.
Ms. MATULA. The public health programs have taught the insur-

ance industry a great deal on how to be more cost effective, and I
think we can teach them the same in the home and community-
based services area, if given a chance.

Chairman HEINZ. Mr. Lifson?
Mr. LIFSON. I have no objection to that statement at all. In fact, I

endorse it, and it is absolutely true. The States were under a lot
more pressure before our customers, fortunately, woke up.

Chairman HEINZ. Ms. Matula, short of expanding Medicare to
cover long-term care, what can the Federal Government do to work
with State governments to improve coverage?

Ms. MATULA. I think that we need to separate the Medicaid Pro-
gram into the two distinct populations it serves, and then untie the
elderly and disabled who need chronic care, chronic illness care,
from those artificial eligibility requirements. This institutional bias
that you hear about occurs, in part, because we are bound to eligi-
bility requirements that apply to AFDC families, who probably
have no assets, whose income is their only measure of poverty. I
think that if we did that, and we took Medicaid out of this all-or-
nothing approach, we might be able to help the middle-income and
lower income elderly pay for their care without paying for all of
their care. It would be a way we could help.

Chairman HEINZ. What exactly would you do?
Ms. MATULA. We would have to amend the eligibility laws as

they stand-
Chairman HEINZ. Oh, I understand, but how would you change

them? Give me a specific example of how you would in fact change
the eligibility laws.
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Ms. MAMA. Right now in North Carolina, for the medically
needy who are aged, blind, and disabled, I am limited to setting
their monthly income standard at one-third higher than AFDC. So,
I may be limited for a single, elderly individual living at home, to
$200 a month to pay for all their living expensesunless, of course,
they are on SST. If that patient, if that client has a $500 per month
Social Security check, he or she has to pay $300 of it on health care
before I can give him or her a Medicaid card to help pay for home-
based care. But if that client goes into a nursing home, we will let
him keep $25 and apply the remaining $475 to the nursing home
bill, and we will pay as much as $1,000 a month for his care. 11 we
could use a different income standard to provide at-home care for
the elderly and disabled, a more liberal and a more generous one
that recognized the cost of living at home, we could serve the
people in the community much better and much more cheaply.

Chairman HEINZ. Mr. Lifson, in the limited time I have, let me
turn to what your task force discovered. It seems to me from some
of the comments I have heard -'-you have echoed a few of them
that insurance companies seem to think there are an awful lot of
unknownsyou mentioned adverse selection, for exampleand are
very nervous about knowing how to insure long-term care.

Should I be picking up here that maybe many companies are
using these as a reason to not even test-market any product?

Mr. LIFSON. No, I do not believe so, Senator. I think these are, in
fact, legitimate concerns, concerns we have when we enter almost
any new product, almost any new service. We are putting up hard-
earned capital, and even the test marketing of a particular product
can be a very expensive operation, so one has to be very careful
with, in my case, my policyholders' money, and, in other compa-
nies' cases, their stockholders' money.

These are real concerns. We are learning. There are a number of
companies who have bit the bullet and have gone out and are mar-
keting products, are reporting their resultsI think favorable re-
sults on their part will lead others to enter the marketplace.

Chairman HEINZ. You work for an insurance company in addi-
tion to having headed the task force. Are you a marketing man or
an actuary?

Mr. I.n,sorsi. I am neither, Senator. I am a social worker by train-
ing who happens to be responsible for government relations for the
group department of the Equitable, including paying Medicare
claims in four States.

Chairman HEINZ. That needn't disqualify you from answering
the question I was going to ask you, anyway. (Laughter.]

Going back to adverse selection, what about the idea of using the
tnedi-gap policies that are out therewhich two-thirds of the elder-
ly haveas a vehicle for long-term care? It seems to me that
makes a lot of sense, because in a sense. one of the barriers to suc-
cessful market penetration here is senior citizens' perceptions that
they are covered by medi-gap policies, or Medicare, or both, and
talk about a better mousetrappeople are in one, and do not know
it. and you have an opportunity to really redesign the entire situa-
tion. What about that? Is anybody building off of their medi-gap to
kind of have a super medi-gap?
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Mr. LWS0N. My company is one that has never been in that
market. The Epitable involvement in the supplemental medical
insurance market has always been on a group basis, so I cannot
talk for the Equitable. I do believe, though, some of the members of
my task force came from companies who were, in fact, in that
market. I believe that they are, in fact, exploring just the sort of
thing that you were talking about. Whether or not they and their
managements will make a decision to enter the marketplace with
it, that, I cannot tell.

Chairman HEINZ. What about the notion of spreading the risk
more broadly by marketing policies not just to the elderly them-
selves, but further, earlier down the income stream, such as to fam-
ilies?

Mr. LIFSON. I personally believe that one of the keys, if we are
going to be successful in solving the financing problem, is increas-
ing the awareness of people at younger and younger ages of their
potential risk, so that they then can make provisions to protect
themselves from that risk. One of the answers for that protection
could, in fact, be insurance, but I would not limit myself to insur-
ance. People seem to be able to plan increasingly well for their re-
tirement and meeting their income needs. They are unaware in
doing that planning, however they do it, of their potential rink of
meeting long-term care services.

I am convinced that if they were aware of those risks, an increas-
ing portion of the population could finance out of income and
assets their long-term care needsand that would include pur-
chase of insurance, but it also could include annuities and a wide
variety of other things.

Chairman HEINZ. The private pension industry is booming,
either because of or in spite ofdepending on who you listened to
last weekERISA. And the reason so manyclose to half, as I
recollect, of people are covered by a pension, either defined benefit
or defined contributionis probably twofold: First, they have been
collectively bargained for, and second, they have received tax
breaks, the same way as employer-based health insurance has re-
ceived tax breaks.

To what extent, first, are tax breaks needed for long-term care
insurance, or if someone had a policy that was offered by employ-
erslet us say it was or was not collectively--bargained for but it
was the kind of thing we have been talking about today, not just
nursing homes, but we found a way to solve some of those other
problemswould it be eligible for the kind of tax treatment we
now accord health insurance?

Mr. l.wsoN. Well, I am not a tax attorney, but I would surmise
that an employer-six,nsored plan under current rules would, in
fact, qualify currently as---

Chairman HEINZ. So tax policy is not a problem here?
Mr. 1.1F.sow. It depends upon how you define it. Let me defer to

my counsel, here.
Mr Doitsu. I have to point out, Senator, that you are 100 per-

cent correct as to what the situation is today. But when I listened
to the dialog about care at home, and your conversations with Sen-
ator Warner. about the need for tax incentives, and I look at the
chart up there and see what the elderly are spending now out-of-

Yt



66

pocket, more and more of that money is coming out of the pension
plans provided at the workplace, as well as group life insurance
and group health insurance. But there 14 a very strong move afoot,
as I am sure you are aware, in the tax-writing committees, the
Treasury Department and the IRS, to cut back on those tax-favored
plans, which we believe are moneys very, very well spent to care
for our senior citizens-, in their old age

And whereas this committee is going in one direction, I might
say that perhaps one hand doesn't know what the i .ier is doing,
and other parts of the Congress are going down a road that is 180
degrees from the road that you suggest.

Chairman HEINZ. There is an administration proposal to cap
health insurance to the employee who is a beneficiary of health in-
surance, to $125 a month or whatever it is. I do not know of any
similar effort with respect to pension benefits.

Mr. DORSCH. Well, there is certainly a great deal of discussion
that centers around capping all employee benefits, and there is al-
ready a cap on group tem.) life insurance. The Ways and Means
Committee is going off on a retreat next week to discuss overall
deficit reduction, but they have just had a hearing, as the Senate
Finance Committee has, on the taxation of all employee benefits.

Chairman HEINZ. Nothing, no barrier, should be put in the way
of the House of Representatives when it comes to deficit reduction.
They need a barrier-free environment.

1 sense that the thinking on long-term care insurance has tended
to revolve around either new products or building of of hellth in-
surance products. Am I wrong in thinking that no one is really
building off of retirement plan products?

Mr. I.,n,soN. I think people are beginning toyou know, we are
rather new to this, and we are learning all the time. I think life
care communities, which is one way of socializing the expense and
the risk of long-term care, is one item which I think a number of
companies are looking at, and that would not, obviously, be strictly
health insurance involvement.

There are other items, such as social HMO's. I happen to be on
the board of one. It is a very interesting sort of thing. It is just get-
ting off the ground. We are in the business of making investments,
and I think if they prove out, they will be a pretty clear way of
melding delivery needs and containing the expense and managing
ihe care that people need.

Chairman 1-11.1Nz. The Ways and Means Committee may have put
a nail in the coffin of life care communities by prevailing in confer-
ence on the imputed interest issue, so that it is now very difficult
For a senior citizen to make a downpayment to a life care facility
under roost of the arrangements that are required without some-
body from the Internal Revenue Service coming along and saying,
"Somebody owes us a lot of money here."

Mr Lif.soN I Wi IS not aware of that, Senator, and we will, of
course, have to look into it.

Chairman 11 ON?. I urge you to look into it.
have noticed several indication of the desire to be

recoimited. when Mr. Lifson was speaking I did not mean to si-
lence you.
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Ms. MATULA. If educational opportunities were effective, we
would want to buy into long-term care insurance as early in our
working lives as we possibly could, so that it would be the cheapest.
Could there not be another block for the Medicare Program that
were such a program, that was optional, that would entitle you to
benefits only if you had contributed throughout your working life,
as you do for your hospital insurance, as we do for our Social Secu-
rity deductions.

Chairman HEINZ. I think that is an interesting idea, and it really
was behind my questions on building off of pension plans.

Ms. MATULA. Optional and tax exempt.
Chairman HEINZ. Because there are great incentives for people

to get into pension plans at an early age, due to the way vesting
and accumulation of benefits tends to accelerate, and the sooner
you get in, the better it is you are.

Ms. MATULA. The risk should not be bad. Only 5 percent of our
elderly now are institutionalized. Not everyone who retires goes di-
rectly to a nursing home. I think that it could be handled. But the
broader the base, and the younger the working population contrib-
uting, the cheaper it would be for all of us.

Chairman HEINZ. I thank you all. I regret we are going to have
to adjourn the hearing.

Thank you very much for your excellent policy suggestions, and
we look forward to continuing to be in touch with you.

Thank you all very much.
[Whereupon, at ll:5f; a.m., the committee was adjourned.]
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APPENDIXES

Appendix 1

MATERIAL SUBMITTED BY WITNESSES

ITEM 1. MEMORANDUM, "IMPROVED COVERAGE FOR LONG-TERM CARE
INSURANCE," SUBMITTED BY LAURENCE LANE, AMERICAN HEALTH
CARE ASSOCIATION, DATED AUGUST 3, 1983

As we discussed during our meeting 2 weeks ago, there is a very strong consumer
demand for private long-term care insurance which covers both facility-based and
community-based services. This point was emphasized during the May 16 AHCA
Policy Forum on Private Long-Term Care Insurance. While fully cognizant of the
resistance which you are confronting from underwriters in expanding long-term
care coverages, it is important to emphasize the need for a balanced policy which
reflects payment for both institutional and noninstitutional services.

The following are several ideas which I believe might assist in improving cover-
ages. These ideas are formulated using your directive that policy expansions must
be "evolutionary." not "revolutionary.' These are professional ideas based upon con-
servative assumptions and do not necessarily reflect association or personal pre-
ferred actions:

t 1 ) Continuum of Care (.1werage
The policy which offers the most options to the consumer to have some control

over the care determinations made upon their behalf will be the most marketable.
There is a consumer preference for professional services in the home. A meaningful
long-term care policy must address this market.

Attachment No 1 ' is a "Healthcare Financing Review" article on Medicare's ex-
perience with part A coverages. Four distinct care options are witnessed. The most
prevalent pattern for part A is inpatient hospital without followthrough care 190
percent cases /S3 percent cases age sr), ). Hospital care followed by home health
agency care constitutes the second most prevalent pattern 15.2 percent of the cases/
7 3 percent of the cases are S.' + ). Hospital care fotlowed by skilled nursing facility
care occurs in :i.:i percent of the cases, but is witnessed in 8.5 percent of the cases
for individuals over the age of 85. Trilevel services (hospital, skilled nursing and
home health) occur in less than I percent of the cases, but slightly over 1.2 percent
of the cases involving someone over the age of 85.

iii.cogniting the limitations of applying Medicare data to actual long -term care ex-
periences. this information suggests exposure following prior hospitalization is not
as risky :is perceived It also points to three distinct posthospital care patterns
which should he CMISIdt'red in designing a policy, i.e., ii, hospital to home care, id)
hospital to nursing home and 'iii hospital to nursing home to home care.

Lin/ I red EX pt 1.114 re insurance Appnxich

Current insurance experience has confirmed the insurability of long-term nursing
limn. care The indemnity hosed payment following prior hospitalization and a spe-
t ilk exclusion period permits a dollar calculation of high and low range insurance
exposures This experience provides a definable base for modest changes in the ben-
fit which i respond to consumer demand. in) offers greater flexibility in cure pat-
terns And recital-, the incentives for inappropriate placement.

'1)11,1dt-rat 1,)11 be go,en to the following benefit options.

R.4.1:,1 .411:10,1...
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Option A: Hospitalnursing home. Coverage as discussed in our correspondence
s. of June, providing 3 to 4 year indemnity policy with exclusion period, indexing of

the indemnity to a trending factor which safeguards the purchasing power of the
insurance.

Option Hospitalnursing home care.Specific provision over and above the ex-
isting marketed policies which provides an incentive for discharge from the nursing
home I perhaps a month or two full indemnity transition) and a followthrough bene-
fit determined as a percentage of the transition benefit for a defined timeframe.

Option C: Hospitalhon..? care. -- Experimental coverage which offers an option
for discharge to the home for professional services, with the indemnity set as a per-
centage of the inpatient nursing home benefit, total benefit capped at the mean cost
experience with inpatient nursing home trended forward for a timeframe actuarial-
ly determined (with potential to broaden coverage based upon actual experience).
Policy could include exclusion period similar to that in the nursing home
policy, however, a shorter exclusion period might discourage inappropriate nursing
home stay while encouraging use of the less costly policy coverage (less costly be-
cause the indemnity has been reduced).

ideally, a reiationship could be developed among the care options which would de-
termine the costs in-olved of restoring existing coverages. For instance, individuals
exercising option 13 could preserve a proportion of their option A coverage; likewise,
individuals exercising option C could continue to have available a portion of their
option A coverage. A policy rider could be developed which offers the optional cover-
ages of a restorable benefit, however, it would appear the initial costs of this provi-
sion might be too high for the mass market.

I.1)Oatekeeping
One of the areas which requires careful review is the gatekeeping function. Most

policies (i mandate prior hospitalization, iii) specific exclusion period before benefit
begins, Iiii) require physician certification, (iv) define a path of services, and (v)
allow for claims reviews. Reviewers are based upon medical determinations without
consideration of di social circumstances which mandate facility based services, (ii)
imperfections of levels of care determinations, (iii) appropriateness of geriatric as-
sesament, and (iv appropriateness of placemant. Few of the companies underwriting
existing policies have sufficient risk experience to standardize claims review.

Inspite of the imperfection in these controls, they have served to deter abuse of
the policies. An extension of coverages to home care under these existing controls
might not induce as much demand as envisioned. First, while the prior hospitaliza-
tion screen is ineffective as a control, it often triggers Medicare coverage which pro-
vides extensive home care assistance. Second, the controls imposed upon nursing
homes are often "piggy-backed" upon public programs, i.e., licensure, certification
and classification. This precedent could be carried over to home care, thus limiting
the absolute number of providers eligible for payment through the program. Third,
a path of services could be prescribed in the home setting comparable to the step
down in benefits used in some policies differentating skilled and intermediate, inter-
mediate and custodial services. In the home sett;ng. it is possible to distinguish ben-
efit uln,I.ra and iadeninity. i.e , services must be provided by a certified agency
and consist of nursing plus another service.

Understanding the' constraints upon you to consider any home care option timid-
ly. consideration might be given to proceeding with the above options and then de-
veloping a more encompassing pilot demonstration. Enclosed2 is a second "Health-
,:ire Knantang Review article' which discusses nursing home preadmission screen-
ing A.. Noll consider 11W) relationships and relationships with longterm care
public programs. you might desire to consider contracting arrangements with exist-
ing services to improve screening decisions. Tat: Department of Health and Human
Services has funded a number of channeling programs and service improvement
projects it might be to your long-range 'eterest to ,A.srk with one or more of these
demonstration site!, offering extendei, v'i age his willingness to experiment
could 1:11.1 t.;Iluattl Information, : ab::nce public awareness of your prod-

t and PlEtt.nds good will in the long-term care marketplace.

Retaintil In Ioninattet tiles
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ITEM 2 PRIVATE INSURANCE FOR (ANC -TERM CARE. AVAILABILITY, PROBLEMS, AND

ACTIONS, PREPARED BY LAURENCE LANE. AMERICAN HEALTH CARE ASSOCIATION

AMA nnuna ON LOBO TUN CAM ZIMUAMCB

MIIAMMEIMUSEACINLIUMAIII

In response to the prectived need for enhancing private sector financing
for long tire vices the Division of Federal/State Relations has undertaken
an intensive review of the potential for long tern care informs. As the folladas
review of activities indicates, there is a significant potential for a private
insurance response to the payment for long tore care services. This report
will:

provide an assessment of ourrent policies,
diastase the masons for the marker's tailors lo provide coverage,
Identify on-going aotivitiee. and

-- make recommendations for additional *SCA involvemente.

( 1) imams
Skilled cursing care, and related forma of extended oar*, suoh ea home

nealta care, intermediate care ea; domiciliary oars, have boom.* en Morseled
source of national expenditure, increasing tenfold between 1560 and 1910 (Gollob /Sat
International, 1983). forty -three (49) percent of outlays for curling home
care ease from private sources in 1977 (SCRS. 1979). len data indicates that
for the year 1979, of the $17.6 billion expended for nursing hose care. $7.7
bi.lion reflect private funds. Private insurance is estiasted to contribute
only $117 million of such ours (HCVA, 1983). Nursing home simonise are cited
as the largest eateetrophic expense for those aged 65 and ever (Birnbaum. 1981).
Area speoifio data accumulated by GAO suggests that a signifioant number of
nursing nose residents enter as private pay patients and become eligible for
Medicaid after exhausting their resources. For simple. in Minnesota, data
indlostea that ans..fourtb of the pet _outs admittei to Medicaid coverage in nursing
301411 between 1777-1979 had actually entered nursing homes at some point earlier
as private pay patients and subsequently converted to Medicaid (GAO, 1969).

The two features of the struoture of the cursing haw industry wnich sakes
It Jr/swear* the limited capacitisa of its consumers and the dominance of goverment
as both payer for nursing home wsrvices and regulator of the activities of the
Industry ;7001, 1983). The Wational Center for Health Care Statistics found
that 3n one Jay Ln 1977, sixteen '16) percent of the 1.3 sillion residents bad
used there from three (3) to five '5) years, and thirty-three (33) percent from
one 1) to three '3' years. While the sedum length of stay for nursing nose
residents so the day of the survey was under three (3) months -- (seventy -nine
Jays. -- a small proportion of resideots stayed far longer, so that the average
stay was calculated as being over one(1) year -- four hundred and fifty six
lays 1CH.1. statistical sods: developed by the general Accounting
)ffi:e suggests two pr---filis of nursing nome residents, one with characteristics
of snort-stay .average of lima than two soatna of residency:, and one of 4 longer
stay two and one Cil;r years average) 'General Accounting Office, 1983).

esam;ne ootonti_l role of private financing of long tern cars, it
:A MPOr.4flt Indsrstacc the resources of different groups of the elierly.

74



72

In a Jugs 1983 preliminary report to the °trios of the issintest Secretary for
flasong and Dainties (IBS). IC', lee. (a Wasloingtos, PC consulting organisation
specialising is pansies sad actuarial aslosiationa), provided a detailed acallfela
of Iacono and rooftrees of the elderly. Ascording to the resaarcb. It elder
Persons had the opportunity to nimitine their inane amd renames, sepostansly
eel -third (33%) of elderly oesplea and over comumpter (26%)of single persona
bad wealth which could product as anual annuity value of $5.004 armee. idjusting
thinnest for ago using actuarial anumptlos projeotioas, the research indicates
that almost forty (40) percent of the elderly over age 80 could convert their
assets Liao sm annuity of $5,000 (1CP. 1983). Such findings are consistent
with the data oolleated by the MatIonsl Center for Son levity Gnawing (Softies.
1943). Separate floe Umosnlipola Iseludise resources. IC, estimated the Pereeltele
of fasilles to whom long tern oars might be affordable based %nom available
inane. As shown below, a significant share of the elderly could afford premiums
which would be lees than ten f101) percent (five (54) percent) of cash income:

ICY Estimates of Affordability at 104 (51) of Incomes'

married
couples

single
persons

total

assuming an annual prestos in 1983 dollars for an individual age 65-69
of 050, 70-74 of $550, 75-79 of $775, and SO and over of $900. Prieto*,
for couples a:e twice time levels.

Age 65-69 Age 70-74 Age 75-79 SO

82% (50%) 671 (271) 38% (121) 234 (81)

801 (441) 651 (271) 411 (161) 29$ (104)

811 (471) 661 (27%) Rd (141) 27% (9%)

(2) naisensaLstint21111.1eListaso

Private insurance offers one of the more prosising of the merlon approaches
to underwrite the costs of long term care. for years, users was great hesitation
by the insurance market to provide health benefits to older persons. During
tne mid-1950's this barrier was successfully pierced with the advent of group
olin coverage for retired teachers and retired potessionals under the auspices
of the Nations.. Netired Teachers Association/American Association of Retired
Persona. While the market remained small, in part because of the political
lobate for a Federal program, there was a positive growth curve throughout the
4..cs4e prior to Medicare. With the advent of Medicare, the focus of the health
ir.au.ance uoustry shifted to a supplemental role providing coverage of deductibles
and coinsurance features. During the 1970's this market grew substantially.
According to one receat analysis, about two-thirds of the aged population had
private insurance supplemental to their Medicare coverage (Carroll 4 Arnett.
!gilt:. This coverage was primarily purchased by the individual.

As tbs market for supplemental insurance, the socalled medigap insurance,
pew during the past decade the benefits altered to meet the competitive demand.
:o "9'6, lass than sis million '5,000000) supplemental lameence policies indicsid
:overage for nursing nose care of any type. Nineteen seventy-nine (1979) data

7 t)
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indicates more than a doubling of doyen.* with over tbirtsse million (13,000,000)
policybolders receiviog some Medigap coverage for nursing home services. At
the same tine, the amber of individuals covered by a supplemental health insirance
p..11,4 only pew by about three million (3,000,000) policyholders (Carroll A
e mote, 1911). This data would suggest that nearly half ot tbs elderly (estimate
of 48%) have some coverage for at least a share of the costs of nursing home
care. Unfortunately, the depth of coverage appears to be tied 01001117 to the
mirage afforded by Medicare. ?bus, while the breadth of coverase has been

e stended, the depth of protection has remained limited. Moat of the nursing
boas coveraao afforded by Medigap policies pays for required deductibles and
coinsurance mandated under the Medicare program for skilled nursing care between
the 21st and 100th day. Sone policies WO slightly more sonorous providing
a flood :weber of days of payment in skilled nursing facility but delimit
their coverage to utilisation controls of the Medicare program.

An attempt has been aids by ICF to satinets the aise of the population
whiob bap moo able to secure insurance coverage for long term care services
more este:wave than those covered by the typical Nedigap policy. The prelimiairy
estimate suggests that upwards to fifty thousand (50,0(I0) individuala dive been
able to scours market coverage for 00111414114111111te long tans care services (IC?,
1983). A composite of the research available suggests the folliwia# companies
as providing offerings covering long term care:

o Fireman's Fund, San Real, CA
o Federated American Life/Sterling Credit Life. Springfield, oa
o Maeaschusette Indemnity and Life, St. Louis, MO
o Great Republic Life, Seattle, WA
o United lquitable Insurance, Skokie, IL
o Heaith Insurance Corporation, Milwaukee, WI
o Eq6itable Life and Casualty, Salt Lake City, UT
o Kemper group, Long Grove, IL
o mere:tants and Manufacturers Insurance, OH
o Pacific Benefits, Seattle, WA
o National Foundation and Lite, Oklahoma City, OK
o Columbia Accident and Health, Slocesburg, PA
o Mutual Protection Iosuraoce, Omaha, MI
o Transport Lite, Fort Worth, TX

I.:Jilted policy -overage:

o Prudential (AAAP Plans and other group coverages)
o Bankers Life (reportedly a supplemental rider)
o Mutual of Omaha (reportedly a supplemental rider)
o American Life and Casualty

Aetna flimitad offering as a supplemental r:der)
o sontgosery Wards (NOP group plan)
o Colonial Penn (old AAA's plan)

3
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Oroop oftoriaas:

o Blue Cross of North Dakota !still experimental)
o Slue gross of Southern California (Ultracare » NHO Plan)
o United Auto Workers /glue Cross of Michigan
o SAND of Brooklyn (RlderPlsn)
o S/KM, of Portland (Raiser)

Attachment I1 is a summary of the tour most cited long term care plans offering

wimps'. as taken from the ICP June 1983 report. Attsahment f2 are summaries
at additional plans reviewed by Mark Mainers of the National Cantor for Health
Services Nessarch.

It is most important to note that the available offoriaga provide indemnity
benefits for intended nursing hone stays. The benefits vary with regard to
the amount of indemnity paid, the length of tins benefits are provided, the
waiting period before benefits booms effective and the condition' upon which
benefits will be paid. The indemnity benefit limits the tamper's liability
and reduces the risk of providing insurance. Many of the initial Malta policies
underwritten for older person, including most of the group plan policies marketed
through the American Issoolation of Retired Persons were indemnity coverages.

Another characteristic of the current policies is a deductible or a redwood
*benefit period as a moans of controlling unnecessary utilisation. Most of the
existing policies limit their benefits to facility based aerologist although
it is possible to get a rider for bone based care. Attschneat 01 provides several
good *maples of the variety of coverages for custodial and intermediate care
benefits. Likewise, toot of the current petioles restrict benefits to a period
of three or four years.

Premiums for most of the available polioies are aged rated, i.e., premiums
increase with the age or initial insurance purobaso. This practice has been
questioned by Meiners in his writings. Mark has developed a prototype policy
for the National Center for Health Service Research which suggests financing
similar to a whole life insurance policy with level protium,. The age related
approach is tore analogous to term life insurance. It is unclear whether the
current debate on disortaination against women in insurance coverage will impact
upon the development of a long term car. benefit. The aged rated benefit could
be shown to factor the longevity of roast, and. therefore, have an element of
discrimination.

Most of the current plans nave elaborate utilization controls. Thews include

the use of one or tore of the following:

o medical screens and physical examinations
o pre-existing condition Limits

,prior hospitalization requirements
3 restrictions on coverage for mental, alcohol and drug related requirements

o definitional restrictions on types of coverage and services purchased.



As emphasised by the ICF data, the market exparieode is United. While the
number of policies purchased has grown, the utilisation of the coverage bag
limited documentation. Therstore, it is difficult to Olio the range of service
utilisation.

(3) ilmagoalge_ilisligLinelaLlingiAMISIA

Several researchers have explored the problem' of developing insurance
covered. for long tarn care. Saab have cited their findings for the slow expansion
of the private sector into this important area of coverage.

In perhaps the coat exhaustive study of the subject, Hark Meiners suggests
the following factors which be obarsoterises as 'market faiinresis

o traditional insurance mincers' of adverse relict/on, moral hazard,
administrative diseconomies, and printing pricing difficulties due
to inflation.

o absence of reliable data on which to Mae estimates of utilisation,
costs sad experience.

o state insurance regulations which ianibit or prohibit coweruse.
o the availability of public long term care programa which servo as

as safety net for WNW who are poor or say beanie poor.
o misuser preference tar first dollar coverage.
o oonsuaers under estimation of their potential need for long tern can

coverage and over estimation of the available coverage of their
existing insurance policies sod of public progrema.

This latter point is perhaps sost important. Writing in the lBeg Journik
two rote ado, Liars stet insurance expert non Napo pointed to several additional
problems: alsinforestion, deception, and less than oomplets understanding of
be potent.al polioyholderis coverage and its limitation'. Hagen also suggests
that the .estriative underwriting requirements to compensete for insurance risk
sight be a significant market disincentive. More recent papers plepared by
Dr. Friedman at Northwestern University and by the start of the Health Consortium
at Brandeis reiterate these points as market problems.

In looking at tnis list, it is interesting to note that the experience
of medical screens for both Fireman's Fund and Pacific Benefits document that
they cave rejected a greater number of applimots under the age of 65 than over
the age of 65, indicating that adverse selection in the purchase of long tern
care insurance say be a greater problems for the younger age group. Pacific
Benefits has also dom.:seated a rejection of policy applicants over the age of
80, but the experience has been limited **spared to the total applicant pool.
'urreot policies and to restrict coverage through the use of pre-existing conditions
restrictions and coverage exclusions. Many of the current policies would not
:over organic brain disorders (including Alzheimer's Disease) and mental health
services. :0 UAW instances, the pre-existing condition limitations have included
maternal related complications.

5
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Attention should be directed to two of the cited market failures. First,

there is widespread publio isunderstanding of both the risks they confront
in the normal aging prooess and of the protections which they have purchased
through their insurance coverages. The Medigap policies have sometimes been
marketed without clearly stating the proteatioas afforded for long tern care.
Continual focus by public progress to the goal of prevention of premature placement
in a facility based long term care program has misled the public that the risk
does not exist. Second, the interplay between the Medicaid program and the
purchase of long term care needs to be carefully assessed. The evidence which
supported changes in the divestiture provisions of the Medicaid program suggests
widespread public "gaming" of the system to avoid assuming the responsibility
for prom:Ling services. The Medicaid nursing hose protection has been characterised
as a "middleclass" catastrophic care program where in residents of nursing
homes enter as private pay and spend down to beech" eligible for the public
entitlement. Whether this is fact or an overstatement of reality needs to be
carefully analyzed.

(e) QoAlaingLitazlitu:
Slowly, research is being generated to atiaulate the private market to

extend coverage for long term care. The following is brief annotated review
or identified activities:

o National Cecter for Health Services Research: Dr. Mark Meiners has
been in the forefront of raising the private insurance issues. Meiners
has authored a number of articles, including one Air the AlchAwayal.,
/arch, 1980. Meiners' prototype polio! presented in his paper, "Private
Coverage of Servioes Not Covered by Medicare: The Case for Long Term
Care Insurance,' Ootober, 1982, is at toe center of the debate.

o ICF: John Valiant(' ham received a grant from the Assistant Secretary
for Planning and Evaluation (NHS) to study private financing. The
.:une, 1)83 interim report on the subject is soot interesting. This
report 1.3 being revised with further analysis and direction (I recently
assisted John OA the revisions) and should be available early next
year.

2 iealth :onsortiun at Brandeis: Several policy papers have been prepared

y Stan Wallack and start. Christine Bianco has continued her work
on a social insurance approach which would mandate long term care
:asurance via public sechanisas. The Health Consortium provides the
support to the Social HMO (S/HMO) demonstrations, two sites of which
are developing insurance coverages. Wallack has become very interested
In retirement centers which share the risks among residents. A paper

Was delivered at the Aging 2000 Seminar in October, 1983, (conducted
oy the Texas Research Institute for Mental Sciences) outlining the
status of work 04 insurance by the Health Consortium.
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o Prudeatisl/AAIP: Ion Magee has been given lead responsibility in
wartime with the Prudeatial Immunises group pleas to perfect coverage
for tee Americas Asseeistios of Melted Persons. Elgin outliass the
direetioas he is Dorsals' in his September. 1982 article is the MAL

o

alAIMMSA.

Center for Health &prologs and Policy lasesrea, Northwestern OnVairmitY1
?Aegis's gmmp bas a marketing project underway, attempt:1as to identify
the issues wbieb would isfluesee acceptance of insurance coverage
by the elderly. latormstion tree the project which was desianed about
a year ago should be forthooniag.

o Health lasursitee Assosiation of Americas Art Lifson (Equitable Life
Assume* Society of 0.3.) sad Purists' Lieberman (NIAA staff) have
led a task force looking at the prospeote for market development.
:a as overview to the report presented by Lifson La a program( sponsored
by the litter Department of Geriatrics sad Adult Development (see
below), he questioned the merits of the private seater usderwriting
longterm:oars. Lifson rateedanadmr of tschnioal protium in developing
iesurzeas °overages, i.e., available data, market failures, uninsurable
risks, and he suggested that firms Mould look to tax nest generation
of elderly (those between 35 sad 55) is the market segsmet which could
be insured. The ((IAA Report has received a groat deal of attention.

o 301 International: Ala Gollob has bees spearbeading 312is review
of Medicare Supplomeats1 II:auras*, (Modigap) policies. This is a
market and it can be peoetrated. Gollub will be writing es long term
care Solarise* in the upcoming mortise Om LTC by the Healthcare Fisamoial
Managesent Association. pollub would like to get funding for his
approach of building private and public deois!on teams working todevelop a better understanding of aging, long tars care and aovertgea.

o Mt. Sinai/litter Department of Geriatrics and Adult Development:
Dr. Butler is most interested in

developing private insurance for
long term cars. As his first sot as director of the Mt. Sinai proves,he put together a apposing on privets insurance coverage. Sutlerhas floated the idea of putting together a Ilue Ribbon Panel of leading
figures to spearhead a development task force. this. ;lea night gat
off the ground (I have been

involved ia developing this approach).

o Ana: The leading national organisation pushing for development ofsn insurance approach has bees &MCA. For the past two years, key
Members have bees exchanging intonation sad interacting with me
players cited in this *action. Last September, the AULIsmcnal featureda series on developing private insurance. Ia addition to stimulating
attention to the need for broadening coverage for long tern care in
general, ARCA has Also devoted attention

to partial coverage for special
requirements, e.g., head injury, spinal core injury.
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o Market: In response to an inquiry from ICY, may of the firma cited
as offering coverage suggest they will expand toeir marketing during
the current year. For instance, the Equitable plan mentioned above
her been adopted by this policy. Thus, we can assume that inspite
of the ((IAA report, the market is responding to the growth potential.

(S) DLIalialigg..aclimansamir

Overcoming the market failures identified above will require tremendous
somentua in the developing of a long tftrm care insurance offering. AOCA has
made a tremendous investment in stimulating the development of private financing.
This effort should continue with attention to raising the public's awareness
of the need for long term care insurance. As a first step in providing this
leadership, a special Task Force on Long Ter. Care should be appointed to coordinate
staff, membership and state affiliate activities with developing the private
insurance market. he should anticipate a significant demand upon our technical
resources to provide information educating the public to the need for long term
care insurance and we should expect that our advocacy network will be called
upon to provide the lobbying power to stimulate appropriate legislative and
regulatory response.

Anong the tasks whica peed to be undertaken are the following:

o Public awareness: There is a tremendous public information effort
needed to raise the consciousness of the publio at large to the changes
which longer life will make to society at large. Imperial Studies
indicate a longer actuarial lifespan for older persons than self-
perceived. There is a widespread public stereotyping of the elderly
which does not relate to the age 75 population. There appears to
be a significant problem among the elderly and the professionals mrkirg
in the aging orterprise to accept risky and frail behaviors as parts
if the norm, aging process. Beyond our continued efforts stimulating
the Administration on Aging and the National Institute on Aging to
focus on the full spectrum of needs of an aging population, we might
wish to encourage the health promotion and health financing agenoies
of tee Federal government to be more aggressive in educating the public.
Likewise, we sight encourage the AD Council to devote public aervice
innouncements to expanding public awareness.

o Documentation and data: Our homes are the laboratories for developing

umurance policies. There is a great need for the nursing boss industry
to parallel the hospital industry in developing baseline data. Simple
oats, such as the number of persons entering as private pay and converting
to Medicaid, is not readily available. MICA can encourage hoops to
wcrk with researcnors exploring the development of insurance. 48

.:an use data collected from our *embers in informing both the public
and research ommmnities to the realitioa of the market. We can disseei.
mate data which has been collected from other sources to expand general
cnowledge about long term care.
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o Worklne with ineurastoe oompagiess It Ale MICA has initiated some llama
with the privets sector and it b worked with SAT and UAL, there
14 need for additional direct approach with the market. Just letting
cam know that we swat and that we are willing to help with technical
support is their endeavors would be a first step. Certainly, there
nay be a role for the Servioe COrporatioa is developing 'penile plan
specifications and soliciting companies to bid to provide an expatated
role in the market. AAAP initially entered the market with Colonial
Penn in a very limited orreries, Over time, the relationship served
both the carrier and the association.

o Working with state Medicaid programs and consumer groups: The crisis
of funding ter Medicaid has created a favorable environment for providers,
coosuaera *ad payers to Stimulate the private market. MCA should
encourage its state affiliates to approach both Medicaid officials
and representatives of consuar organisations to initiate a dialogue
on the issues. Cam idea which loves us toward the objeotive of broadened
*overage would be to have the state government sanction a °canine'
of providers, consusere and state officials to stimulate market develop-
ment. AHCA should place the issue of private insurance on its agenda
for Liaison with the Medicaid State Directors and in our cooperative
initiatives with consumer groups.

o Stimulating state legislative activities: just as above, the WA
state affiliates are a powerful tool to leverage market change. Legis-
lative panels could be encouraged to look at prohibitions in the 'wren
state regulatory structure which aro disincentives to coverage of
custodial and intermediate care. Aestriotions on indeaditi Policies
and reserve limitations serve as major disincentives. The other area
union needs to be considered is the dovetailing of the liedinsid program
Into the private insurance coverage, i.e., beginning the process of
toying the private sector as primary coverage rather than secondary.
imong the actions which need to be taken are steps to overcome the
problems of preezisting conditions limitations, premium supports
and oeverage for those unable to meet the medical screens.

o EffeotIng public sector incentives encouraging the purchase of long
term care insurance: public expenditures for long term can say be
appreciably reduced if positive incentives were offered to stimulate
greater private market coverage. The ideas generated by the AUCA
Payment Committee recommending specific taxation policy changes (a)
to alter the gross income requireanta for dependent care, (b) to
modify the dependency test, (a) to remove the disincentives for older
persons to use their individual retirement accounts (IRA's) and (d)
to stimulate reverse annunity mortgages unlocking homeowner equity
need to oe Advanced. Moreover, ARCA must lobby to ensure that pending
.:ranges tn the federal Internal Revenue Code proposing to place a
letlIng on .nsurance protection for health care ne structured so as
not to Innibit the le%eiopment of a long term :are Insurance market.
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o Sotioina the publio seotor to act is reinsuranoe for privLce Jultiativet

one at the sigmdfloant tea t:Malts eight be to stimulate privatepublis

partnership wits tae government acting as a reinsurance agent to absOrb

some of Ile market risks. Ruch sa ettort would help to overcome the

diseconomies of moral bassard and adverse selection, while keeping

the private sector as an available option. A roinoornnoR strati',

encourages the privet, seater to expand into the earket knowing that

goverment will misuse sone of the risks and it will help to bail

thaw out it the risks are too great.

o toticin4 the private sector to act as a reinsurance nechanisat in

conjunction with the above approsob, for certain service approaches,

e.g., continuing care roUrenst communities, the prIvste market Biala

mmmnm therisimPot providing reinsurance sepiotally it there as taxation

:..woottves to move in that direction. CORC's market to private

per market and they have actuarially designed approaches to acct future

*onto. Speoitie proposals for reinsurance have been discussed in

the private sector. Reinsurance trees capital and helps sect reserve

rociiirsoeots. Such as approach could lead to marks& rated bonds for

CCM.. development it struotured correctly.

LL:clu
3433.04

January F. 1984
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Long 'Term Care:
The Challenge to Society

Health insurance Association of America
1984

Introduction
n 1983. the Health Insurance

IAssoc Nita,' i of An ierica (I IlAM
t onipleted a comprehensive
two-year study of the social

and econornir impact of the
waving 01 Amei li ,I. on the nil

lion s long term care resources.
A Willa/VI Of 1.1t tot S prompted

this initiative, int luding the
gi ow Ini, aged poptil.li ion. t ham:-
ing taiiilly I imposition and life-
style anti tlie esi aiming t ust of
pii,:i. awl /), It .tic ;.calth laic'
/,..:/.1111-.

,\:,,1- t:i ;t11 i iiiA 1 vi ogniivit
;I . the pi oblein is societal in
Si opt. .11.11 1 :;,, solution by any
.H..if HI, i,:.1.,,i1 piblii ()I 1111

%.. 1 kk ..:I.:1 lill 1 1/111rX1 plus
Stilt S AP. ( ll..11it Inc leasing oil Me
1,1-...,:t !...t.ii, insurance Indus
,1. 1, p. . .1 ..:.liiilt alit I ,AI' III
tr.,' ,(1111)...0.%11', iI Mt .t1 IstIttlt,,
it- tilt' ir.:1/..k

1 ): . !L.', I .. .!1.1. li.ilicl el f .

In the development and market-
ing of sucit programs are fully ex-
plored in the Association's study.

The nation's elderly are a rap-
idly growing segment of the pop-
ulation. Curt tinily. there are Just
under 26 million Americans aged
65 ur ulecr, about one in nine of
the general population. By the
year 2000. tliie will be about 34
million older Americans, or one
in eight.

Senior t oinprise 85
of 11111'.1111; ill/Illt* 1CSI

tiClitS N101 count . the trail elderly.
those 80 and older, are increas-
ing at a faster rate than the gen-
etal aged population Some 5.1
mill'on older senior citizens are
expected to Increase to 8 million
by the end of the century. The
ctttwne diseases. and accompa-
tlying !um tional disabilities of the
aged. imply an increased need for

tem vale set ies
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Changes in
Niroily Composition and Lifestyle

At the same time, there
have been major changes
in family composition
and lifestyle. We live in

an incressinily mobile society. Far
greater numbers of women are
entering the work force. Mar-
riages are occurring later with
fewer children and more di
vorcea.

If these trends continue, we can
anticipate reduced reliance on
family support systems and in-
creased reliance on organised long
term can modes. This. In turn.
spurs heightened concern about
the financing of long term care
services.

Long Thrm Care Cost Inflation
Nt only has the aging

population grown rap-
idly, but expenditures for
long term care have es-

calated even more dramatically.
Staled In current dollars. in 1980.
820.7 billion was spent for nurs-
ing hum. -ma %.. 'ruble the 810.1
billion in 1975. Government
spending in this area. which ac
counts for more than 50% of the
aggregate. also doubled from 85.7
billion to 811 8 billion over the
five-year period.

Out-of-pocket expenditures of
88 7 billion in 1980 are also twice
the amount spent five years ear
her. while insurance expendi-
tures: for nursing home care rose
from 878 million to nearly 8200
million over the same period. With
nursing home expenditures es
ttmatrd to reach 876 billion by
Vigo the financitig of long term
tare thus iretottles .t critical Is
sue

Ft,r the foreseeable future. gov
ernmrnt will continue to be Con
I I I I ll'II .11 /1111 f.1( alsiling .)togratal

1W1111. C Fitt wt. Vireth
lug A.:. ,u my Vow,. g

it+ I 'le pl mt., I I'M'
weowsp P4pr1....,§1g We pre
pored rot Iht I YON/ wide, Secrete). Task
F tire Oil long 1 ,n. ( . liewittrnett, oI
104111. Imt ',11,441. 1 k 110 1

costs at the federal, state, and la
cal levels. At the same time, in-
flation in nursing home costs.
rising at a higher rate than the
general economy'. Implies that
fewer people will be able to pay
for services from their own per-
aortal resources.

In such an environment, there
is growing public expectation of
the availability of long term care
products within the private mar-
ket. The feasibility of private
market approaches is already
b- Rai explored by various groups.
:tor cocample. the National Center
for Health Services Research has
conducted a study which is being
described as an assessment of the
extent of senior citizen demand
for insured long term care ben-
efits.

The alternative to private sec-
tor involvement in some form may
well be complete government
control over long term care in the
future. Under such a scenario,
political exigencies would deter-
mine the lifestyle for those need-
ing long term care.

*noun 1979 and 1900

1111indliLlfell VV./ lOa%
(mourner Price Irvin rye MS
Cf4:** Piellanill Product 511W We

7

9i
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Definition of
Long lbnn Care Services

One of the firs( tasks of
the HIAA study was to
identify those services
which could be in-

cluded In a long term care insur-
ance plan. An overriding concern
was that the availability of long
term care coverage would create
Incentives to place more patients
In a musing home setting and/
or raise health care costs. There.
fore. a full range of institutional
and noninstitutional services
was considered and the following
definition adopted:

"Long Term Care can be de-
fined as a complex and interre-
lated array of health. health-re-
lated. and social services designed
to provide preventive. therapeu
tic. rehabilitative. supportive, and
maintenance care for individuals
of all ages who have chronic
physical andior mental condi
lions which impair the individ
ual's ability to function at his or
tier own optimum levels of men
tl physit al. and social function.
log

The key factor in lung term care
is not age. but functional depen.
dent %, but ti hint tional depen-
dent v is espei led to exist fur a
minimum at three months.

The goal of long term care,
IA litial midi., d in an insithi
nisual u: nun institutional set-
ting. tor a i (ambulation of both)
sb..111,1 I." 1 l 3 It IMI' the ItItilliti
...s.h."101Ilitilli Itillt lit/14111r s

III at1.1,flon i., Ilit tilL,ti Itilr hell/
It es long term (are services ire
, I.I1.

11.,./a.t.,(11,1, t'S- -I imm,-
In)! sty,pping iaundt flume
tti iti

( St! Irss If
(4,1 II haute 111,1111(e
11.111,

Social Servicesguidance In
social or emotional problems. ad-
vice in financial or legal matters.
transportat ion;

Health Related Services;
1. Nutrition and health ed

ucation:
2. Personal Care Services:

bathing. tolleting. feed-
ing. assistance in walk-
ing. exercise. medica-
tion;

3. Occupational Therapy:
medically directed actin
Ities to promote the res
toration of useful func-
tioning:

Skilled Services:
I. Physical and Speech

Therapy: use of physical
or chemical agencies and
devices to relieve pain.
restore functioning, and
prevent loss of use of a
part of the body:

2. Skilled Nursing: admin-
istration of medicine.
changing of catheter and
dressing. evaluation of
condition:

Housing Servicesprovision
for continued housing allow-
unces (or those undergoing ex
tensive inpatient rehabilitation;
group or congregate living ar
rangers-wilts. including social can
and tlinmg and sri vitt. facilities
Some of these might be feasible
in long term care products. Others
may prove a serious problem for
the 111bUlttlit r industry

3

.4 .1 92
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Critical Assumptions
Foilowing the identifica-
tion of nursing home
services, the HIM as-
sessed the present and

future environment. based upon
two assumptions:

1. Status Quo
Currently the government plays

a major role in reimbursing for
long term care services. partic-
ularly through the Medicaid pro-
gram. It was felt that incentives
Inherent in Medicaid preclude
development of viable private sec-
tor options. Medicaid is already
viewed by many as a national cov-
erage program for long term
nursing home care, used by far
more than the low income pop
ulation usually thought of as
Mediaid's primary clients.

The Individuals ability to plan
for the transfer of assets expands
the number of persons eligible for
long let ni tare benefits under the
program Public programs are
viewed as a "safety net , a pro.
let holt against the catastrophic
osi, of t alt I lis ttot thr I 11/1/4A

concluded that significant change
in public policy In this area Is
necessary if market initiatives are
to be expanded.

2. Reduced Medicaid
Involvement

The potential for health insur-
ance type products becoming
more widely available might be
increased if Medicaid was to be-
come viewed as a less viable op-
tion by middle Income individu-
als. Such an occurrence could
result as an adjunct to govern-
ment actions to reduce expend-
Itures by: 1) establishing more
stringent eligibility criteria; 2)
reducing the type. quantity, and/
or quality of covered services; and
3) regulation against and/or
greater control over divestment
of assets.

In this environment, demand
could be stimulated for private
lung term care coverage by senior
citizens. families who want to
purchase protection for elderly
parents. and younger persons
looking to future needs.

Statement of Principles
The I WV. at i ca ding!). has
dr,..ri.ain d a art of pm
I;,, .. :. , ihr i.ii.liii :tit:
not dr:1-1,), d it.i,g trim

, air st 1,.ii rs i iirso pi nit ipit 5i,
n s% .111

.s -11 n-..5
. . . 11.

. , :,t1.1

4 Every effort should be made to
restore physically and men-
tally impaired prisons to their
optimal level of functioning.

5 Maintenance of Independent
living in .1 toinniunIty setting
should he eta out agrd where
lrasible

6 Lung term care should be
.1v.iii,ible tit .t rangy of settings.
tenet, of tare. and organiza-
tional structures to be respon
site to the needs of the public.

7 1.111111 and social support
srl%hrs should be utilised to
:ttr greatest possible extent.
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Major Factors for Consideration
In examining the potential role
of the private health insur-
ance industry. life I-IIAA
addressed the various prob.

tem* of developing, administer.
Ing. and marketing long term care
products.

The Assessment of
Needs

The older person Wien has
multiple physical problems.
sometimes accompanied by some
level of mental impairment. Fre
iiurntly. the need for assistance
in daily activities. such as eating.
dressing. walking. and local
travel. is more pressing than
medical care

Thus, the assessment of
whether an individual requires
institutional Cale and the level and
type of care that is needed often
involves subjective criteria. In
many instances. the patient pro-
gresses Iron) need for highly
skilleil health ill sem
ice, to lower lesels of custodial

I ai;illg pi tu Ut1111111

(Ws
tiuue need. of id therefore eli-

gibility for benefits. is not static.
health insiirorit programs
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ol a Iwo.; (elm art sit-
thrti011

Custodial vs. Medical
Care
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To remain financially sound
requires that insurers generally
limit benefits to medical care. with
custodial care covered only where
necessary to help individuals
achieve an optimal level of Tune-
(toning.

Definition of Provider
Rolesaypes of Care

Health care provider roles have
to be more clearly defined for ap-
propriate placement and deter
mination of eligibility for bene-
fits. For example. nursing homes
perform a variety of functions.
from housing and social support
for the frail elderly to the moni-
toring of complex medical con-
ditions. There is a need to clearly
delineate their functions and
whom they should serve.

Also needed is a more precise
definition of the various types of
care. including skilled. interme-
diate, day care. home health and
hospice care.

Adverse Selection
Adverse selection. from an in

surance perspective. occurs when
premiums cannot cover claims,
because too many of the policy-
holders are of higher than aver-
age risk A fundamental princi
pie of insurance is that adverse
wk.( uun lutist he controlled If fi
slant ing of an insurance plan is
td, be actuarially sound The
prohl..in is particularly difficult
o Iii u t oiidct mg lung term care
brtielits

Indiiduals have thus far shown
lit tie t ideric e of acknowledging
Ihi 1,-.1,11c liruiul disability. Nei.
tart 1,.1% c they demonstrated
oilinigness to plan for financial
'nowt nun against the cost of long
tt it wick VS I herefore. It
tact he anticipated that the mar
i,ft kg long trim care products

halitgr in
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public awareness may be concen-
trated In high risk segments of
the population.

To minimize this problem,
health insurers believe it is nec-
essary to educate the potential
population in need of long term
care services of the risk they face.
Even with such heightened
awareness. insurers will proba-
bly need to emphasize individual
underwriting. pre-existing con-
dition clauses, upper age limits
on eligibility, and the develop.
ment of long term care benefit
plans attractive to younger age
groups in order to produce ac-
tuarially sound products.

Induced Demand
As with any new product. long

term care coverage. If widely sold.
will create demand far in excess
of what is currently experienced.
The accelerating growth in the
nursing home industry dunng the
1970's was, in large measure, due
to the expansion of public pro.
grams that finance long term care.
The impact of private sector par.
ticipat ion is expected to acceler
ate pressures on utilisation.

Furthermore. there is a strong
possibility of effoi is by family,
ft tends. and th.rnl.iblr institu-
tions to obtain reimbursement
for t atr pirviously tendered free
of c harge The ricluted demand
Ins 11..;,,, t ele 111.11, 141

or rt'll ,.t" I .0111 01,111 :le
taut t el 111'114.4nd .1 ill'etit'it:e deal
t
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Premium Pricing
Pricing difficulties abound in

the area of long term care. Ben-
efits may be paid out years after
premium levels are set. Setting
premium rates, therefore, has to
reflect dynamic risks, such as
changes in the cost of care, con-
sumer tastes, consumer in-
comes, and technological ad-
vances. Premiums that accurately
recognize these risks in addition
to the standard risks of age. Sex,
and health status might be so
high as to lima ntitetability to
a small segment of the popula-
tion,

Among the possible ap-
proaches to minimising risks an:
automatic premium and benefit
adjustments: additional policy
provisions enabling insured in-
dividuals to increase their cov-
erage without medical under-
writing; and marketing the long
term care product to younger age
groups.

Regulatory
Considerations

The current regulatory awl-
runment is not responsive to the
variety of benefits required In long
term care. For example. in Cali-
fornia, home care benefits are
deemed to be more akin to dis-
ability coverage than to Midi-
tumid hospital. medical. and sur-
gt, .11 expense protection.

In addition, sales to younger age
glotapb may entail prefunding
With associated cash accumula-
tion I hos. ash values would
probably have to be considered.
This issue is not addressed un-
dur c orient state legislation and
1, gulat ion governing health in-
suralit.e.

Cleatly. a practical regulatory
irainewoth needs to be shaped to
act ommodate the successful un
derterit mg and marketing uf long
rritl c.lte COVPrage
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Evaluation of Potential Products
The HIAA evaluated a
number of potential
model long term care
products. These models

vary by age at issue, method of
benefit payment (i.e. fee for serv-
ice or Indemnity). and various
premium and benefit options.

After thorough analysis, the
HIM Identified several more
probable approaches. These ap
proaches would include the fol-
lowing features: meaningful de-
ductibles and/or elimination
periods; adhrrig to reasonable
individual underwriting stan-
dards and pre-existing condition
clauses. carefully defining levels
of care and medical necessity;
guaranteed renewability of poli-
cies. inflation protection. such as
automatic premium and beneft
adjustments and the right to in
crease coverage without medical
underwriting: providing for pe
riodic recertification of benefit el.
igibility. and imposing upper age
limits on age at issue of policy to
ictita c adverse st'icc lion

Tilt. spec I f ic approaches air
in,leninity benefits for lung

term ,we services with prom-
U., bil,111,1rig print 10141a IW
11 /101tici iitlp../11.1 (Ayr i.i5 this
'Hullo( I can be priced under the
assumptions cited above How.

ever, Its marketability to younger
age groups wIdiout a rash ac-
cumulation feature is question-
able.

Indemnity benefits for long
term care seruices, with premi-
ums beginning at ape 65 or over.
This type of plan is currently being
offered on a limited basis.

Indemnity benefits com
bined login a lump sum settle-
ment option, with premiums be-
ginning prior to age 65. Under
this arrangement. it would be
possible to expand coverage after
age 65.

indemnity benefits com-
bined with a lump sum settle-
ment option, with a single pre-
mium after age 65.

Indemnity benefits com
bitted with a lump sum settle-
ment option before age 65 and
annuity benefits after 65. This
approach would be geared to
younger people interested in both
long term care benefits and re-
tirement income protection.

Indemnity long term care
benefits combined with annuity
benefits and single premiums
after age 65. Annuity ben:fits
would begin immediately. such
a plan. however, would require a
large premium and. hence. pos-
sess limited appeal

Other Options
I hi t ,t-t R (.,

LL,1::o be 'untied through
1411(.0, ul eXISII1

is Nut 11
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t' t MAL. also be rx
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Lite Care Communities are re
ceiving increased attention as a
'source of protection for the el
deity In etfect. these communi
ties employ insurance principles
oy spreading the risk of loss
equally amoral; all residents A po-
tential mole exists 10( the health
assurance Industry to financially
underwrite and manage such
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Recommendations
Based upon its evalu-
ation. the HIM rec-
ommends the follow-
ing:

Exploration of a public-pri-
vate sector partnership to assure
financial protection against the
costs of long term care services.

Public policy initiatives to
encourage greater private sector
involvement in the delivery and
dirancIng of long term care.

Public policy initiatives to
provide positive incentives for
private sector experimentation in
the financing of long term care
services.

Broader education of the
public of their potential long term
care needs as an integral part of
comprehensive retirement plan-
ning.

Public policy initiatives to
encourage individual and family
responsibility in this area.

Continued state responsi-
bility for indigent individuals In
need of long term care services.

The creation of a regulatory
environment conducive to the
development and marketing of
long term care plans.

Conclusion
nianciio Fprotection
against the costs ul long
term cane may well be-
come tb^ dominant fi-

nancing Issue in the coining dec
ado.

i o sins eNsluily market pro
giants responsive to this need.
lung term care coverages must
pl,%r atti.it five 111 younger iii
diitili.d.... Capita) act uninlation
Wino.. with Lash settlement up-
now, anilio; til dinlitv tu i tal
e, it ni..,,..wion..ii,,,, letnein..ni
and 1,,:ig teii, t alc i,enclit. may
stimulate demand among
.,,,nno,.., .lilt' i.ioni,-. In any event.
.1 gi,..it di .0 ot v..a i, ri11.1111S to
1.1t done by p11%,,lit 11151.11'.1.11CC

(c,11.0., 1,, tiid.'Yr.lf 11C11011p1:111S
1 ( 1 1 I . . : ' . , 1M

llir (.. :11'r1: 1'11..1. et 11,11 01
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rapid growth of the nursing home
industry in the 1970's was due
to the expansion of public pro-
grams that finance long term care.
producing well-documented
strains on government budgets.
New private products may fuel yet
another round of inflation In long
term care costs. threatening the
financial integrity ui private and
public programs.

Finally, changing demograph-
ics .111(1 budge lots voristruints
ilia) lute a reexamination of the
extent of individual and family
responsibility to meet long term
tale needs. Tax incentives and
tidier public measures should be
considered to stimulate in-
creased consumer involvement.

Clentty. the health Insurance
industry stands ready to partic-
ipate In the publie: debate and in
the resolution of these critical is-

8
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ITEM 4. thrivriot FROM ARTHUR LIFSON, WASHINGTON DC, CHAIRMAN,
TASK FORCE ON tAmrrEttm CARE INSURANCE, HEALTH INSURANCE
ASSOCIATION OF AMERICA, TO SENATOR JOHN HEINZ, CHAIRMAN, SPE-
CIAL COMMITTEE ON AGING, DATED DECEMBER 7, 1984

DEAR SENATOR HEINZ: This letter is in response to the questions posed to the
Health Insurance Association of America regarding long-term care coverage at the
September 21, 1984, hearing of the Senate Special Committee on Aging.
What do you think is the potential for capitating payments for long-term care?

The potential for providing a comprehensive program of acute and long-term care
for the elderly, on a capitated basis, is currently being tested by the social/HMO
demonstration projects. Expansion of this model will heavily depend on the experi-
ence of these experiments.

Generally, health maintenance organizations offer their enrollees a full range of
health care services. This has been one of their major attractions. The HMO setting
also allows for flexible case management and creates incentives for providing effec-
tive less costly medical care for enrollees. The social/HMO experiments build on the
traditional HMO approach to comprehensive care.

Capitation of long-term care services only, however, seriously restricts the possi-
bilities for flexible case management in handling patient needs and will probably
have limited appeal for the elderly consumer.
Since it is clear that case and service management will be an important aspect of

long term care insurance do you think Mai capitation is the way to go?
Case and service management are important aspects of long-term care. However,

capitation may not be the only financial arrangement which can accommodate a
case management function. Capitated arrangements for preventive, maintenance,
and acute care have been around for some time. Yet, there is no concensus that
capitation is the "way to go" for all persons, nor that capitation is a viable option
for all localities. Given the fact that long-term care insurance is in its infancy, and
there is little experience with long-term care coverage on a per capita fee basis, a
judgment to opt for a capitated approach is much too premature.

Given that insurance companies are now developing HMO's in order to increase their
share of the health insurance market, wouldn't it make sense for the insurers to
experiment with expanding HMO services to include long-term care?

The decision to experiment with different products rests with the individual in-
surance company. The lessons to be learned rom the S /HMO demonstrations may
well influence that decision.

The HM() market is predominately focused on the employed population with
HMO coverage offered as an option in an employee health benefit package. The ad-
dition of a long-term care benefit will increase the costs of the package for business
and the enrolled population. This is certainly a consideration for the HMO operator
and those who corsider managee health care systems as a cost effective alternative
to fee for service reimbursement.
In girder to spread the risk across larger groups of people, would it be feasible to

market long -term rare insurance to families with older persons, rather than to
rblerl, persons themselves! Mire there been any market tests to evaluate this up-/,.,r,

I .111 not aware of any test marketing to families of older persons. The market for
long term care insurance may well include such families ti.s well as the elderly. An-
other potential target market is the under 5 population Education as to the risks
and co,rs of long ;1111 are services may heighten awareness of the need to factor
Iola: lei in carp need-, into planning for retirement.

I hope that these rp-ponst.,4 have, been helpful
Sincerely yours.

ARTHUR LIFSON.



Appendix 2

LETTERS AND STATEMENTS FROM INDIVIDUALS AND
ORGANIZATIONS

ITEM 1. LETTER FROM ROBERT N. BUTLER, M.D., THE MOUNT SINAI MEDI-
CAL CENTER, NEW YORK, NY, TO SENATOR JOHN HEINZ, DATED °era
HEE 27, 1984

DEAR SENATOR HEINZ: Thank you for the opportunity to contribute my comments
to the record of your September 21 hearing on financing chronic illness.

A no man's land exists in the field of private and social insurance. Coverage of
long-term care is ignored by Medicare. There is a monumental gap in medi-gap and
other private health insurance. Medicaid comes into play after the individual is pau-
perized. This insurance void stymies the development of the very services that
might best help many individuals to live their final years at home.

The public and private sectors are locked into an Alphonse-Gaston Act. Major in-
stitutions of government and the private sector fight for second or third place in
meeting the long-term care needs of a growing society of elders. Many justifications
for footdragging are given.

There are plenty of plausible reasons not to act. Yet, there is an overriding reason
for action important to us all: With every passing year, the people of our country
have better and better chances of reaching the late seventies and eighties. These are
the years when long-term care services are increasingly needed for independent
living and survival with dignity.

The costs of procrastinating are clear: Impoverishment, excessive depency, avoid-
able institutionalisation, preventable suffering, and loss of self-esteem in the last
years of life for millions of Americans, including our future selves.

All of us have a motive and cure for action. What remains is to make up our
minds to act together. The security that seems so elusivc to us individually can be
made possible through insurance and other forms of cooperation.

We do have ways of filling the void in the fabric of private and social insurance
protections. We do not start at zero. We ha' had experimental and demonstration
service projects to indicate how to organize diem of service adapted for long-term
care.

We have a good notion of what the major expenses are likely to be. We have the
growth of geriatrics, gerontology, professional and semiprofessional training in care
of the elderly, development of biomedical and psychosocial sciences oriented to
chronic disease and aging, senior citizen organizations, and a variety of volunteer
and community services. We have improved the financing of later life through
Social Security, pensions, and other arrangements covering many but not all Ameri-
cans adequately.

We have many elements of a comprehensive system of supports for long-term
care. But they are fragmented, unevenly developed, anemically funded, and disorga-
n ized

Other countries have found ways to handle long-term care needs comprehensively.
Take Israel as an illustration. In 1980. the Knesset (parliament) approved in princi-
ple the addition of long-term care insurance to the Israeli social insurance system. It
authorized the development of an implementation plan and the collection of payroll
taxes to build up the fund to pay for the needed services. The implementation plan
remains to be completed, but work on it is going on.

I mention this not to advocate the addition of long-term care insurance to Medi-
care. although that is one way to go. There are other possibilities. As a condition of
receiving tax privileges of Individual Retirement Accounts and tax-deferred annu
nips. the Federal Government could require that a portion of the funds be reser-,:ed
to hay a basic private long-term care insurance policy. The policy, offering a stand-
ard set of benefits, would provide for cost and quality controls and administrative
safeguards against profiteering
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We could require that all health insurance policies provide long-term care bene-
rite, partially funded by premium savings due to increased deductibles on hospitali-
zation. We could encourage the states to buy private long-term care insurance for
individuals eligible for Medicaid.

To minimize dangers facing individual insurance companies in terms of adverse
risk selection, we could develop a national reinsurance program. It would give the
public certainty that the insurance it buys is durable. Providers a service should be
able to count on fair compensation for what they do. A reliable revenue stream
would support improvement in scope and quality of service. And, with the resources
possible through universal coverage, we could move beyond conventional insurance
to develop better means of sustaining the family members on whose shoulders fall
the main duties of assisting the disabled day to day in the home.

I don't think there is any impassible financing barrier to the development of a
systematic approach to long-term care, if we are bold and imaginative in using the
public and private sectors. We must not let insurance considerations dominate the
development of balanced services policy. Rather, we must develop such policy
backed up by insurance, facilities and manpower development, health services re-
search, and other supports for a durable system.

The time is ripe for producing a realistic vision of what can be done by the public
and private sectors. The lack of that visiona consensus view of goals, means, and
responsibilities for proceedingis the greatest block to progress in long-term care.

A blue - ribbon commission of a dozen outstanding Americans should be formed to
provide that vision. After making their own investigations and hearing from the
public experts about what needs to be done and possible solutions, the commission
would make a report with recommendations for public and private action, aiming
for the inauguration of a comprehensive program in 3 to 5 years. The commission
would stay alive after its report to promote public debate and the challenge to
action.

It is time to get Alphonse and Gaston off center stage.
Sincerely.

ROBERT N. BUTLER, M.D.

ITEM 2. STATEMENT OF LEIGHTON E. CLUFF, M.D., EXECUTIVE VICE PRESI-
DENT, THE ROBERT WOOD JOHNS FOUNDATION, PRINCETON, NJ

Mr. Chairman, I am Leighton E. Cluff, executive vice president of the Robert
Wood Johnson Foundation. I am a physician, who prior to joining the Foundation
was a professor of medicine at the Johns Hopkins University and professor and
chairman of medicine at the University of Florida College of Medicine. Let me state
at the outset that my remarks represent my own views and do not necessarily re-
flect the Foundation's position.

It is a pleasure to discuss issues of longterm care and insurance for the elderly
American population. These matters are of substantial concern to me and to the
Foundation, and we have committed considerable time and resources to developing
new approaches to them during the past few years.

Let me begin on the very positive note that as a physician, I have witnessed im-
pressive gains, both in medicine and in economic programs, which have greatly im-
proved the life and outlook for older Americans. Their income has risen, primarily
from Social Security retirement funds, so that today only one in seven people 65 and
over is below the poverty level, compared to one in four back in 1970. Moreover, an
impressive 75 percent of those 65 years or older own their own home and of these,
SO percent have their mortgage entirely paid off. I will come back to this fact later,
because it may have important implications for alternative financing for long-term
care

Concurrently, Federal health insurance or the elderly has had a profound effect
on their health and wellbeing. We have gone from a pre-Medicare/Medicaid situa-
tion where half the elderly had no private health insurance to today's situation
where 9:i percent have a regular source of medical care and where the large gap
between the use of physician services by the poor and nonpoor elderly has been
completely eliminated.

This is a striking achievement. With it, however, comes the need for a fundamen-
tal shift in insurance from an emphasis primarily on the elderly's acute care needs
to tale which now includes effective and efficient long-term care, especially for those
75 and older This may include better utilization of community support services al-
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ready in place, such as religious and voluntary health organizations, and innovative
approaches to financing long-term care insurance or the services themselves. I will
elaborate on both of these areas.

A close look at this age group reveals the rationale for the expanded focus. First,
those 75 and older are the fastest growing age segment: and fully half of those 75 or
older have limitations on their daily activities due to chronic illnesses or disabilities.
This group accounts for a large and increasing proportion not only of hospitaliza-
tions, hospital days, and physician visits, but also of home health services. For in-
stance, people at 75 use four times as many home health services than do those at
fi5, yet funding for home services is critically lacking.

Medicare, of course, provides "insurance' for those 65 and over to partially cover
acute hospitalization. The prevalence and duration of chronic and disabling condi-
tions in the elderly requires that we do as well or better in providing funding mech-
anisms for long-term care in appropriate settings, whether they be nursing home or
in-home community environments.

The likelihood of being in a nursing home is four times greater for an 85-year-old
than it is for a 75-year-old. Today, in fact, about one-quarter of those 85 years or
older live in nursing homes, comprising a majority of the 1.5 million nursing home
residents. Up to one-half of these residents are afflicted with Alzheimer's disease or
related dementias, once considered the natural scourage of "aging," and now recog-
nized as a disease process selectively affecting about 2 to 4 million older people.
Nursing homes are likely to remain their best mode of late-stage care until basic
science can unravel the cause and/or provide means of preventing or arresting Alz-
heimer's and related dementias. An additional 3 million elderly living outside nurs-
ing homes also require long-term care and 500,000 of these are completely home-
bound

Those elderly within nursing homes. and those with chronic conditions requiring
longterm car" in the Nation's cities, towns, and rural areas, face different kinds of
problems. But lack of appropriate long-term care insurance is common to them all.
Public and private sector expenditures for health care for the elderly (65 and over)
totaled $83.2 billion in 1981; nearly two-thirds of this was spent by the public sector.
Moreover, out-of-pocket health expenditures for the elderly are as large today as
they were before Medicare and Medicaid. These expenses, which were 20 percent of
income in 1965, dipped, but were back to 19 percent of income by 1980. These ex-
pnditures, seen in light of existing gaps in long-term care provisions, raise serious
questions of whether current programs effectively and efficiently are meeting our
national needs in this area.

Medicare's major expenditures occur in the elderly person's last year, and to a
lesser extent. next-to-last-year, of life. This is because Medicare primarily pays for
hospitahlation Only a tiny fraction of Medicare funds can go toward reimburse-
ment for longterm care in skilled nursing facilities or in-home settings. apparently
out of a tear that expenditures in this area would have mounted so rapidly as to
Jeopardi/e the financial viability of the entire program. The crux of the issue is to
ensure that the elderly in need of nursing home facilities can afford them, while
simultaneously insuring that those elderly who have impairments, but of a less
severe nature. can afford and have available appropriate services within the com-
munity Many of the problems both groups of impaired elderly face may be resolved
k de% ising nee approaches to long-term care insurance.

F'ir'? let us examine problems in financing long-term care in nursing homes.
These Mimes have been the principal means of care for the elderly who are most
severely impaired. including a high percentage of persons with Alzhemier's disease.
Often they.. is a long waiting period prior to admission. In the meantime. nursing
hom (And date?.; often remain in acute care hospitals, an expensive holding facility.
until openings in nursing homes occur These hospital expense's usually are covered
;IN Mi.411, Ex.ieerhating these admission delays is the reluctance of many nursing
home admine-trator, to admit medically complicated patients because staff lack suf-
lit lent number, of trained nursing personnel to care for them adequately. For in-
-tam.... 'tidy about percent of nursing home employees are licensed health care
nr.tt R N 4 and licensed practical nurses. There is a average of less than
roc practitioner.: to care for every Mb nursing home patients. Therefor. while

N,It 1m: 1, p,1, mg more than i3a1; billion annually for hospital care fir the elder-
lc primarily through Medicare these funds are not expected solely for unavoid-
alit% needed hut(' care treatment or surgery Medicare reimbursement policies actu-
.11h, bake encouraged long-trm hospitalization of chronically ill or disabled elderly
tor two main reasons First. Medicare will only pay fur nursing home care if it is

directly preceded by hospitalization and has a Inn-da:. nursing home limit. This cre-
ates a revolving door phenomenon as numerous patients awaiting nursing home ad-
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missior stay in the hospital until they are placed and return to the hospital once
the 100 days are used up. Second, the chronically ill elderly intending the return
home may stay in the hospital u.itil recovered enough to care for themselves be-
cause the alternative use of in-home services would largely have to be paid for out-
of-pocket. The new diagnostic related groups (DRG) reimbursement system may
drastically alter this practice in the next few years, although it is unclear what di-
rections the changes will take.

The Nation annually is expending $25 billion for nursing home care. Government
programs, primarily Medicaid, pay for about two out of every three of these dollars;
therefore Medicaid--not Medicarehas greatly accelerated the rapid expansion of
this industry. In fact, nearly 40 percent of all Medicaid funds are allocated to nurs-
ing homes, as are one-quarter of the elderly's out-of-pocket health care dollars. An
unintended consequence of' Medicaid financing is the need for the elderly to "spend
down" their assets to the level that qualifies them for a Medicaid-financed nursing-
home bed.

The number of elderly residing in nursing homes increased 7 percent between
1963 and 1977, and totals more than a million of our older citizens. This new influx
is due to several factors, many of them primarily social and economic rather than
medical. Incomes tend to be low: nearly one out of every five persons 72 years lives
below the poverty level. This is explained in part because women 75 years and older
outnumber men of the same age group by two to one and have only about one-half
the income of men. Moreover, women, as opposed to men, tend to live alone: only 20
percent of women over 75 as opposed to 70 percent of men are married and living
with a spouse. The higher participation in the labor force by young and middle-aged
womencoupled with a higher mother-to-daughter ratiomeans there are fewer
daughters, who traditionally have cared for their elderly mothers. As a result, nurs-
ing homes have been the fastest growing sector in health care. Between 1960 and
1960, the number of nursing home beds skyrocketed 400 percent. Projections are
that by 1985 there will be a further 35 percent increase and that is the just the
beginning. Within 40 years, the number of beds may total 2.3 million, or a million
more than those in the entire hospital sector. Therefore, while the trend in acute
care hospitals is toward ambulatory as opposed to institutional care, the opposite is
true for the elderly. Is this tremendous shift to nursing home care necessary? I
think not. Clearly, nursing homes will continue to be the primary means of late-
stage care for victims of Alzheimer's and other severe dementias until biomedical
science can discover means for preventing or arresting their effects. But what of the
remainder? We need to rethink, methods of financing and providing long-term care
for the impaired elderly whofrom a medical standpointcould live and function
in the community setting with supportive services.

National expenditures for all forms of home health and social services total an
estimated $3.1 billion. This represents only one-eighth of national funds presently
spent on nursing home care. Despite these expenditures, however, patients and the
Nation may not be getting their money's worth from in-home care.

Available services do not address all needs and frequently are fragmented and un-
coordinated. In fact, it is often the frustrating inability of patients (or their families)
to get appropriate home-care services which lead the elderly to seek or accept pre-
mature entry to nursing homes. About a thir:4 of nursing home residents could live
and function in their previous or specially designed communities with adequate in-
home care financing and availability. Instead, unable to piece together and pay for
various community-based services into a cohesive long-term care regimen, frustrated
families often opt for nursing home solutions. Home care has become professional-
ized It is costly. It is uncoordinated and fragmented, involving more than 140 Fed-
ral and State programs. Problems may be as simple as finding transportation to
and from the physician's officetaxis are too expensive for manyor as complicat-
d as arranging for intermittent nursing and homemaking services. Long-term care

organizations are overloaded financially and organisationally. Often they employ
nurses and homemakers on a full-time basis, so that full-time charges can help pay
overhead costs. Yet often the elderly are neither able to afford nor do they desire a
full-time attendant Simp!y ! tated, too often services are not provided in a way
which makes sense for the user. Moreover, such services are financially out of reach
for a large segment. particuarly the' retired middle -class elderly.

Sonic inhome services are covered by Medicare, orfor those qualifying--by
Medicaid They may also be covered under title XX of the Social Security Act,
which provides Federal block grants to States for a broad range of social services,
but eligibility is confined to the poor, as defined by tae States. Or they may be
funded by the Older Americans Act of 1965 and its subsequent amendments which
created a national/State/local service network for the elderly, generally defined as
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those over GO. Despite these autonomous programs, in-home services too often fall
into funding cracks.

Medicare s main support is for hospitalization, not long-term care services. Medic-
aid is available only to the destit . and desperately elderly. These programs leave
the middle-class elderly in need of ag-term care in a financial bind. While the av-
erage Medicaid-funded yearly cost of nursing homes is about $30,000, the out -of-
pocket cost for home services is only about one-half to two-thirds that amount.
Many middle-income elderly's assets are tied up in their private homes, leaving
them no readily available source of cash for long-term health insurance simply does
not now exist to any appreciable degree; less than 1 percent of the total national
nursing home bill, for instance, was covered by private insurance in 1981. The
Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, in conjunction with five other foundations, is
supporting a national study to examine, systematically, means for improving the fi-
nancing and organization of long-term care for the health impaired elderly. The
study is being conducted by the Brookings Institution, and directed by economist
Alice Rivlin, formerly Director of the Congressional Budget Office and now a senior
fellow at Brookings. It is anticipated that this study, which is to be completed in
May 19146, will provide some new directions to many of the issues raised during your
hearing. But this is not enough.

The committee's concern and commitment to exploring long-term care insurance
approaches should be a tremendous impetus for catalyzing efforts by the public and
private sectors to create sorely needed means to improve this situation. Let me now
provide some suggestions on areas which would benefit from such efforts. We need:

Continued, vigorous Federal support for basic biomedical reseann on Alzheimer's
disease and related dementias. Recent scientific reports elucici:aang biochemical and
anatomic changes in specific regions of the brains in persons who have died with
Alzheimer's disease provide encouraging indications that this effort will pay off.
Indeed it could essentially dissolve a major cause of human suffering and nursing
home confinement among the elderly. New methods for enabling nursing home staff
to better assist Alzheimer's patients. The Foundation, for example, is helping uni-
versity schools of nursing to establish affiliations with nursing homes in an effort to
improve the nursing care provided. The Federal Government through the National
Institute of Child Health and Human Development is sponsoring a program to es-
tablish similar linkages between nursing homes and medical schools. New methods
of improving patient functional status which may enable confined elderly without
Alzheimer's disease to return to independent living, an area which has received
little attention from the medical, nursing, and rehabilitation professions.

New alternatives to nursing homes for these and other disabled elderly so they
can live in settings such as "life care" or continuing care retirement communities.
These independent institutions without wallsmany of them church-sponsored
provide middle-class elderly people with a full range of medical, social, and living
arrangement services. For instance, the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and Com-
monwealth Fund gathered actuarial data which better defines financial and legal
obligations of existing types of special care communities. We now need to encourage
their implementation.

Improved access, availability, and coordination of formal and informal community
support systems and appropriate means for providing long-term care to our rural
elderly For instance. the Foundation is funding a program on a "swing-bed" con-
cept of rural hospitals, whereby these hospitals use acute care beds for chronic pa-
tients when appropriate. Additionally. the Foundation is supporting a program on
'interfaith caregivers to see whether coalitions of churches and synagogues can help
to fill the current gap in providing means for informal community long-term care.
Further exploration of alternative means of financing insurance or services, such as
home equity conversions."

I would like to expand on these last two points for a moment. We have only begun
to top available in-home care community resources. Community, religious, and other
volunteer groups are a natural resource for providing support and assistance to t'
elderly disabled in their communities. We live in changing times, with changii
soial i.alues and structures. We have an increased prevalence of chronic disease to
be sure We also have an increased incidence of divorce, of separation, and of wide-
spread dispersion of families. Much of the bask support ordinarily provided by the
family has begun to erode. Even intact families, however, cannot provide all long.
term care needs Diverse community organizations have begun to emerge to close
some of the gaps, including national voluntary health organizations focused on spe-
cific diseases. university programs in which students assist elderly community resi-
dents, and voluntary home health care groups which provide meals, housekeeping,
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or transportation. We need to make better use of their services and encourage more
such efforts.

In addition, religious organizationschurches and synagogueswhich exist in vir-
tually every community, have traditionally contributed to !lumen support and are
well equipped tc do so. These groups can provide direct services such as meals-on-
wheels and could also assume a mediating role between other formal care providers
and those elderly who are disabled and in need of such care. With the proliferation
of Federal, State, and regional programs, however, religious congregations have
failed to fully recognize or develop their potential to provide personal support serv-
ices unavailable through these more formal, often fragmented programs. Additional-
ly. there has been a great resistance to establishing interfaith, ecumenical pro-
grams. Parochialism has hampered cooperative efforts, even among neighboring
churches of the same denomination. The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, through
grants, is encouraging ecumenical coalitions of churches and synagogues to develop
systematic means of helping the elderly and disabled at risk of institutionalization
to remain in their homes. This area deserves more of our attention.

We also have failed to explore fully use of home equity conversions to provide an
alternative financing source for new long-term care insurance or for the services
themselves. Although the concept of "reverse mortgages" is not new, it is only now
being applied to securing protection against the high cost of long-term care. Results
of two recent Foundation-supported studies have confirmed that home equity con-
version represents a promising alternative worthy of further consideration. Howev-
er, the two proposed mechanisms each have elicited some opposition. Reverse annu-
ity mortgages, which provide an annual income stream (annuity), and may guaran-
tee lifetime tenancy for the owner, have met with resistance from potential lenders.
This is primarily because under this mechanism, the lending institution provides an
annuity to elderly home owners until their death (or until they sell their home), and
then is paid back by receiving title to the house or cash from its sale. This requires
startup capital and means a negative cash flow for several years. Since the principal
plus interest on the loan are not repaid until the borrower dies or sells the home,
risks are considered to be open ended, and return on investment is not considered to
be competitive with other investment opportunities. These opportunity costs have
loomed as a barrier to investor participation in such programs. At least one Wall
Street brokerage firm, however, has developed a reverse mortgage plan which is at-
tempting to make up for an anticipated 10-year negative cash flow; this lender will
receive payment covering the loans principle, plus interest compounding at 11 per-
cent, plus a percentage share of the home's appreciated value.

Conversely, the sale/leaseback arrangement has met opposition from consumers.
Although under this arrangement the institution similarly provides annuity and
lifetime tenancy, title to the house is transferred to the lending institution immedi-
ately. Consumers do not want to give up title now simply to purchase another insur-
ance policy. Many have worked a lifetime to own their house free and clear, and are
reluctant to transfer the title at a time when so many other changes in their life
are taking place. Clearly more work, such as the brokerage house plan mentioned
above, needs to be done in this areas to find a fit between the concerns of lenders
and those of -onsumers.

From this discussion, I hope it is evident that the country needs a systematic, co-
ordinated, integrated approach to long-term care needs of the elderly and to devel-
oping means for financing them. It is possible, for instance, that a public financial
program will be required for many of our elderly citizens. As our population in-
creasingly grows older, the children of the old are themselves old and retired. This
means that neither the elderly parents nor their elderly children will have much
additional Intliffle In addition to developing home equity conversion, we might ex-
plore wh*'tlier public and/or private long-term care insurance can be generated
earl) in life, enabling people to build up reserves over a long period. Additionally,
we have only recently begun to look at joint public-private programs which may be
an important contributor to successful long-term care and insurance pogroms.

Meeting the increasing needs of our people for more and better long-term care
services, and the means to pay for these services, is a real and present national
challenge of enormous economic as well as health import. I appreciate being asked
to submit this statement and am delighted the committee is exploring means for
meeting this challenge

1 ")4



102

ITEM 3. LEVER FROM FRANK M. FORMAN, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXEC-
UTIVE OFFICER, FORMAN & ASSOCIATES., INC., BELLEVUE, WA, TO SEN.
ATOR JOHN HEINZ, DATED OCTOBER 1, 1984
DEAR SENATOR HEINZ: I would like to include the following testimony in your

recent hearing, "The Cost of Care for thE lironically Ill: The Case fir Insurance."
First. let me thank you for your inter .sc in, and support of, the long-term care

needs of our elderly. I am pleased to learn of your hearings and would like to share
our firm's experience with you. We are a resource that you may wish to explore as
your hearings evolve.

Forman & Associates, Inc. is the pioneer and leader in the long-term care insur-
ance field. We committed our resources in 1979 to servicing the long-term care
needs of the elderly. We have had a long relationship with an Illinois insurance
company and have assisted them in writing over 60,000 policies. They have grown
from 300 to 5,000 agents. and from $3 million to $33 million in premiums since our
joining them.

The first generation of long-term care policies, which we were instrumental in de.
signing and introducing to the marketplace, proved the virbility of the market.
However, they had limitations. The second generation of policies is now coming off
the drawing board. I have just returned from New York and Hartford, Conn., where
my associate, Mitchell Hart and I negotiated with the giants in the insurance indus-
tr. As a result of these meetings, we now have a firm commitment from a $10 bil-
lion insurance group that they will enter this market in a big way. Until this break-
through. the market has been served by only a few small companies.

can tell you our strategy in bringing the major carriers to the marketplace.
First, an insurance plan must be responsive to the realistic needs of the elderly.
Second. the product must be of such quality that groups and associations of the el-
derly will support the plan. Third, the highly vocal critics of insurance companies
and their dealings with the elderly must see the value and impeccability of the new
products and offer little criticism.

In addition to the above marketing considerations, the elderly hold firmly to two
critically mistaken ideas that must be addressed. They believe they already have
long-term coverage with Medicare and Medicare supplement plans. They do not be-
lieve they will be institutionalized for a long period of time. In order to overcome
these widely held. erroneous ideas, we have determined some specific strategies. It
will require companies of impeccable credentials to enter the marketplace and the
major associations will need to endorse the product in order to overcome the above
misconceptions. It will require credible voices to reshape these ideas. I recently en-
couraged a government agency to consider helping to educate the public as to the
actual length of nursing home stays and the coverage that is available.

We propose that the new product, the second generation of policies, offer indemni-
ty coverage with no prejudice as to the level of careskilled. intermediate or custo-
dial We recommend a .r -year benefit plan that would be guaranteed renewable and
have few limitations and exclusions. Home care with a transition allowance, when
the patient leaves the nursing home and retorns home, will be included by those
companies we are now encouraging to enter the market.

The task for all government. nursing home associations, and organizations of the
elderlyis the task of education. The need to carry the message needs to be recog-
nized and strategies implemented by government and the health care industries.

()rice again, let me. t hunk you for your support of" the elderly. I wish you great
'access in your efforts on their behalf.

Sincerely.
FRANK M. FORMAN.

ITEM 1 LE'll'ER FROM SHELIMI L. GOLDBERG, EXECUTIVE VICE PRESI-
){:NT. AMERICAN ASS(X'IATION OF' HOMES FOR THE AGING, WASHING-

TUN. Ix'. TO SENATOR ,l0IIN HEINZ. DATED OCTOBER 25, 1984

DEAR MR CHAilestAN The American Association of Homes for the Aging is
pleased to have this opportunity to convey its views on ''The Cost of Caring for the'
Chronically III The Case for Insurance." We commend the Senate Aging Committee
for its interest in and commitment to seeking innovative solutions for addressing
the longterm care needs of this nation's aging population.

AMIA is the national organi/at ion representing over 2,300 nonprofit homes. hous-
ing :end healthrelated facilities for the aging AAIIA member homes have deep
root, in the communities they serve through sponsorship by religious. fraternal.
labor. private. and overt:mental organizations While there is diversity among our
member homes. they all have two things in common: they are all operated on a non-
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profit basis as a service to the community in which each is located, and they are all
committed to delivering the best possible services and care to each of the approxi-
mately 500,000 persons they serve annually.

Providers, today's and tomorrow's elderly, the disabled, insurers, and public policy
decision makers are all faced with long-term care challenges of immense proportions.
The sheer demographics of aging makes the issue of assuring accessible, affordable
long-term care critical. Even at the present time, we are not coming close to ade-
que.tely meeting the long-term care needs of our older population (65-plus) which
totals 26 million and comprises 11.4 percent of the population. Unless action is
taken in the near term to address this unmet need, the problem may overwhelm us
in the not no distant future; in 2030, 59 million Americans will be 65 r" older, repre-
seeting 18 percent of the population.

There is an urgent need to develop long-term care financing mechanisms. Atten-
tion is also needed on developing and providing the entire range of care and serv-
ices. These long-care needs demand the participation and contribution of numerous
sectors in this society, public and private alike.

AAHA strongly believes that the concept of long-term care insurance holds signif-
icant promise as one means for easing what is currently the catastrophic expense of
the elderlylong-term care costs for chronic and custodial care service needs.

However, AAHA believes just as strongly that long-term care insurance is not,
and will never be, the panacea for this critical problem of financing long-term care.
Therefore, before addressing the "case for insurance," the Association must empha-
size its belief that long-term care insurance should not be considered a substitute for
coverage provided under public programs, particularly Medicaid and Medicare. At-
tention to the insurance approach must not divert needed attention from efforts td
protect existing programs and to seek improvements in long-term care coverage
under these and even new programs.

In this context, then AAHA is keenly interested and involved in the development
of a multiplicity of long-term care insurance options and innovations.

One approach, of course, is the traditional individual or group insurance policy
which would cover specified long-term care services. The well-known Medicare sup-
plemental lmedi-gap) insurance policy model reflects this approach. AAHA is sup-
portive of efforts to develop this type of insurance, provided that such an offering
actually represents an option for securing protection against the costs of long-term
careusually the result of chronic and custodial conditions, not acute or subacute
episodes of illness.

It is understandable that insurers want to move cautiously into this relatively
new insurance market, as experience and data tend to be insufficient to determine
risk. However, we would urge that this cautious approach not result in a long-term
care insurance policy of st'ch a restrictive naturesuch as one employing excessive
utilization controlsas to render it meaningless. Therefore, AAHA recognizes that
some industry "safeguards" against high risk probably will need to be included,
such as an elimination period and a finite coverage period. However, we would en-
courage insurers, at a minimum, to refrain from including the most acuta-care ori-
ented control mechanisms such as the 3-day prior hosn4alization requirement.

In addition. AAHA urges that the necessary step), s_ch as adequate consumer
education, be taken in order to create a clear understanding and broad market ac-
ceptance of the offerings. Without laying this groundwork, the cost of marketing in-
cluding commission structures could threaten the viability of the policy.

Because progress in the development of long-term care insurance is needed "yes-
terday," and because public and private coverage of long-term care services are in-
tricately connected. AAHA is convinced that the Federal Government has a rule to
play in the development of this initiative. At the very least, the Federal Govern
merit could take the lead in desperately needed data collection relative to utilization
and cost of long-term care services. In addition, the government should actively par-
ticipate in consumer education efforts. F.ducatean regarding benefits covered and not
covered by such programs as Medicare and Medicaid would help older persons make
informed decisions about their health and long-term care coverage needs.

Similarly, the State as the traditional regulator of insurance has an important
role to play in establishing and maintaining consumer protections in the sale of
long term care' insurance. At the same time, however, this State regulatory mecha-
nism needs to lx' sensitive to the changing insurance needs of the aging population
and retain flexibility in setting standards for this relatively new type of coverage

The long-term carer insurance concept also is strongly evident in a variety of serv-
ice delivery, insurance combination settings; the health maintenance organization
HMO) model is illustrative of this.
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AAHA has been very supportive of efforts to expand the HMO model to include
coverage of long-term care services. Known as the social/HMO, the Association is
pleased that Congress was instrumental in effecting implementation of the "S/
HMO" demonstration projectan exemplary public-private partnership in long-
term care innovation. The data and experience derived from this demonstration
project undoubtedly will contribute greatly to the policy, program, and financing
formulation for long-term care. The life care/continuing care setting also offers a
specialized opportunity to address the long-term care needs of the elderly.

While these service delivery/insurance models currently are mile to serve only a
limited number of people, AAHA is convinced that this approach holds special
promise for the future of providing and insuring long-term car,. The Association is
currently focusing in this sphere in its efforts to find ways to make these options
more widely available. AAHA looks forward to sharing its findings with the Com-
mittee as progress is made on this most pressing issue.

Again, E I 14 one important means for improving the financing and provision of long-
term care to our Nation's elderly, AAHA is committed to the development of long-
term caw insurance options. The Association stands ready to work with the Senate
committee and the Congress in the pursuit of this mutual goal, as well as improve-
ments in existing programs of importance to the elderly.

Sincerely,
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